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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

SCHEDULE 14A

(Rule 14a-101)

INFORMATION REQUIRED IN PROXY STATEMENT

SCHEDULE 14A INFORMATION

Proxy Statement Pursuant to Section 14(a) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

Filed by the Registrant ý

Filed by a Party other than the Registrant o

ý Preliminary Proxy Statement

o Confidential, for Use of the Commission Only (as permitted by Rule 14a-6(e)(2))

o Definitive Proxy Statement

o Definitive Additional Materials

o Soliciting Material Pursuant to § 240.14a-12

CONCORD COMMUNICATIONS, INC.

(Name of Registrant as Specified in Its Charter)

(Name of Person(s) Filing Proxy Statement, if Other Than the Registrant)

Payment of Filing Fee (Check the appropriate box):

o No fee required.

ý Fee computed on table below per Exchange Act Rules 14a-6(i)(1) and 0-11.
(1) Title of each class of securities to which transaction applies:

Common Stock, par value $.01 per share, of Concord Communications, Inc. ("Concord common
stock")

(2)
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Aggregate number of securities to which transaction applies:
19,655,000 shares, comprised of (i) 18,563,000 shares of Concord common stock outstanding as
of April 12, 2005 and (ii) options to purchase 1,092,000 shares of Concord common stock
exercisable on or before July 30, 2005.

(3) Per unit price or other underlying value of transaction computed pursuant to Exchange Act
Rule 0-11 (set forth the amount on which the filing fee is calculated and state how it was
determined):
The filing fee was determined by multiplying .0001177 by the product of $17.00 and 19,655,000
(18,563,000 shares of Concord common stock outstanding, plus 1,092,000 shares of Concord
common stock issuable upon the exercise of options).
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(5) Total fee paid:
$39,328

o Fee paid previously with preliminary materials:

o Check box if any part of the fee is offset as provided by Exchange Act Rule 0-11(a)(2) and identify the
filing for which the offsetting fee was paid previously. Identify the previous filing by registration
statement number, or the Form or Schedule and the date of its filing.

(1) Amount previously paid:

(2) Form, Schedule or Registration Statement No.:

(3) Filing Party:

(4) Date Filed:
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Concord Communications, Inc.
600 Nickerson Road

Marlboro, Massachusetts 01752

Dear Stockholder:

        You are cordially invited to attend a special meeting of stockholders of Concord Communications, Inc., which will be held at the offices of
Bingham McCutchen LLP located at 150 Federal Street, Boston, Massachusetts 02110, on                  ,                   , 2005 at 9:00 a.m., local time.

        At the meeting, you will be asked to consider and vote on a proposal to approve a merger agreement that Concord Communications has
entered into with Computer Associates International, Inc. and a wholly owned subsidiary of Computer Associates. If our stockholders approve
the merger agreement and the merger is subsequently completed, Concord Communications will become a wholly owned subsidiary of
Computer Associates, and you will be entitled to receive $17.00 in cash for each share of Concord Communications' common stock that you
own. A copy of the merger agreement is attached as Annex A to the accompanying proxy statement, and you are encouraged to read it in its
entirety.

After careful consideration, our board of directors has unanimously approved the merger agreement and determined that the
merger and the merger agreement are advisable and in the best interests of Concord Communications and its stockholders. Our board
of directors recommends that you vote "FOR" the approval of the merger agreement. In reaching its determination, our board of
directors considered a number of factors, including the opinion of our financial advisor, which is attached as Annex B to the
accompanying proxy statement, and which you are urged to read in its entirety.

        The accompanying document provides a detailed description of the proposed merger, the merger agreement and related matters. I urge you
to read these materials carefully.

        Your vote is very important.    Because approval of the merger agreement requires the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the
outstanding shares of Concord Communications common stock entitled to vote, a failure to vote will have the same effect as a vote against the
approval of the merger agreement.

Whether or not you are able to attend the special meeting in person, please complete, sign and date the enclosed proxy card and
return it in the envelope provided as soon as possible or submit a proxy through the Internet or by telephone as described in the
enclosed proxy card. This action will not limit your right to vote in person if you wish to attend the special meeting and vote in person.

        Thank you for your cooperation and your continued support of Concord Communications.

Sincerely,

JOHN A. BLAESER
Chief Executive Officer and President

Edgar Filing: CONCORD COMMUNICATIONS INC - Form PREM14A

3



        This proxy statement is dated                  , 2005, and is first being mailed to stockholders on or about                  , 2005.
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CONCORD COMMUNICATIONS, INC.
600 Nickerson Road

Marlboro, Massachusetts 01752

NOTICE OF SPECIAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS OF CONCORD COMMUNICATIONS
To Be Held on                  , 2005

To the Stockholders of
    CONCORD COMMUNICATIONS, INC.:

        Notice is hereby given that a special meeting of stockholders of Concord Communications, Inc. will be held at the offices of Bingham
McCutchen LLP located at 150 Federal Street, Boston, Massachusetts 02110, on                  ,                   , 2005, at 9:00 a.m., local time, for the
following purposes:

1.
To consider and vote on a proposal to approve the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of April 7, 2005, by and among
Computer Associates International, Inc., Concord Communications, Inc. and Minuteman Acquisition Corp.; and

2.
To transact such other business as may properly come before the meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof,
including to consider any procedural matters incident to the conduct of the special meeting, such as adjournment or
postponement of the special meeting to solicit additional proxies in favor of the proposal to approve the Agreement and Plan
of Merger.

        Only stockholders of record of our common stock as of the close of business on                  , 2005 are entitled to notice of, and to vote at, the
special meeting and any adjournment or postponement of the special meeting. The affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the
outstanding shares of our common stock entitled to vote is required to approve the merger agreement.

        If you fail to vote by proxy or in person, it will have the same effect as a vote against the approval of the merger agreement. If you return a
properly signed proxy card but do not indicate how you want to vote, your proxy will be counted as a vote "FOR" approval of the merger
agreement. Holders of our common stock are entitled to appraisal rights under the Massachusetts Business Corporation Act in connection with
the merger. See "Appraisal Rights" on page 41.

By Order of the Board of Directors,

DOUGLAS A. BATT
Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary

Marlboro, Massachusetts
                  , 2005

YOUR VOTE IS IMPORTANT.

        Whether or not you plan to attend the special meeting, please sign and date the enclosed proxy card and return it
promptly in the envelope provided or submit a proxy through the Internet or by telephone as described in the enclosed proxy
card. Giving your proxy now will not affect your right to vote in person if you attend the meeting.
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QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT THE SPECIAL MEETING AND THE MERGER

The following questions and answers are provided for your convenience, and briefly address some commonly asked questions about the
proposed merger and the Concord Communications special meeting of stockholders. You should still carefully read this entire proxy statement,
including each of the annexes.

The Special Meeting

Q.
Who is soliciting my proxy?

A.
This proxy is being solicited by our board of directors.

Q.
What matters will be voted on at the special meeting?

A.
You will be asked to vote on the approval of the merger agreement that we have entered into with Computer Associates
International, Inc. (which is referred to in this proxy statement as Computer Associates).

Q.
What vote is required for Concord Communications' stockholders to approve the merger agreement?

A.
In order to approve the merger agreement, holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of our common stock entitled to vote must
vote "FOR" approval of the merger agreement.

Q.
Who is entitled to vote at the special meeting?

A.
Holders of record of our common stock as of the close of business on                  , 2005, are entitled to vote at the special meeting.

Q.
What should I do now?

A.
After carefully reading and considering the information contained in this proxy statement, please vote your shares by returning the
enclosed proxy or submitting a proxy through the Internet or by telephone. You can also attend the special meeting and vote in person.
Do NOT enclose or return your stock certificate(s) with your proxy.

Q.
If my shares are held in "street name" by my broker, will my broker vote my shares for me?

A.
Your broker will only be permitted to vote your shares if you instruct your broker how to vote. You should follow the procedures
provided by your broker regarding the voting of your shares.

Q.
What if I do not vote?

A.
If you fail to vote by proxy, either by mail, through the Internet, by telephone or in person, it will have the same effect as a vote
against approval of the merger agreement. If you return a properly signed proxy card but do not indicate how you want to vote, your
proxy will be counted as a vote "FOR" approval of the merger agreement.

Q.
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When should I send in my proxy card?

A.
You should send in your proxy card as soon as possible so that your shares will be voted at the special meeting.

1
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Q.
May I change my vote after I have mailed my signed proxy card?

A.
Yes. You may change your vote at any time before your proxy card is voted at the special meeting. You can do this in one of three
ways. First, you can send a written, dated notice to the Secretary of Concord Communications stating that you would like to revoke
your proxy. Second, you can complete, date and submit a new proxy card either by mail, through the Internet or by telephone. Third,
you can attend the meeting and vote in person. Your attendance alone will not revoke your proxy. If you have instructed a broker to
vote your shares, you must follow the directions received from your broker to change those instructions.

Q.
May I vote in person?

A.
Yes. You may attend the special meeting of stockholders and vote your shares of common stock in person. If you hold shares in "street
name" you must provide a legal proxy executed by your bank or broker in order to vote your shares at the meeting.

The Merger

Q.
What is the proposed transaction?

A.
Computer Associates will acquire us by merging a subsidiary of Computer Associates into us, and we will cease to be a publicly
traded company and will instead become a wholly owned subsidiary of Computer Associates.

Q.
If the merger is completed, what will I be entitled to receive for my shares of Concord Communications common stock and
when will I receive it?

A.
You will be entitled to receive $17.00 in cash, without interest and less any applicable withholding taxes, for each share of our
common stock that you own.

After the merger closes, Computer Associates will arrange for a letter of transmittal to be sent to each stockholder. The merger
consideration will be paid to each stockholder once that stockholder submits the letter of transmittal, properly endorsed stock
certificates and any other required documentation.

Q.
Am I entitled to appraisal rights?

A.
Yes, Concord Communications has concluded that you are entitled under Massachusetts law to appraisal rights in connection with the
merger provided that you comply with certain procedures. To exercise appraisal rights, you must:

�
before the vote on the proposal to approve the merger agreement is taken, deliver to Concord Communications written notice
of your intent to demand payment for your shares of common stock;

�
not vote in favor of the proposal to approve the merger agreement; and

�
comply with other procedures as are required by Part 13 of Chapter 156D of the Massachusetts Business Corporations Act.

A copy of the relevant sections of Part 13 of Chapter 156D of the Massachusetts Business Corporations Act is attached to this Proxy
Statement as Annex C.

Q.
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Why is the Concord Communications board recommending the merger?

A.
Our board believes that the merger and the merger agreement are advisable and in the best interests of Concord Communications and
its stockholders and unanimously recommends that you

2

Edgar Filing: CONCORD COMMUNICATIONS INC - Form PREM14A

12



approve the merger agreement. To review our board's reasons for recommending the merger, see the section entitled "Reasons for the
Merger and Recommendation of the Board of Directors" on pages 16 through 17 of this proxy statement.

Q.
Will the merger be a taxable transaction to me?

A.
Yes. The receipt of cash for shares of Concord Communications common stock pursuant to the merger will be a taxable transaction for
U.S. federal income tax purposes. In general, you will recognize gain or loss equal to the difference between the amount of cash you
receive and the adjusted tax basis of your shares of our common stock. See the section entitled "Material U.S. Federal Income Tax
Consequences" on pages 34 through 35 of this proxy statement for a more detailed explanation of the tax consequences of the merger.
You should consult your tax advisor on how specific tax consequences of the merger apply to you.

Q.
When is the merger expected to be completed?

A.
We are working towards completing the merger as quickly as possible. We currently expect to complete the merger as quickly as
possible after the special meeting and after all the conditions to the merger are satisfied or waived, including stockholder approval of
the merger agreement at the special meeting and expiration or termination of the waiting period under U.S. antitrust law, or other
applicable antitrust law. We and Computer Associates intend to file pre-merger notifications with the U.S. antitrust authorities
pursuant to the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976 by April 28, 2005. We and Computer Associates filed a
pre-merger notification with the German Federal Cartel Office pursuant to the German Act Against Restraints of Competition on
April 21, 2005.

Q.
Should I send in my Concord Communications stock certificates now?

A.
No. After the merger is completed, Computer Associates will send you written instructions for exchanging your Concord
Communications stock certificates. You must return your Concord Communications stock certificates as described in the instructions.
You will receive your cash payment as soon as practicable after Computer Associates receives your Concord Communications stock
certificates and any completed documents required in the instructions.

PLEASE DO NOT SEND YOUR CONCORD COMMUNICATIONS STOCK CERTIFICATES NOW.

Q.
What should I do if I have questions?

A.
If you have more questions about the special meeting, the merger or this proxy statement, or would like additional copies of this proxy
statement or the proxy card, you should contact The Altman Group, our proxy solicitor, toll-free at (800) 361-1722.

3

Edgar Filing: CONCORD COMMUNICATIONS INC - Form PREM14A

13



SUMMARY

This summary highlights selected information from this proxy statement. It does not contain all of the information that is important to you.
Accordingly, we urge you to read this entire proxy statement and the annexes to this proxy statement.

The Companies

Concord Communications, Inc.
600 Nickerson Road
Marlboro, Massachusetts 01752
(508) 460-4646

        Concord Communications, Inc., a corporation organized under the laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, is a global provider of
Business Service Management (BSM) software that reduces IT downtime, improves capacity planning, and optimizes service level
management�thereby enabling customers to increase revenue and productivity. Built on more than 1,000 technology patents, Concord
Communications' family of world-class solutions addresses the needs of enterprise customers across 17 vertical markets, managed service
providers, and both wireless and wireline telecommunications carriers. These solutions enable organizations of all sizes to map IT services to
business needs, measure the actual end-user experience, and manage voice or data applications, systems and networks. More than 7,500
customers worldwide use Concord Communications' software, including 23 of the world's largest banks, and 11 of the world's 20 largest
insurance companies. Our common stock is quoted on The NASDAQ National Market under the symbol "CCRD."

Computer Associates International, Inc.
One Computer Associates Plaza
Islandia, New York 11749
(631) 342-6000

        Computer Associates International, Inc., a corporation organized under the laws of the State of Delaware, is one of the world's largest
providers of management software. Founded in 1976, Computer Associates designs, markets and licenses computer software products that allow
businesses to efficiently run, manage, and automate critical aspects of their IT operations. Computer Associates operates in more than 100
countries, has a large and broad base of customers and estimates that 95% of the Fortune 500® companies currently use its products. Computer
Associates' common stock is quoted on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "CA."

Minuteman Acquisition Corp.
c/o Computer Associates International, Inc.
One Computer Associates Plaza
Islandia, New York 11749
(631) 342-6000

        Minuteman Acquisition Corp., a corporation organized under the laws of the State of Delaware (which we refer to as Merger Sub), is a
direct wholly owned subsidiary of Computer Associates. Minuteman Acquisition Corp. was formed exclusively for the purpose of effecting the
merger. This is the only business of Minuteman Acquisition Corp.

The Special Meeting

Date, Time and Place (page 11)

        The special meeting will be held on            ,                 , 2005, at 9:00 a.m., local time at the offices of Bingham McCutchen LLP, located at
150 Federal Street, Boston, Massachusetts 02110.

4

Edgar Filing: CONCORD COMMUNICATIONS INC - Form PREM14A

14



Matters to be Considered (page 11)

        You will be asked to consider and vote upon a proposal to approve the merger agreement that we have entered into with Computer
Associates and to consider any other matters that may properly come before the meeting, including any procedural matters in connection with
the special meeting.

Record Date (page 12)

        If you owned shares of our common stock at the close of business on                  , 2005, the record date for the special meeting, you are
entitled to notice of and to vote at the special meeting. You have one vote for each share of our common stock that you own on the record date.
As of the close of business on                  , 2005, there were approximately                         shares of our common stock outstanding and entitled to
be voted at the special meeting.

Required Vote (page 12)

        Approval of the merger agreement requires the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of our outstanding shares of common stock
entitled to vote at the special meeting. Failure to vote by proxy, either by mail, through the Internet, by telephone or in person, will have the
same effect as a vote "AGAINST" approval of the merger agreement.

Voting by Proxy (page 12)

        You may vote by proxy through the Internet, by telephone or by returning the enclosed proxy. If you hold your shares through a broker or
other nominee, you should follow the procedures provided by your broker or nominee, which may include submitting a proxy through the
Internet or by telephone.

Revocability of Proxy (page 13)

        You may revoke your proxy at any time before it is voted. If you have not submitted a proxy through your broker or nominee, you may
revoke your proxy by:

�
submitting another properly completed proxy bearing a later date;

�
giving written notice of revocation to any of the persons named as proxies or to the Secretary of Concord Communications;

�
if you submitted a proxy through the Internet or by telephone, submitting a proxy again through the Internet or by telephone
prior to the close of the Internet voting facility or the telephone voting facility; or

�
voting in person at the special meeting.

        Simply attending the special meeting will not constitute revocation of your proxy. If your shares are held in "street name," you should
follow the instructions of your broker or nominee regarding revocation of proxies. If your broker or nominee allows you to submit a proxy by
telephone or through the Internet, you may be able to change your vote by submitting a proxy again by telephone or through the Internet.

Our Board's Recommendation to Our Stockholders Regarding the Merger (page 16)
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        Our board has approved the merger agreement, and determined that the merger and the merger agreement are advisable, and in the best
interests of Concord Communications and its stockholders. Our board unanimously recommends that our stockholders vote "FOR" approval of
the merger agreement at the special meeting.

5
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The Merger

Structure of the Merger (page 30)

        Upon the terms and subject to the conditions of the merger agreement, Merger Sub, a wholly owned subsidiary of Computer Associates,
will be merged with and into us. As a result of the merger, we will cease to be a publicly traded company and will become a wholly owned
subsidiary of Computer Associates. The merger agreement is attached as Annex A to this proxy statement. Please read it carefully.

What You Will Receive in the Merger (page 31)

        Each holder of shares of our common stock will be entitled to receive $17.00 in cash for each share of our common stock held immediately
prior to the merger.

Recommendation to Stockholders (page 16)

        Our board of directors has determined that the merger agreement and the merger are advisable and in the best interests of Concord
Communications and its stockholders. Accordingly, our board of directors has unanimously approved the merger agreement and the merger and
recommends that you vote for "FOR" the approval of the merger agreement.

Opinion of Financial Advisor to the Board of Directors of Concord Communications (page 17)

        Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc. delivered its oral opinion to our board, which opinion was subsequently confirmed in writing, to the effect that, as
of April 7, 2005 and based upon the qualifications, assumptions, limitations and other matters set forth in its written opinion, the merger
consideration of $17.00 in cash to be received by the holders of shares of our common stock pursuant to the merger was fair, from a financial
point of view, to such holders.

        The full text of the written opinion of Bear Stearns, dated April 7, 2005, which sets forth the assumptions made, matters considered and
qualifications and limitations on the review undertaken by Bear Stearns in connection with its opinion, is attached as Annex B to this proxy
statement. The opinion was provided to our board for its benefit and use in connection with its consideration as to whether the merger
consideration of $17.00 in cash for each share of Concord common stock was fair, from a financial point of view, to our stockholders. The
opinion did not constitute a recommendation to the Concord board of directors or any holder of shares of our common stock as to how to vote in
connection with the merger.

Conditions to the Merger (page 38)

        We and Computer Associates will not complete the merger unless a number of conditions are satisfied or waived. These conditions include:

�
our stockholders must have approved the merger agreement;

�
the applicable waiting period under the HSR Act must have expired or been terminated; and

�
the absence of court or governmental prohibitions on the consummation of the merger.

        In addition, our obligation to effect the merger is subject to the satisfaction or waiver of the following conditions:

�
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the accuracy of the representations and warranties of Computer Associates; and

�
the performance by each of Computer Associates and Merger Sub of their obligations under the merger agreement.
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        In addition, the obligation of Computer Associates to effect the merger is subject to the satisfaction or waiver of the following conditions:

�
the accuracy of our representations and warranties;

�
the performance by us of our obligations under the merger agreement;

�
the absence of any suit, action or proceeding in which a governmental entity is challenging or seeking to restrain or prohibit
the consummation of the merger, or seeking to (i) prohibit or materially impair Computer Associates' ability to own or
operate any of our material businesses and assets or (ii) prohibit or limit in any material respect Computer Associates' ability
to vote, transfer, receive dividends with respect to or otherwise exercise ownership rights with respect to the stock of
Concord Communications;

�
the absence of any order, stay, judgment, injunction, statute, rule or regulation, which is referred herein as an "order,"
imposing any restraint, prohibition, impairment or limitation described in clauses (i) of (ii) of the bullet point above;

�
all governmental and other filings, consents and approvals required of both Computer Associates and us and specified in the
merger agreement shall have been made or obtained;

�
all other approvals and consents of applicable governmental and regulatory agencies shall have been obtained or made, other
than those failures to obtain, individually or in the aggregate, that would not be reasonably likely (i) to have a material
adverse effect on Concord Communications or on Computer Associates (but with materiality measured at the Concord
Communications level) or (ii) to provide a reasonable basis to conclude that the companies or any of their affiliates would be
subject to the risk of criminal sanctions or any of their representatives would be subject to the risk of criminal or civil
sanctions; and

�
there must not have occurred any change, event, circumstance or development since April 7, 2005 that has had, or is
reasonably likely to have, a material adverse effect on us.

Termination of the Merger Agreement (page 39)

        We and Computer Associates may agree in writing to terminate the merger agreement at any time prior to completing the merger, even
after our stockholders have approved the merger agreement. The merger agreement may also be terminated at any time prior to completion of
the merger under certain circumstances, including:

�
by either party, if the merger is not completed by September 30, 2005 (other than because of the failure to fulfill an
obligation under the merger agreement by the party seeking termination);

�
by either party, if any order permanently restraining, enjoining or otherwise prohibiting the merger shall become final and
nonappealable;

�
by either party, if our stockholders fail to approve the merger agreement at the special meeting (other than because of the
failure to fulfill an obligation under the merger agreement by the party seeking termination);

�
by Computer Associates, if our board (i) fails to recommend, or withholds, withdraws, qualifies or modifies its
recommendation that our stockholders adopt the merger agreement in a manner adverse to Computer Associates or takes a
neutral position or no position with respect to an acquisition proposal beyond the time permitted under the merger
agreement, (ii) fails to reconfirm its recommendation as promptly as practicable (but in any event within five business days)
after Computer Associates requests it to do so, (iii) approves, recommends or adopts an acquisition proposal (or publicly
announces an intention to do so); or (iv) if a tender offer or exchange offer is made for our common stock and our board
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either recommends that our stockholders accept a tender offer or exchange offer for our common stock or, within ten
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business days after commencement of a tender offer or exchange offer, fails to recommend against acceptance of the offer;

�
by us, if our board approves a superior proposal or recommends a superior proposal to our stockholders, provided, that prior
to any such termination:

�
we inform Computer Associates of our intent to effect such termination;

�
we disclose the material terms and conditions (and provide copies of the documentation) regarding the superior
proposal to Computer Associates;

�
Computer Associates does not make within three business days an offer that our board determines in good faith
(after consultation with our financial advisor) is at least as favorable from a financial point of view to our
stockholders as the superior proposal; and

�
we pay Computer Associates a termination fee and reimburse Computer Associates for its expenses; and

�
by either party, if the other party to the merger agreement breaches or fails to perform any of its representations or
agreements in the merger agreement, which breach or failure to perform (i) would cause the non-breaching party's conditions
to closing not to be satisfied and (ii) shall not have been cured within 20 days of written notice of the breach or failure to
perform.

Termination Fee (page 40)

        We will be required to pay Computer Associates a termination fee of $11.5 million, plus up to $0.5 million of Computer Associates'
expenses relating to the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement, if any of the following occur:

�
the merger agreement is terminated by either party because:

�
the merger has not been completed by September 30, 2005, and (i) between the date of the merger agreement and
the date of the special meeting of stockholders an acquisition proposal was made or publicly disclosed and not
publicly withdrawn in good faith and without qualification prior to the date of such termination, and (ii) within
12 months after the termination of the merger agreement we enter into a definitive agreement to consummate, or
consummate, or shall have approved or recommended to our stockholders or otherwise not opposed, any
acquisition proposal; or

�
our stockholders did not approve the merger agreement at the special meeting, and (i) between the date of the
merger agreement and the date the special meeting of stockholders an acquisition proposal was made or publicly
disclosed and not publicly withdrawn in good faith and without qualification prior to the seventh business day
prior to the date of the special meeting, and (ii) within 12 months after the termination of the merger agreement we
enter into a definitive agreement to consummate, or consummate, or shall have approved or recommended to our
stockholders or otherwise not opposed, any acquisition proposal; or

�
the merger agreement is terminated by us because:

�
our stockholders have not approved the merger agreement at a meeting, and, prior to the date of the meeting, our
board (i) shall have failed to recommend that our stockholders approve the merger agreement, or shall have
withheld, withdrawn, qualified or modified its recommendation that our stockholders approve the merger
agreement in a manner adverse to Computer Associates or shall have taken a neutral position or no position with
respect to an acquisition proposal beyond the time permitted under the merger agreement, (ii) shall have failed to
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approved, recommended or adopted an acquisition proposal (or publicly announced its intention to do so),
(iv) recommended that our stockholders accept a publicly disclosed tender offer or exchange offer for our common
stock or, (v) within ten business days after commencement of a tender offer or exchange offer, failed to
recommend against acceptance of the offer; or

�
our board has approved or recommended to our stockholders a superior proposal; or

�
the merger agreement is terminated by Computer Associates because:

�
our board fails to recommend that our stockholders approve the merger agreement, or withholds, withdraws,
qualifies or modifies its recommendation that our stockholders approve the merger agreement in a manner adverse
to Computer Associates;

�
our board takes a neutral position or no position with respect to an acquisition proposal beyond the time permitted
under the merger agreement, or fails to reaffirm its recommendation as promptly as practicable (but in any event
within five business days) after Computer Associates requests it to do so; or

�
our board approves, recommends or adopts an acquisition proposal (or publicly announces its intention to do so);

�
our board recommends that our stockholders accept a publicly disclosed tender offer or exchange offer for our
common stock or, within ten business days after commencement of a tender offer or exchange offer, fails to
recommend against acceptance of the offer.

Regulatory Matters (page 27)

        Under the provisions of the HSR Act, we and Computer Associates may not complete the merger until we have made certain filings with
the Federal Trade Commission and the United States Department of Justice and the applicable waiting period has expired or been terminated.
We and Computer Associates intend to file pre-merger notifications with the U.S. antitrust authorities pursuant to the Hart-Scott-Rodino
Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976 by April 28, 2005. We and Computer Associates filed a pre-merger notification with the German Federal
Cartel Office pursuant to the German Act Against Restraints of Competition on April 21, 2005. We cannot assure you that a challenge to the
merger on antitrust grounds will not be made or, if a challenge is made, of the result.

Appraisal Rights (page 41)

        Concord Communications has concluded that Concord Communications stockholders are entitled under Massachusetts law to appraisal
rights in connection with the merger provided that they comply with certain procedures. To exercise appraisal rights, a Concord
Communications stockholder must:

�
before the vote on the proposal to approve the merger agreement is taken, deliver to Concord Communications written notice
of such stockholder's intent to demand payment for his or her shares of common stock;

�
vote in favor of the proposal to approve the merger agreement; and

�
comply with other procedures as are required by Part 13 of Chapter 156D of the Massachusetts Business Corporations Act.

        A copy of the relevant sections of Part 13 of Chapter 156D of the Massachusetts Business Corporations Act is attached to this Proxy
Statement as Annex C.
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Concord Communications Stock Options (page 31)

        In general, at the completion of the merger, each option to purchase shares of our common stock, including those options held by our
executive officers, will be assumed by Computer Associates and become an option to purchase Computer Associates common stock with the
number of shares of common stock and the exercise price of the option being adjusted in accordance with a conversion ratio equal to $17.00
divided by the average closing sales price of a share of Computer Associates common stock for the five trading days prior to the closing of the
merger. The vesting of the options held by our non-employee directors will accelerate in full at the effective time of the merger. Each of these
options will terminate at the effective time of the merger in exchange for a payment equal to the number of shares of our common stock subject
to such option multiplied by the amount, if any, by which the cash consideration per share to be paid in the merger exceeds the exercise price of
the option.

Interests of Certain Persons in the Merger (page 25)

        Our directors and executive officers have interests in the merger that may be in addition to, or different from, the interests of our
stockholders. For example, if the merger is completed, certain indemnification arrangements for directors and officers of Concord
Communications will be continued and all of the options held by our non-employee directors will be accelerated and become fully vested at the
effective time of the merger. In addition, our executive officers are entitled to acceleration of the vesting of their options, severance payments
and continuation of benefits in connection with the merger.

No Solicitation (page 35)

        We have agreed that we will not, until the effective time of the merger or the earlier termination of the merger agreement, initiate, solicit or
knowingly encourage any inquiries or the making of any proposal or offer that constitutes, or could reasonably be expected to lead to, any
acquisition proposal, or otherwise participate in any discussions regarding, or furnish confidential information, for the purpose of encouraging
any acquisition proposal.

        However, prior to the adoption of the merger agreement by our stockholders, we may provide information in response to a request by a
third party who has made an unsolicited bona fide written acquisition proposal to enter into a merger, tender or exchange offer, business
combination or similar transaction involving us or to acquire over 50% of our equity securities or all or substantially all of our consolidated total
assets, so long as such proposal did not result from any breach by us of our obligations, we have notified Computer Associates regarding the
acquisition proposal as required under the terms of the merger agreement, the third party enters into a customary confidentiality agreement with
us and our board determines in good faith after consultation with outside legal counsel that failure to take such action would be inconsistent with
the board's fiduciary obligations under applicable law. We may also participate in discussions or negotiations with a third party who has made
such an acquisition proposal, if our board determines in good faith, after consultation, that (a) the failure to so act would be inconsistent with its
fiduciary obligations, and (b) such discussions or negotiations are reasonably likely to result in a superior proposal.

        Prior to the effective time of the merger or the earlier termination of the merger agreement, our board will not withhold, withdraw, qualify
or modify (or publicly propose to take any such action), in a manner adverse to Computer Associates, its approval of the merger agreement or its
recommendation that stockholders vote to approve the merger agreement (including publicly taking a neutral position or no position with respect
to an acquisition proposal); cause or permit us to enter into any letter of intent, merger agreement or similar agreement regarding any acquisition
proposal (other than a confidentiality agreement as discussed above); or approve, recommend or adopt any acquisition proposal (or propose,
publicly or otherwise, to take any such action). However, prior to the adoption of the merger agreement by our stockholders, our board may
withhold, withdraw, qualify or modify its

10

Edgar Filing: CONCORD COMMUNICATIONS INC - Form PREM14A

25



recommendation with respect to the merger agreement or approve or recommend any superior proposal made after the date of the merger
agreement and not solicited, initiated or knowingly encouraged in breach of the merger agreement if our board determines in good faith, after
consultation, that failure to do so would be inconsistent with its fiduciary obligations. We must provide Computer Associates with two business
days prior notice if our board intends to take any of these actions, and our board must take into account any changes to the terms of the merger
agreement proposed by Computer Associates in determining whether the acquisition proposal still constitutes a superior proposal.
Notwithstanding any change in recommendation, we are required to convene a special meeting of our stockholders to vote on the merger
agreement, unless we terminate the merger agreement.

SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

        This proxy statement contains forward-looking statements about our plans, objectives, expectations and intentions. You can identify these
statements by words such as "expect," "anticipate," "intend," "plan," "believe," "seek," "estimate," "may," "will" and "continue" or similar
words. You should read statements that contain these words carefully. They discuss our future expectations or state other forward-looking
information, and may involve known and unknown risks over which we have no control, including, without limitation:

�
the requirement that our stockholders approve the merger agreement with Computer Associates;

�
receipt of necessary approvals under applicable antitrust laws and other relevant regulatory authorities;

�
failure by us to satisfy other conditions to the merger; and

�
the effect of the announcement of the merger on our customer relationships, operating results and business generally,
including the ability to retain key employees;

and other risks detailed in our current filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission (which we refer to as the SEC), including our most
recent filings on Forms 10-Q and 10-K. See "Where You Can Find More Information" on page 48. You should not place undue reliance on
forward-looking statements. We cannot guarantee any future results, levels of activity, performance or achievements. The statements made in
this proxy statement represent our views as of the date of this proxy statement, and it should not be assumed that the statements made herein
remain accurate as of any future date. Moreover, we assume no obligation to update forward-looking statements or update the reasons actual
results could differ materially from those anticipated in forward-looking statements, except as required by law.

THE SPECIAL MEETING OF CONCORD COMMUNICATIONS STOCKHOLDERS

        We are furnishing this proxy statement to you, as a stockholder of Concord Communications, as part of the solicitation of proxies by our
board for use at the special meeting of stockholders.

Date, Time, Place and Purpose of the Special Meeting

        The special meeting will be held at the offices of Bingham McCutchen LLP, located at 150 Federal Street, Boston, Massachusetts 02110,
on                  ,                   , 2005, at 9:00 a.m., local time. The purpose of the special meeting is:

�
to consider and vote on the proposal to approve the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of April 7, 2005, by and among
Computer Associates, Concord Communications and Merger Sub; and

�
to transact such other business as may properly come before the meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof,
including to consider any procedural matters incident to the conduct of the special meeting, such as adjournment or
postponement of the special meeting to solicit additional proxies in favor of the proposal to approve the Agreement and Plan
of Merger.
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        Our board has, by unanimous vote, determined that the merger agreement and the merger are advisable and in the best interests of Concord
Communications and its stockholders, and has approved the merger agreement and the merger. Our board unanimously recommends that our
stockholders vote "FOR" approval of the merger agreement.

Record Date; Stock Entitled to Vote; Quorum

        The holders of record of shares of our common stock as of the close of business on                  , 2005, which is the record date for the
special meeting, are entitled to receive notice of and to vote at the special meeting.

        On the record date, there were approximately                   shares of our common stock outstanding held by
approximately                   stockholders of record. Holders of a majority of the shares of our common stock issued and outstanding as of the
record date and entitled to vote at the special meeting must be present in person or represented by proxy at the special meeting to constitute a
quorum to transact business at the special meeting. Both abstentions and broker "non-votes" will be counted as present for purposes of
determining the existence of a quorum. In the event that a quorum is not present at the special meeting, we currently expect that we will adjourn
or postpone the meeting to solicit additional proxies.

Vote Required

        Approval of the merger agreement requires the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the shares of our common stock outstanding
on the record date and entitled to vote.

        Each holder of a share of our common stock is entitled to one vote per share. Failure to vote your proxy (either through the Internet, by
telephone or by returning a properly executed proxy card) or to vote in person will have the same effect as a vote "AGAINST" approval of the
merger agreement.

        Brokers or other nominees who hold shares of our common stock in "street name" for customers who are the beneficial owners of such
shares may not give a proxy to vote those customers' shares in the absence of specific instructions from those customers. These non-voted shares
of our common stock will not be counted as votes cast or shares voting and will have the same effect as votes "AGAINST" approval of the
merger agreement.

Voting

        Stockholders may vote their shares by attending the special meeting and voting their shares of our common stock in person, or by
completing the enclosed proxy card, signing and dating it and mailing it in the enclosed postage-prepaid envelope. All shares of our common
stock represented by properly executed proxies received in time for the special meeting will be voted at the special meeting in the manner
specified by the holder. If a proxy card is signed by a stockholder and returned without instructions, the shares of our common stock represented
by the proxy will be voted "FOR" approval of the merger agreement.

        In addition, stockholders may submit a proxy through the Internet or by telephone by following the instructions included with the enclosed
proxy card. If you submit a proxy through the Internet or by telephone, please do not return the proxy card. You should be aware that in
submitting a proxy through the Internet, you may incur costs such as telephone and Internet access charges for which you will be responsible.
The Internet voting facility and the telephone voting facility for stockholders of record will close at 11:59 p.m., Eastern Standard Time,
on            , 2005.

        Stockholders who have questions or requests for assistance in completing and submitting proxy cards should contact The Altman Group,
our proxy solicitor, toll-free at (800) 361-1722.
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        Stockholders who hold their shares of Concord Communications common stock in "street name," meaning in the name of a bank, broker or
other person who is the record holder, must either direct the record holder of their shares of our common stock how to vote their shares or obtain
a proxy from the record holder to vote their shares at the special meeting.

Revocability of Proxies

        If you are a registered holder of our common stock, you can revoke your proxy at any time before it is voted at the special meeting by:

�
submitting another properly completed proxy bearing a later date;

�
giving written notice of revocation to any of the persons named as proxies or to the Secretary of Concord Communications;

�
if you submitted a proxy through the Internet or by telephone, submitting a proxy again through the Internet or by telephone
prior to the close of the Internet voting facility or the telephone voting facility; or

�
voting in person at the special meeting.

        If your shares of our common stock are held in the name of a bank, broker, trustee or other holder of record, you must follow the
instructions of your broker or other holder of record to revoke a previously given proxy. If your broker or nominee allows you to submit a proxy
by telephone or though the Internet, you may be able to change your vote by submitting a proxy again by telephone or through the Internet.

Solicitation of Proxies

        In addition to solicitation by mail, our directors, officers and employees may solicit proxies by telephone, other electronic means or in
person. These people will not receive any additional compensation for their services, but we will reimburse them for their out-of-pocket
expenses. We will reimburse banks, brokers, nominees, custodians and fiduciaries for their reasonable expenses in forwarding copies of this
proxy statement to the beneficial owners of shares of our common stock and in obtaining voting instructions from those owners. We will share
equally with Computer Associates all expenses of filing, printing and mailing this proxy statement.

        We have retained The Altman Group to assist in the solicitation of proxies by mail, telephone or other electronic means, or in person, for a
fee of approximately $6,000 plus reasonable out-of-pocket expenses relating to the solicitation.

Other Business

        We are not currently aware of any business to be acted upon at the special meeting other than the matters discussed in this proxy statement.
Under our bylaws, business transacted at the special meeting is limited to matters relating to the purposes stated in the notice of special meeting,
which is provided at the beginning of this proxy statement, unless otherwise properly brought by our board or a stockholder. If other matters do
properly come before the special meeting, or at any adjournment or postponement of the special meeting, we intend that shares of our common
stock represented by properly submitted proxies will be voted by and at the discretion of the persons named as proxies on the proxy card. In
addition, the grant of a proxy will confer discretionary authority on the persons named as proxies on the proxy card to vote in accordance with
their best judgment on procedural matters incident to the conduct of the special meeting, such as a motion to adjourn in the absence of a quorum
or a motion to adjourn for other reasons, including to solicit additional votes in favor of approval of the merger agreement.
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THE MERGER

This discussion of the merger is qualified by reference to the merger agreement, which is attached to this proxy statement as Annex A. You
should read the entire merger agreement carefully as it is the legal document that governs the merger.

Background of the Merger

        On February 4, 2005, Jeff Clarke (Chief Operating Officer of Computer Associates) telephoned John Blaeser (our President and Chief
Executive Officer) to express Computer Associates' interest in a possible acquisition of our company.

        On February 7, 2005, Mr. Clarke visited our Marlboro, Massachusetts headquarters and met with Mr. Blaeser and Ferdinand Engel (our
Chief Technology Officer) to discuss the prospects for and benefits of such a transaction.

        On February 13, 2005, Mr. Clarke telephoned Mr. Blaeser to reaffirm Computer Associates' interest in acquiring our company, to express
his preliminary view on the valuation of our company and to express his desire to enter into negotiations concerning a sale of our company to
Computer Associates. After consultation with our board of directors, Mr. Blaeser informed Mr. Clarke on February 17, 2005 that we were not
prepared at that time to enter into negotiations for the sale of our company and that Computer Associates' valuation of our company was not
consistent with our board's views on valuation.

        On February 24, 2005, Mr. Clarke telephoned Mr. Blaeser to inform him that we would be receiving from Computer Associates a written
indication of interest to acquire our company, which was received, later that day. The letter from Computer Associates contained a proposal to
purchase our company for $16.00 per share in cash subject to Computer Associates performing confirmatory due diligence and negotiating a
mutually satisfactory definitive merger agreement.

        At a telephonic meeting held on March 1, 2005, our board of directors established a transaction committee (comprised of three independent
directors) to evaluate the letter received from Computer Associates.

        On March 1, 2005, we engaged Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc. as financial advisors to our board of directors to assist in the evaluation of
Computer Associates' written proposal, which engagement was subsequently confirmed in an engagement letter dated March 24, 2005, and
instructed our outside legal advisors at Bingham McCutchen to advise the committee and our board as to its fiduciary duties in responding to the
proposal.

        On March 3, 2005, Rick Burnes (our Lead Director and Chairman of the transaction committee) contacted Mr. Clarke to inform him of the
process our board was undertaking to evaluate Computer Associates' letter. Mr. Burnes also informed Mr. Clarke that there was a board meeting
scheduled for March 22, 2005 to further consider the proposal received from Computer Associates. Bear Stearns, our financial advisors,
communicated the same message to Goldman, Sachs & Co., financial advisors to Computer Associates.

        On March 22, 2005, a meeting of our board was held at the Radisson Hotel in Marlboro, Massachusetts with our legal and financial
advisors to consider the proposal. At the meeting, representatives of Bear Stearns reviewed with the board the financial terms of the proposal and
representatives of Bingham McCutchen advised the board on their fiduciary duties in considering the proposal, among other things. Following
the board meeting, Mr. Burnes telephoned Mr. Clarke to inform him that the board had conducted its meeting and was evaluating the proposal.
Mr. Clarke and Mr. Burnes then scheduled a dinner meeting for March 30, 2005 to discuss further Computer Associates' interest in acquiring our
company.
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        On March 30, 2005, there was a dinner meeting. In attendance were Mr. Burnes and Robert Donahue of our transaction committee and
Yogesh Gupta (Senior vice President and Chief Technology Officer of Computer Associates) and Michael Christenson (Executive Vice
President, Strategy and Business, of Computer Associates). At the dinner, Messrs. Gupta and Christenson explained their views of the benefits
of a Computer Associates' acquisition of our company.

        On March 31, 2005, there was a telephonic meeting of the transaction committee. At the meeting, our management gave a preliminary
review of estimated financial results for the quarter ending March 31, 2005 and Mr. Burnes gave the committee an update on the discussions
which occurred at the dinner of March 30.

        On April 1, 2005, a telephonic meeting of our board was held. At the meeting, our management updated the board on their preliminary
view of estimated financial results for the quarter and indicated that they expected the results to be lower than initial expectations. After
discussion, the board authorized Mr. Burnes to enter into valuation discussions with Computer Associates. Following the board meeting, we
entered into a confidentiality agreement with Computer Associates and Mr. Burnes had discussions with Mr. Clarke regarding the valuation of
our company.

        On April 3, 2005, our board held a meeting at the offices of Bingham McCutchen. The board discussed numerous matters in connection
with a possible sale of our Company to Computer Associates. Our management gave a financial presentation and after discussion our board
determined to enter into negotiations with Computer Associates regarding a possible sale of our company. Mr. Burnes had additional discussions
with Mr. Clarke and Mr. Christenson regarding valuation of our company later that day.

        Between April 3, 2005 and April 7, 2005, representatives from Computer Associates, Sullivan & Cromwell LLP and Pillsbury Winthrop
LLP, Computer Associates' outside legal advisors, and Goldman Sachs, conducted due diligence on our company in Boston. Computer
Associates was provided information during the diligence process regarding our estimated financial results for the first quarter ending March 31,
2005.

        On April 4, 2005, Sullivan & Cromwell LLP delivered a draft merger agreement to us. From April 4 through April 7, 2005, our
representatives and representatives of Computer Associates, together with the outside legal advisors, negotiated the terms and conditions of the
merger agreement. During that period, management finalized their views on first quarter estimated results.

        On April 6, 2005, a telephonic meeting of our board was held. During the meeting, representatives of Bingham McCutchen summarized the
terms of the definitive merger agreement. Representatives of Bingham McCutchen also reviewed for the directors their fiduciary duties in
considering the acquisition. Representatives of Bear Stearns then presented a financial analysis pertaining to the transaction and rendered to
Concord Communications' board its oral opinion, which opinion was subsequently confirmed in a written opinion dated as of April 7, 2005, to
the effect that, as of that date and based upon the qualifications, assumptions, limitations and other matters set forth in its written opinion, the
merger consideration of $17.00 per share in cash to be received by the holders of Concord Communications common stock pursuant to the
merger was fair, from a financial point of view, to such holders. Following these presentations, the board discussed the potential acquisition.
Thereafter, the board unanimously determined that the merger agreement was in the best interests of our stockholders, approved and declared the
advisability of the merger agreement and related matters and unanimously recommended that our stockholders approve the merger agreement
and directed that the merger agreement be submitted to the Company's stockholders for their consideration.

        During the early morning of April 7, 2005, we and Computer Associates executed the merger agreement.
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        Prior to the opening of trading on April 7, 2005, we issued a press release announcing our preliminary first quarter results and a press
release announcing the proposed merger.

Reasons for the Merger and Recommendation of the Board of Directors

        In the course of reaching its decision to approve the merger agreement and the merger, our board consulted with senior management and
our financial and legal advisors, and reviewed a significant amount of information and considered a number of factors, including the following:

�
the value of the consideration to be received by our stockholders pursuant to the merger agreement, as well as the fact that
stockholders will receive the consideration in cash, which provides certainty of value to our stockholders compared to a
transaction in which they would receive stock or other non-cash consideration;

�
the $17.00 per share to be paid as the consideration in the merger represents a 71% premium over the closing price of our
common stock on April 6, 2005 (the trading day prior to announcement of the transaction) and a 63.9% premium over the
closing price of our common stock on March 7, 2005 (the four-week period prior to the announcement);

�
the presentation of Bear Stearns (including the assumptions and methodologies underlying the analyses in connection
therewith) and the opinion of Bear Stearns to our board dated April 7, 2005, a copy of which is attached to this proxy
statement as Annex B and which you should read carefully in its entirety, to the effect that, as of April 7, 2005 and based
upon the qualifications, assumptions, limitations and other matters set forth in its opinion, the merger consideration of
$17.00 in cash per share to be received by our stockholders pursuant to the merger was fair to our stockholders from a
financial point of view;

�
the then current financial market conditions, and historical market prices, volatility and trading information with respect to
our common stock, including the possibility that if we remained as a publicly owned corporation, in the event of a decline in
the market price of our common stock or the stock market in general, the price that might be received by holders of our
common stock in the open market or in a future transaction might be less than the $17.00 per share cash price to be paid in
the merger;

�
historical and current information concerning our business, financial performance and condition, operations, technology,
management and competitive position, and current industry, economic and market conditions, including our prospects if we
were to remain an independent company;

�
Concord Communications' estimated financial results for the quarter ending March 31, 2005;

�
the terms and conditions of the merger agreement, including:

�
the ability of the board, under certain circumstances, to furnish information to and conduct negotiations with a
third party and, upon the payment to Computer Associates of a termination fee of $11.5 million and up to
$0.5 million in expense reimbursement, to terminate the merger agreement to accept a superior proposal; and

�
the board's belief that the $12 million maximum aggregate fees and expenses payable to Computer Associates was
reasonable in the context of termination fees that were payable in other comparable transactions and would not be
likely to preclude another party from making a competing proposal; and

�
the likelihood that the merger will be consummated in light of the limited conditions to Computer Associates' obligation to
complete the merger, Computer Associates' financial capability, and the absence of any financing condition to Computer
Associates' obligation to complete the merger.
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        In the course of its deliberations, our board also considered a variety of risks and other countervailing factors, including:

�
the risks and costs to us if the merger does not close, including the diversion of management and employee attention,
employee attrition and the effect on business relationships;

�
the restrictions that the merger agreement imposes on actively soliciting competing bids, and the fact that we would be
obligated to pay the $11.5 million termination fee (and up to an additional $0.5 million in expense reimbursement) to
Computer Associates under certain circumstances;

�
the fact that Concord Communications will no longer exist as an independent, stand-alone company and our stockholders
will no longer participate in the growth of Concord Communications or in any synergies resulting from the merger;

�
the fact that gains from an all-cash transaction would be taxable to our stockholders for U.S. federal income tax purposes;
and

�
the interests of our officers and directors in the merger described under "Interests of Certain Persons in the Merger."

        The foregoing discussion of the factors considered by our board is not intended to be exhaustive, but does set forth the principal factors
considered by the board. Our board collectively reached the unanimous conclusion to approve the merger agreement and the merger in light of
the various factors described above and other factors that each member of our board felt were appropriate. In view of the wide variety of factors
considered by our board in connection with its evaluation of the merger and the complexity of these matters, our board did not consider it
practical, and did not attempt, to quantify, rank or otherwise assign relative weights to the specific factors it considered in reaching its decision
and did not undertake to make any specific determination as to whether any particular factor, or any aspect of any particular factor, was
favorable or unfavorable to the ultimate determination of the board. Rather, our board made its recommendation based on the totality of
information presented to and the investigation conducted by it. In considering the factors discussed above, individual directors may have given
different weights to different factors.

        After evaluating these factors and consulting with its legal counsel and its financial advisors, our board determined that the merger
agreement was advisable and in the best interests of our stockholders. Accordingly, our board has unanimously approved the merger agreement
and the merger. Our board recommends that you vote "FOR" the approval of the merger agreement.

Opinion of Financial Advisor to the Board of Directors of Concord Communications

        At the April 6, 2005 meeting of the Concord Communications' board of directors, Bear Stearns rendered to Concord Communications'
board its oral opinion, which opinion was subsequently confirmed in a written opinion dated as of April 7, 2005, to the effect that, as of that date
and based upon the qualifications, assumptions, limitations and other matters set forth in its written opinion, the merger consideration to be
received by the holders of Concord Communications common stock pursuant to the merger was fair, from a financial point of view, to such
holders.

        The full text of Bear Stearns' written opinion, which sets forth the assumptions made, matters considered and qualifications and limitations
on the review undertaken by Bear Stearns, is attached in Annex B to this proxy statement. The summary of the Bear Stearns opinion set forth
below is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the opinion. Concord Communications stockholders are encouraged to read
the Bear Stearns opinion in its entirety. In reading the summary of the Bear
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Stearns opinion set forth below, Concord Communications stockholders should be aware that the opinion:

�
was provided to the Concord Communications board of directors for its benefit and use in connection with its consideration
as to whether the merger consideration of $17.00 in cash for each share of Concord Communications common stock, was
fair, from a financial point of view, to such holders;

�
did not constitute a recommendation to the Concord Communications board of directors or any holder of Concord
Communications common stock as to how to vote in connection with the merger;

�
did not address Concord Communications' underlying business decision to pursue the merger on the terms set forth in the
merger agreement, the relative merits of the merger as compared to any alternative business strategies that might exist for
Concord Communications or the effects of any other transaction in which Concord Communications might engage, and did
not address any aspect of the merger other than the fairness, from a financial point of view, to holders of Concord
Communications common stock, of the merger consideration; and

�
did not express any opinion as to the price or range of prices at which the shares of Concord Communications common stock
might trade subsequent to the announcement of the merger agreement.

        Although Bear Stearns evaluated the fairness, from a financial point of view, of the merger consideration to the holders of Concord
Communications common stock, the merger consideration itself was determined at arms-length negotiations. Bear Stearns assumed no
responsibility for updating or reviewing its opinion based on circumstances or events occurring after the date of such opinion.

        In arriving at its opinion, Bear Stearns, among other things:

�
reviewed the merger agreement;

�
reviewed Concord Communications' Annual Reports to Shareholders and Annual Reports on Form 10-K for the years ended
December 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004, its preliminary results for the quarter ended March 31, 2005 and its Current Reports on
Form 8-K for the three years ended April 7, 2005;

�
reviewed certain operating and financial information relating to Concord Communications' business and prospects, including
projections for the years ending December 31, 2005 and through 2008, which are referred to as the "Projections";

�
met with certain members of Concord Communications' senior management to discuss Concord Communications' business,
operations, historical and projected financial results and future prospects (including the Projections);

�
reviewed the historical prices, trading multiples and trading volumes of the common shares of Concord Communications;

�
reviewed publicly available financial data, stock market performance data and trading multiples of companies which Bear
Stearns deemed generally comparable to Concord Communications;

�
reviewed the terms of recent acquisitions of companies which Bear Stearns deemed generally comparable to Concord
Communications;

�
performed discounted cash flow analyses based on the Projections; and

�
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conducted such other studies, analyses, inquiries and investigations as Bear Stearns deemed appropriate.
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        In preparing its opinion, Bear Stearns relied upon and assumed, without independent verification, the accuracy and completeness of the
financial and other information provided to Bear Stearns by Concord Communications, including without limitation, the Projections. With
respect to the Projections, Bear Stearns relied on representations that they have been reasonably prepared on bases reflecting the best currently
available estimates and judgments of the senior management of Concord Communications as to the expected future performance of Concord
Communications. Bear Stearns did not assume any responsibility for the independent verification of any such information or of the Projections
provided to them and Bear Stearns further relied upon the assurances of the senior management of Concord Communications that they were
unaware of any facts that would make such information provided to Bear Stearns incomplete or misleading.

        In arriving at its opinion, Bear Stearns did not perform or obtain any independent appraisal of the assets or liabilities (contingent or
otherwise) of Concord Communications, nor was Bear Stearns furnished with any such appraisals. Bear Stearns assumed that the merger will be
consummated in a timely manner and in accordance with the terms of the merger agreement, without any limitations, restrictions, conditions,
amendments or modifications, regulatory or otherwise, that collectively would have a material effect on Concord Communications.

        The following is a summary of the material valuation, financial and comparative analyses considered by Bear Stearns in connection with
the rendering of its oral opinion on April 6, 2005 in connection with the merger consideration. This summary does not purport to be a complete
description of the analyses underlying the Bear Stearns opinion.

        Summary of reviews and analyses.    Bear Stearns' opinion was necessarily based on economic, market and other conditions, and the
information made available to Bear Stearns, as of the date of the opinion. In performing its analyses, Bear Stearns made numerous assumptions
with respect to industry performance, general business, economic, market and financial conditions and other matters, many of which are beyond
the control of Bear Stearns and Concord Communications. Any estimates contained in the analyses performed by Bear Stearns are not
necessarily indicative of actual values or future results, which may be significantly more or less favorable than suggested by such analyses.
Additionally, estimates of the value of businesses or securities do not purport to be appraisals or to reflect the prices at which such businesses or
securities might actually be sold. Accordingly, such analyses and estimates are inherently subject to substantial uncertainty.

        In order to understand fully the reviews and financial and valuation analyses used by Bear Stearns, any information presented in tabular
format must be read together with the text of each summary. The tables alone do not represent a complete description of any such reviews or
financial and valuation analyses. This summary does not purport to be a complete description of the analyses underlying the Bear Stearns
opinion. All such reviews and financial and valuation analyses were based on information available to Bear Stearns on April 6, 2005. Bear
Stearns has not undertaken, and is under no duty, to update any such reviews or financial and valuation analyses upon the availability of new
information.

        Historical Stock Performance Analysis.    Bear Stearns compared the consideration to be received pursuant to the merger of $17.00 in cash
per share of Concord Communications common stock to the
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closing prices for Concord on certain dates and to the average daily closing prices for Concord Communications common stock for various
periods and noted the following implied offer premia:

Implied Offer Premia

Time Period (ending April 1, 2005)

Concord
Communications

common stock price

Premium Implied by
Implied Consideration

Value of $17.00

1 day prior (April 1, 2005) $ 9.82 73.1%
1 week prior (March 28, 2005) $ 10.65 59.6%
4 weeks prior (March 7, 2005) $ 10.37 63.9%
1 year average $ 10.13 67.9%
52-week high (April 1, 2004) $ 15.65 8.6%
52-week low (October 20, 2004) $ 7.76 119.1%
        Using publicly available information, Bear Stearns also reviewed the share price trading history of Concord Communications for the two
year period ending April 1, 2005 on a stand-alone basis and also in relation to Computer Associates, an S&P 500 software index, and to a group
consisting of the following twelve infrastructure software companies:

�
Altiris, Inc.

�
BMC Software, Inc.

�
Computer Associates

�
Mercury Interactive Corporation

�
Micromuse, Inc.

�
NetIQ Corporation

�
NetScout Systems, Inc.

�
Novell, Inc.

�
OPNET Technologies, Inc.

�
Packeteer, Inc.

�
Quest Software, Inc., and

�
Visual Networks, Inc.

        Selected Comparable Company Analysis.    Using publicly available earnings forecasts from Wall Street consensus equity research and
selected Wall Street equity research reports and information provided by Concord management, Bear Stearns compared certain operating,
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financial, trading and valuation information for Concord Communications to the corresponding information for the group of companies listed
above. In its analysis, Bear Stearns derived and compared multiples for Concord Communications and the selected companies, calculated as
follows:

�
enterprise value, which is defined as equity market value plus net debt, minority interest and liquidation value of preferred
stock, divided by estimated revenue for calendar year 2005, which is referred to as "Enterprise Value/ CY 2005E Revenue",
and enterprise value divided by estimated revenue for calendar year 2006, which is referred to as "Enterprise Value/ CY
2006E Revenue,"

�
enterprise value divided by earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization, which is referred to as "EBITDA,"
for estimated EBITDA for calendar year 2005, which is referred to
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as "Enterprise Value/ CY 2005E EBITDA", and enterprise value divided by estimated EBITDA for calendar year 2006,
which is referred to as "Enterprise Value/ CY 2006E EBITDA,"

�
enterprise value divided by earnings before interest and taxes, which is referred to as "EBIT," for estimated EBIT for
calendar year 2005, which is referred to as "Enterprise Value/ CY 2005E EBIT", and enterprise value divided by estimated
EBIT for calendar year 2006, which is referred to as "Enterprise Value/ CY 2006E EBIT", and

�
stock price divided by earnings, which is referred to as "P/E Ratio" for estimated earnings in calendar year 2005, which is
referred to as "CY 2005E P/E", and P/E Ratio for estimated earnings in calendar year 2006, which is referred to as "CY
2006E P/E".

        This analysis indicated the following:

Selected Comparable Company Multiples

High Low Median
Concord

Communications*

Enterprise Value/CY 2005E Revenue 4.5x 0.6x 1.6x 2.3x

Enterprise Value/CY 2006E Revenue 4.0x 0.5x 1.4x 2.0x

Enterprise Value/CY 2005E EBITDA 20.1x 7.0x 11.1x 20.3x

Enterprise Value/CY 2006E EBITDA 15.6x 6.5x 8.9x 14.3x

Enterprise Value/CY 2005E EBIT 24.2x 9.9x 16.2x 29.0x

Enterprise Value/CY 2006E EBIT 17.3x 9.3x 12.6x 18.1x

CY 2005E P/E 54.1x 19.2x 29.4x 41.6x

CY 2006E P/E 34.2x 14.1x 18.4x 25.3x

*
Based upon Concord Communications management projections and the merger consideration of $17.00 per share of Concord
Communications common stock.

        Bear Stearns noted that none of the comparable companies are identical to Concord Communications and, accordingly, any analysis of
comparable companies necessarily involved complex considerations and judgments concerning differences in financial and operating
characteristics and other factors that would necessarily affect the relative trading value of Concord Communications versus the companies to
which Concord Communications was being compared.

        Selected Precedent Transaction Analysis.    Using publicly available information, Bear Stearns examined the following transactions
involving infrastructure software companies announced since
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January 1, 2002. The transactions considered and the month and year each transaction was announced were as follows:

Target Acquiror Month and Year

Retek Inc. Oracle Corp. March 2005

Ascential Software Corp. International Business Machines Corp. March 2005

SMARTS, Inc. EMC Corp. December 2004

TippingPoint Technologies, Inc. 3Com Corp. December 2004

Netegrity, Inc. Computer Associates International, Inc. October 2004

KVault Software Limited Veritas Software Corp. August 2004

Marimba, Inc. BMC Software, Inc. April 2004

Staffware plc Tibco Software Inc. April 2004

Merant plc Serena Software, Inc. March 2004

Novadigm Inc. Hewlett-Packard Company February 2004

Aelita Software Corp. Quest Software, Inc. January 2004

VMware, Inc. EMC Corp. December 2003

ON Technology Corp. Symantec Corp. October 2003

Rainbow Technologies, Inc. SafeNet Inc. October 2003

Documentum, Inc. EMC Corp. October 2003

Crystal Decisions, Inc. Business Objects SA July 2003

Legato Systems, Inc. EMC Corp. July 2003

Kintana, Inc. Mercury Interactive Corp. June 2003

Precise Software Solutions Ltd. Veritas Software Corp. December 2002

OTG Software, Inc. Legato Systems, Inc. February 2002
        In its analysis, Bear Stearns derived and compared multiples for Concord Communications and the selected transactions, calculated as
follows:

�
transaction value as a multiple of the latest-twelve-month, or "LTM", revenues immediately preceding announcement of the
transaction, which is referred to below as "Transaction Value/LTM Revenues,"

�
transaction value as a multiple of estimated revenues for the next-twelve-month, or "NTM", period following announcement
of the transaction, which is referred to below as "Transaction Value/NTM Revenues,"

�
transaction value as a multiple of LTM EBITDA immediately preceding announcement of the transaction, which is referred
to below as "Transaction Value/LTM EBITDA,"

�
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transaction value as a multiple of estimated NTM EBITDA for the period following announcement of the transaction, which
is referred to below as "Transaction Value/NTM EBITDA,"

�
transaction value as a multiple of LTM EBIT immediately preceding announcement of the transaction, which is referred to
below as "Transaction Value/LTM EBIT,"
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�
transaction value as a multiple of estimated NTM EBIT for the period following announcement of the transaction, which is
referred to below as "Transaction Value/NTM EBIT,"

�
transaction equity value as a multiple of LTM net income immediately preceding announcement of the transaction, which is
referred to below as "Transaction Equity Value/LTM Net Income,"

�
transaction equity value as a multiple of estimated NTM net income for the period following announcement of the
transaction, which is referred to below as "Transaction Equity Value/NTM Net Income," and

�
Estimated revenue growth for the LTM period preceding announcement of the transaction to the NTM period following
announcement of the transaction, which is referred to below as "LTM-NTM Revenue Growth".

        This analysis indicated the following:

Selected Precedent Transaction Multiples

High Low Median Concord*

Transaction Value/LTM Revenues 16.5x 1.8x 4.3x 3.2x

Transaction Value/NTM Revenues 6.4x 2.0x 3.7x 2.1x

Transaction Value/LTM EBITDA 77.5x 14.0x 25.6x 57.9x

Transaction Value/NTM EBITDA 51.8x 12.8x 26.0x 15.5x

Transaction Value/LTM EBIT 87.5x 15.8x 36.3x 411.3x

Transaction Value/NTM EBIT 92.8x 12.7x 32.3x 19.2x

Transaction Equity Value/LTM Net Income 75.4x 24.5x 58.2x 304.6x

Transaction Equity Value/NTM Net Income 98.6x 34.9x 47.3x 27.0x

LTM-NTM Revenue Growth 158.8% 0.4% 14.1% 8.0%

*
Based upon Concord Communications management projections and the merger consideration of $17.00 per share of Concord
Communications common stock. LTM reflects period ending March 31, 2005, and NTM reflects period beginning April 1, 2005.

        Bear Stearns noted that none of the precedent transactions above are identical to the merger. Bear Stearns further noted that the analysis of
precedent transactions necessarily involves complex considerations and judgments concerning differences in financial and operating
characteristics and other factors that would necessarily affect the acquisition value of Concord Communications versus the acquisition value of
any comparable company in general and the transactions above in particular.

        Discounted Cash Flow Analysis.    Bear Stearns performed a discounted cash flow analysis on the projected cash flows of Concord
Communications for the fiscal years ending December 31, 2005 through December 31, 2008 using forecasts provided by the management of
Concord Communications. Bear Stearns also calculated the terminal value of the enterprise at December 31, 2008 by multiplying projected
EBIT in the fiscal year ending December 31, 2008 by multiples ranging from 10.0x to 14.0x. To discount the projected free cash flows and the
terminal value to present value, Bear Stearns used discount rates ranging from 19.0% to 22.0%. This analysis indicated a range of implied values
per share of Concord Communications' common stock of $12.72 to $18.39, compared to the merger consideration of $17.00 per share of
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Concord Communications' common stock.
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        Transaction Premiums Paid Analysis.    Bear Stearns reviewed the premiums paid on 43 selected transactions in the technology industry
announced since January 1, 2003 with transaction values ranging from $200 million to $500 million. Bear Stearns analyzed the premium of the
offer prices over the trading prices one day, one week and four weeks prior to the announcement date of the selected transactions and the
premiums implied for Concord Communications, based on the $17.00 per share of Concord Communications common stock to be received in
the merger.

        The following table presents, as of April 1, 2005, the median premium for these transactions and the premium implied by the merger
consideration of $17.00 per share of Concord Communications common stock:

Premiums Paid Analysis

Time Period Prior to Announcement
Median
Premium

Concord
Communications

Premium

1 day 28.6% 73.1%
1 week 27.5% 59.6%
4 weeks 35.4% 63.9%

        No transaction utilized as a comparable in the transaction premiums paid analysis is identical to the merger.

        Other Considerations.    The preparation of a fairness opinion is a complex process that involves various judgments and determinations as
to the most appropriate and relevant methods of financial and valuation analysis and the application of those methods to the particular
circumstances. The opinion is, therefore, not necessarily susceptible to partial analysis or summary description. Bear Stearns believes that its
analyses must be considered as a whole and that selecting portions of its analyses and the factors considered, without considering all of the
analyses and factors, would create a misleading and incomplete view of the processes underlying its opinion. Bear Stearns did not form an
opinion as to whether any individual analysis or factor, whether positive or negative, considered in isolation, supported or failed to support its
opinion. In arriving at its opinion, Bear Stearns did not assign any particular weight to any analysis or factor considered by it, but rather made
qualitative judgments based upon its experience in providing such opinions and on then-existing economic, monetary, market and other
conditions as to the significance of each analysis and factor.

        Pursuant to an engagement letter dated March 24, 2005, Concord Communications' board of directors retained Bear Stearns based upon
Bear Stearns' qualifications, experience and expertise. Bear Stearns is an internationally recognized investment banking firm that regularly
engages in the valuation of businesses and their securities in connection with mergers and acquisitions, negotiated underwritings, competitive
bids, secondary distributions of listed and unlisted securities, private placements and valuations for estate, corporate and other purposes. Bear
Stearns has previously rendered investment banking services to Concord and has received customary fees for rendering these services. Since
December 2003, Bear Stearns has earned fees totaling approximately $4.5 million in connection with Concord Communications' 3.00%
Convertible Senior Notes due 2023 and Concord Communications' acquisition of Aprisma Management Technologies. In the ordinary course of
its business, Bear Stearns may actively trade the equity securities of Concord Communications or Computer Associates for its own account and
for the accounts of its customers and, accordingly, at any time may hold a long or short position in such securities.

        Pursuant to the engagement letter, Concord Communications agreed to pay to Bear Stearns for its services (i) a fee of $500,000 upon
delivery of Bear Stearns' opinion to Concord Communications' board of directors, (ii) a fee of $1,000,000 upon public announcement of the
merger and (iii) a transaction fee payable upon consummation of the merger equal to 1.15% of the aggregate merger
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consideration, which fee, based on the number of shares of common stock of, and debt of, Concord Communications outstanding as of
March 31, 2005, is expected to be approximately $4.9 million, against which the amounts paid pursuant to clauses (i) and (ii) above shall be
credited. In addition, Concord Communications agreed to reimburse Bear Stearns for reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred by Bear
Stearns in connection with the merger, including the reasonable fees and disbursements of its legal counsel. Concord Communications has also
agreed to indemnify Bear Stearns against specific liabilities in connection with its engagement, including liabilities under the federal securities
laws.

Delisting and Deregistration of Concord Communications Common Stock

        If the merger is completed, Concord Communications common stock will be delisted from The Nasdaq National Market and deregistered
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, which we refer to as the Exchange Act, and Concord Communications will no longer
file periodic reports with the SEC.

Interests of Certain Persons in the Merger

        In considering the recommendation of our board with respect to the merger agreement, holders of shares of our common stock should be
aware that our executive officers and directors have interests in the merger that may be different from, or in addition to, those of our
stockholders generally. These interests may create potential conflicts of interest. Our board was aware of these potential conflicts of interest and
considered them, among other matters, in reaching its decision to approve the merger agreement and to recommend that our stockholders vote in
favor of approving the merger agreement.

Stock Options and Other Equity-Based Awards

        The merger agreement provides that, in general, at the effective time of the merger, each option to purchase shares of our common stock,
including those options held by our executive officers, will be assumed by Computer Associates and become an option to purchase Computer
Associates common stock with the number of shares of common stock and the exercise price of the option being adjusted in accordance with a
conversion ratio equal to $17.00 divided by the average closing sales price of a share of Computer Associates common stock for the five trading
days prior to the closing of the merger.

        The vesting of the options held by our non-employee directors will accelerate in full at the effective time of the merger. Each of these
options will terminate at the effective time of the merger in exchange for a payment equal to the number of shares of our common stock subject
to such option multiplied by the amount, if any, by which the cash consideration per share to be paid in the merger exceeds the exercise price of
the option.

        In addition, certain agreements between us and our executive officers provide for acceleration of the vesting of options as a result of the
merger:

�
Our change in control agreement with John Blaeser provides that all of Mr. Blaeser's unvested stock options will
automatically vest upon the closing of the merger.

�
As of April 7, 2005, Mr. Blaeser held unvested options to purchase 122,814 shares of our common stock.

�
In addition, our management change in control agreements with each of Douglas Batt, Melissa Cruz, Ferdinand Engel,
Michael Fabiaschi, Dayton Semerjian and Ted Williams, provide that all of their respective unvested stock options will
automatically vest upon the closing of the merger. As of April 7, 2005, Mr. Batt, Ms. Cruz, Mr. Engel, Mr. Fabiaschi,
Mr. Semerjian and
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Mr. Williams held unvested options to purchase 53,564, 55,939, 68,439, 0, 127,451 and 150,000, shares, respectively, of our
common stock.

Change in Control Agreements

        Also, pursuant to our change in control agreement with Mr. Blaeser, in addition to the vesting of options described above, upon closing of
the merger, Mr. Blaeser is entitled to 24 months' base salary and target annual bonus and 24 months' continuation of life, health, dental and
disability insurance benefits. Mr. Blaeser's current annual base salary is $380,015, his bonus for 2004 was $0, and his target annual bonus for
2005 is $            .

        Pursuant to our change in control agreements with each of Douglas Batt, Melissa Cruz, Ferdinand Engel, Michael Fabiaschi, Dayton
Semerjian and Ted Williams, in addition to the vesting of options described above, upon closing of the merger each is entitled to 18 months'
base salary and target annual bonus for the year in which the change in control occurs, and 18 months' continuation of life, health, dental and
disability insurance benefits. The current annual base salary of Mr. Batt, Ms. Cruz, Mr. Engel, Mr. Fabiaschi, Mr. Semerjian and Mr. Williams is
$235,009, $265,010, $345,013, $358,312.50, $250,009 and $300,000, respectively, their bonuses for 2004 were $50,000, $50,000, $50,000,
$400,000, $50,000 and $0, respectively, and their target annual bonuses for 2005 are $            , $            , $            , $            , $            and
$            , respectively.

Indemnification of Officers and Directors

        Computer Associates has agreed that, for a period of six years following the effective time of the merger, it and the surviving corporation
will indemnify, to the fullest extent permitted under the Massachusetts Business Corporation Act, our current and former directors and officers,
and the current and former directors and officers of any of our subsidiaries, against all claims, losses, liabilities, damages, judgments, fines and
reasonable fees, costs and expenses, including attorneys' fees and disbursements incurred in connection with any claim, action, suit, proceeding
or investigation, arising out of or pertaining to the fact that those persons were directors or officers of us or any of our subsidiaries. Each
indemnified party will be entitled to advancement of expenses incurred in the defense of any such claim, action, suit, proceeding or investigation
from Computer Associates and the surviving corporation within ten business days of receipt of a request for an advancement. However, to the
extent required by the Massachusetts Business Corporation Act, any person to whom expenses are advanced must provide an undertaking to
repay the advances if it is ultimately determined that such person is not entitled to indemnification.

        Computer Associates has agreed that the provisions of the certificate of incorporation and bylaws of the surviving corporation will contain
provisions as favorable as can be obtained in comparison with respect to indemnification, advancement of expenses and exculpation of our and
our subsidiaries' current and former directors and officers to those in the current provisions of our articles of organization and bylaws.

        Computer Associates has also agreed to cause the surviving corporation to maintain in effect, for six years after the merger, the current
policies of the directors' and officers' liability insurance maintained by Concord Communications with respect to matters existing or occurring at
or prior to the effective time, so long as the aggregate annual premiums therefor would not be in excess of 250% of the annual premiums paid by
us in our most recent fiscal year (this amount is referred to below in this section as the maximum premium). If any of our existing insurance
policies expires, is terminated or is canceled during such six-year period, or if the premiums therefor exceed the maximum premium, Computer
Associates shall cause the surviving corporation to obtain as much directors' and officers' liability insurance as can be obtained for the remainder
of such period for an annualized premium not in excess of the maximum premium, on terms and conditions as favorable as can be obtained in
comparison to our existing directors' and officers' liability insurance.
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Benefit Arrangements

        Computer Associates has agreed that, for a period of 12 months following the merger, it will use commercially reasonable efforts to provide
generally to continuing employees of Concord Communications the same base salary and pension and welfare benefits under employee benefit
plans (but excluding bonus, incentive and equity compensation) which are substantially similar in the aggregate to those provided to those
persons immediately prior to the execution of the merger agreement. Continuing employees are those of our employees who continue as
employees of the surviving corporation following the merger. Computer Associates has agreed to give continuing employees full credit for prior
service with us for purposes of any waiting period, eligibility, vesting and benefit entitlement under Computer Associates' employee benefits
plans and the determination of benefits levels under Computer Associates' employee benefits plans relating to tax qualified pension plans, 401(k)
savings plans, and welfare benefit plans and policies.

REGULATORY MATTERS

Federal or State Regulatory Filings Required in Connection with the Merger

        United States Antitrust.    Mergers and acquisitions that may have an impact in the United States are subject to review by the Department of
Justice and the Federal Trade Commission to determine whether they comply with applicable antitrust laws. Under the Hart-Scott-Rodino
Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, which we refer to as the HSR Act,
mergers and acquisitions that meet certain jurisdictional thresholds, such as the present transaction, may not be completed until the expiration of
a waiting period that follows the filing of notification forms by both parties to the transaction with the Department of Justice and the Federal
Trade Commission. The initial waiting period is 30 days, but this period may be shortened if the reviewing agency grants "early termination" of
the waiting period, or it may be lengthened if the reviewing agency determines that an in-depth investigation is required and issues a formal
request for additional information and documentary material. We and Computer Associates intend to file pre-merger notifications with the U.S.
antitrust authorities pursuant to the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976 by April 28, 2005 and, in accordance with the
merger agreement, requested "early termination" of the waiting period.

        Other Jurisdictions.    In addition to the filing requirements under U.S. law, mergers and acquisitions that may have an impact in the
Federal Republic of Germany are subject to review by the German Federal Cartel Office to determine whether they comply with applicable
German antitrust laws. Under the German Act Against Restraints of Competition, mergers and acquisitions that meet certain jurisdictional
thresholds and are not subject to antitrust review by the European Commission, such as the present transaction, may not be completed until the
expiration of an initial one-month waiting period that follows the filing of a notification by both parties to the transaction with the German
Federal Cartel Office. The waiting period may be shortened if the German Federal Cartel Office notifies the parties that the requirements for a
prohibition of a merger are not fulfilled, or it may be lengthened if the German Federal Cartel Office determines that an in-depth investigation is
required and enters into a main examination proceeding. We and Computer Associates filed a pre-merger notification with the German Federal
Cartel Office pursuant to the German Act against Restraints of Competition on April 21, 2005.

        It is possible that any of the government entities with which filings are made may seek various regulatory concessions as conditions for
granting approval of the merger. There can be no assurance that we will obtain the regulatory approvals necessary to complete the merger or that
the granting of these approvals will not involve the imposition of conditions on completion of the merger or require changes to the terms of the
merger. These conditions or changes could result in conditions to the merger not being satisfied. For more information, please refer to "The
Merger Agreement�Conditions to the Merger."
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Anti-Takeover Considerations

        We are subject to the provisions of Chapter 110C of the Massachusetts General Laws, entitled "Regulation of Take-Over Bids in the
Acquisition of Corporations." Under Chapter 110C, no offeror may make a "take-over bid" for the stock of a "target company" without publicly
announcing the terms of the bid, filing certain information with the Secretary of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts and the target company
and paying a fee to the Secretary of the Commonwealth. The Secretary of the Commonwealth may hold a hearing to determine if adequate
disclosure has been made and if the take-over bid is fair. A "target company" is defined as any Massachusetts corporation, or any corporation
with its principal place of business in Massachusetts, whose securities are or are to be the subject of a "take-over bid." We qualify as a target
company. A "take-over bid" is defined as any acquisition or offer to acquire stock of a target company where, after such acquisition, the offeror
and its affiliates will be the beneficial owner directly or indirectly of more than 10% of a class of the target company's stock. However, a
"take-over bid" does not include any bid to which the target company's board of directors consents, if the board of directors has recommended
the acceptance of the bid and the terms thereof to the stockholders. For purposes of Chapter 110C, our board of directors specifically approved
and consented to the merger and recommended the acceptance of the terms thereof to our stockholders. Therefore, the merger is not a "take-over
bid" under Chapter 110C.

        We are also subject to the provisions of Chapter 110F of the Massachusetts General Laws, the so-called "Business Combination Statute".
Under Chapter 110F, a Massachusetts corporation with over 200 stockholders, such as Concord Communications, may not engage in a "business
combination" with an "interested stockholder" for a period of three years after the date of the transaction in which the person becomes an
interested stockholder, unless (i) the interested stockholder obtains the approval of the board of directors prior to becoming an interested
stockholder, (ii) the interested stockholder acquires 90% of the outstanding voting stock of Concord Communications (excluding shares held by
certain of our affiliates) at the time it becomes an interested stockholder, or (iii) the business combination is approved by both the board of
directors and at a meeting of the stockholders by the holders of at least two-thirds of the outstanding voting stock of Concord Communications
(excluding shares held by the interested stockholder). An "interested stockholder" is a person who, together with affiliates and associates, owns
(or at any time within the prior three years did own) 5% or more of the outstanding voting stock of Concord Communications. Any person or
entity that enters into an agreement, arrangement or understanding with another person or entity that beneficially owns shares of Concord
Communications common stock for the purpose of acquiring, holding, voting (except pursuant to certain forms of revocable proxy and consent)
or disposing of such stock, is deemed to "own" such person's or entity's stock under Chapter 110F. A "business combination" includes a merger,
a stock or assets sale, and other transactions resulting in a financial benefit to the stockholder. Our board of directors approved the merger,
exempting the merger from the provisions of Chapter 110F.

MATERIAL U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES

        The following is a general discussion of certain material United States federal income tax consequences to our stockholders of the receipt of
cash in exchange for shares of our common stock pursuant to the merger or upon the exercise of appraisal rights. This summary is based upon
the provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, applicable current and proposed United States Treasury Regulations, judicial
authority, and administrative rulings and practice, all of which are subject to change, possibly on a retroactive basis. This discussion assumes
that the shares of our common stock are held as capital assets by a United States person (i.e., a citizen or resident of the United States or a
domestic corporation). This discussion does not address all aspects of United States federal income taxation that may be relevant to a particular
stockholder of ours in light of the stockholder's personal investment circumstances, or those stockholders of ours subject to special treatment
under the United States federal income tax laws (for example, life insurance companies, dealers or brokers in securities or currencies,
tax-exempt organizations, financial institutions, United
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States expatriates, foreign corporations and nonresident alien individuals), our stockholders who hold shares of our common stock as part of a
hedging, "straddle," conversion or other integrated transaction, or stockholders of ours who acquired their shares of our common stock through
the exercise of employee stock options or other compensation arrangements or our employee stock purchase plan. In addition, this discussion
does not address any aspect of foreign, state or local or estate and gift taxation that may be applicable to a stockholder of ours. We urge you to
consult your own tax advisor to determine the particular tax consequences to you (including the application and effect of any state, local
or foreign income and other tax laws) of the receipt of cash in exchange for shares of our common stock pursuant to the merger or upon
the exercise of appraisal rights.

        The receipt of cash in the merger or upon the exercise of appraisal rights will be a taxable transaction for United States federal income tax
purposes. In general, for United States federal income tax purposes, a holder of shares of our common stock will recognize gain or loss equal to
the difference between his or her adjusted tax basis in shares of our common stock converted to cash in the merger and the amount of cash
received. Gain or loss will be calculated separately for each block of shares of our common stock (i.e., shares of our common stock acquired at
the same cost in a single transaction) converted to cash in the merger. If the shares of our common stock have been held for more than one year
at the effective time of the merger, the gain or loss will be long-term capital gain or loss subject (in the case of stockholders who are individuals)
to tax at a maximum United States federal income tax rate of 15%, and will be short-term capital gain or loss if, at the effective time of the
merger, the shares of our common stock so converted to cash have been held for one year or less. The deductibility of a capital loss recognized
on the exchange is subject to limitation.

        Under the United States federal income tax backup withholding rules, unless an exemption applies, Computer Associates generally is
required to and will withhold 28% of all payments to which a stockholder or other payee is entitled in the merger, unless the stockholder or other
payee (1) is a corporation or comes within other exempt categories and demonstrates this fact or (2) provides its correct tax identification
number (social security number, in the case of an individual, or employer identification number in the case of other stockholders), certifies under
penalties of perjury that the number is correct (or properly certifies that it is awaiting a taxpayer identification number), certifies as to no loss of
exemption from backup withholding and otherwise complies with the applicable requirements of the backup withholding rules. Each stockholder
of ours and, if applicable, each other payee, should complete, sign and return to the paying agent for the merger the substitute Form W-9 that
each stockholder of ours will receive with the letter of transmittal following completion of the merger in order to provide the information and
certification necessary to avoid backup withholding, unless an applicable exception exists and is proved in a manner satisfactory to the paying
agent. The exceptions provide that certain stockholders of ours (including, among others, all corporations and certain foreign individuals) are not
subject to these backup withholding and reporting requirements. In order for a foreign individual to qualify as an exempt recipient, however, he
or she must submit a signed Form W-8BEN, "Certificate of Foreign Status of Beneficial Owner for United States Tax Withholding." Backup
withholding is not an additional tax. Generally, any amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules described above can be refunded or
credited against a holder's United States federal income tax liability, if any, provided that the required information is furnished to the United
States Internal Revenue Service in a timely manner.

The foregoing discussion of certain material United States federal income tax consequences is included for general information
purposes only and is not intended to be, and should not be construed as, legal or tax advice to any holder of shares of our common stock.
We urge you to consult your own tax advisor to determine the particular tax consequences to you (including the application and effect of
any state, local or foreign income and other tax laws) of the receipt of cash in exchange for shares of our common stock pursuant to the
merger or upon the exercise of appraisal rights.
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THE MERGER AGREEMENT

The following is a summary of the material terms of the merger agreement. However, because the merger agreement is the primary legal
document that governs the merger, you should carefully read the complete text of the merger agreement for its precise legal terms and other
information that may be important to you. The merger agreement is included as Annex A to this proxy statement and contains representations
and warranties we made to each other. These representations and warranties were made only for the purposes of the merger agreement and
solely for the benefit of Computer Associates and Concord Communications as of specific dates, may be subject to important limitations and
qualifications agreed by the companies, and may not be complete. Furthermore, these representations and warranties may have been made for
the purposes of allocating contractual risk between the companies to the merger agreement instead of establishing these matters as facts, and
may or may not have been accurate as of any specific date and do not purport to be accurate as of the date of this proxy statement. Accordingly,
you should NOT rely upon the descriptions of the representations and warranties in this proxy statement or the actual representations and
warranties contained in the merger agreement as characterizations of the actual state of facts, since they were intended for the benefit of, and to
be limited to, the companies. Information about the companies can be found elsewhere in this proxy statement and in such other public filings
each of us makes with the Securities and Exchange Commission, which are available without charge at www.sec.gov.

Form of the Merger

        If all of the conditions to the merger are satisfied or waived in accordance with the merger agreement, Merger Sub, a wholly owned
subsidiary of Computer Associates created solely for the purpose of engaging in the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement, will
merge with and into Concord Communications. The separate corporate existence of Merger Sub will cease, and Concord Communications will
survive the merger and will become a wholly owned subsidiary of Computer Associates. We sometimes refer to Concord Communications after
the merger as the surviving corporation.

Structure and Effective Time

        The merger agreement provides that we will complete the merger on the first business day after satisfaction or waiver of the conditions to
the completion of the merger described in the merger agreement. We intend to complete the merger as promptly as practicable, subject to receipt
of stockholder approval and all requisite regulatory approvals. We refer to the time at which the merger is completed as the effective time.
Although we expect to complete the merger by June 30, 2005, we cannot specify when, or assure you that, we and Computer Associates will
satisfy or waive all conditions to the merger.

Articles of Organization and Bylaws

        Our articles of organization, as in effect on the date of the merger agreement, will be amended and restated as of the effective time to be
identical to the certificate of incorporation of Merger Sub, except the name of the corporation shall be Concord Communications, Inc. After the
effective time, our authorized share capital shall consist of 1,000 shares of common stock. At the effective time, the bylaws of Merger Sub, as in
effect immediately prior to the effective time of the merger, will be the bylaws of the surviving corporation.

Board of Directors and Officers of the Surviving Corporation

        The directors of Merger Sub immediately prior to the merger will become the directors of the surviving corporation following the merger.
Our officers will continue to be the officers of the surviving corporation following the merger.

30

Edgar Filing: CONCORD COMMUNICATIONS INC - Form PREM14A

51



Consideration to Be Received in the Merger

        Upon completion of the merger, each share of our common stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the effective time of the
merger will be cancelled and converted into the right to receive $17.00 in cash, without interest and less applicable withholding taxes, other than
shares held by stockholders who properly exercise and perfect their appraisal rights and any shares owned by us, Computer Associates or Merger
Sub. Our stockholders are entitled to assert appraisal rights instead of receiving the merger consideration. For more information, please refer to
"Appraisal Rights."

Payment Procedures

        Prior to the effective time of the merger, Computer Associates will appoint a paying agent that will make payment of the merger
consideration in exchange for certificates representing shares of our common stock. Computer Associates will deposit sufficient cash with the
paying agent at or before the effective time of the merger in order to permit the payment of the merger consideration. Promptly after the
effective time of the merger, the paying agent will mail to each holder of record of a certificate representing shares of our common stock a letter
of transmittal and instructions explaining how to send his, her or its stock certificates to the paying agent. The paying agent will pay the merger
consideration, less any withholding taxes required by law, to our stockholders promptly following the paying agent's receipt of the stock
certificates and properly completed letter of transmittal. No interest will be paid or accrued on the cash payable upon the surrender of any such
stock certificate. Computer Associates is entitled to cause the paying agent to deliver to it any funds that have not been distributed within
180 days after the effective time of the merger. After that date, holders of certificates who have not complied with the instructions to exchange
their certificates will be entitled to look only to Computer Associates for payment of the applicable merger consideration, without interest.

You should not send your Concord Communications stock certificates to the paying agent until you have received transmittal
materials from the paying agent. Do not return your Concord Communications stock certificates with the enclosed proxy.

        If any of your certificates representing common stock have been lost, stolen or destroyed, you will be entitled to obtain the merger
consideration after you make an affidavit of that fact and, if required by Computer Associates, post a bond as Computer Associates may direct as
indemnity against any claim that may be made against Computer Associates with respect to your lost, stolen or destroyed stock certificates.

Stock Options and the Employee Stock Purchase Plans

        The merger agreement provides that, at the completion of the merger, each option to purchase shares of our common stock will be assumed
by Computer Associates and will become an option to acquire shares of Computer Associates common stock, on the same terms and conditions
(other than the number of underlying shares and the exercise price) as were applicable under such option immediately prior to the effective time
of the merger. The number of shares of Computer Associates common stock underlying each option will be determined by multiplying the
number of shares of our common stock that were subject to the option immediately prior to the effective time by the conversion ratio described
below, and rounding the resulting number down to the nearest whole number of shares of Computer Associates common stock. The per share
exercise price for the Computer Associates common stock issuable upon exercise of each option will be determined by dividing the per share
exercise price of our common stock subject to such option, as in effect immediately prior to the effective time, by the conversion ratio and
rounding the resulting exercise price up to the nearest whole cent. Options that are "incentive stock options" may be further adjusted to comply
with the applicable regulations.

        The conversion ratio will be equal to the fraction having a numerator equal to $17.00 and a denominator equal to the average of the closing
sales prices of a share of Computer Associates

31

Edgar Filing: CONCORD COMMUNICATIONS INC - Form PREM14A

52



common stock as reported on the New York Stock Exchange for each of the five consecutive trading days immediately preceding the closing
date.

        We have agreed to terminate our 2001 Non-Executive Employee Stock Purchase Plan and our 2004 Non-Executive Employee Stock
Purchase Plan prior to the effective time of the merger.

Restricted Stock

        All outstanding shares of our common stock that are issued pursuant to our stock plans and are subject to vesting and forfeiture provisions
set forth in restricted stock grant or similar agreements shall remain subject to the terms and conditions of the applicable restriction agreements
without modification notwithstanding the merger, except as modified by certain change in control agreements to which the holders of such stock
are parties, as applicable. After the effective time, as the vesting and forfeiture restrictions set forth in any restriction agreement expire or lapse,
the holder of the applicable shares will be entitled to exchange such shares for merger consideration.

Representations and Warranties

        The merger agreement contains customary representations and warranties that we made to Computer Associates regarding, among other
things:

�
corporate matters, including due organization, power and qualification;

�
our capital structure;

�
our subsidiaries;

�
authorization, execution, delivery and performance and the enforceability of the merger agreement and related matters;

�
our receipt of a fairness opinion from our financial advisor;

�
identification of required governmental filings and consents;

�
absence of conflicts with, or violations of, organizational documents or other obligations as a result of the merger;

�
our material contracts and key customer relationships;

�
accuracy of information contained in registration statements, reports and other documents that we file with the SEC and the
compliance of our filings with the SEC with applicable federal securities law requirements and, with respect to financial
statements therein, generally accepted accounting principles;

�
accuracy of information contained in this proxy statement;

�
maintenance and effectiveness of disclosure controls and procedures required under applicable federal securities law;

�
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compliance in all material respects with the applicable provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002;

�
absence of certain changes or events affecting our business since December 31, 2004;

�
litigation and other liabilities;

�
employee benefits plans;

�
compliance with laws;

�
permits;

�
environmental matters;
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�
filing of tax returns, absence of unpaid taxes and other tax matters;

�
labor matters;

�
insurance;

�
intellectual property;

�
owned and leased property;

�
inapplicability of state anti-takeover statutes; and

�
absence of undisclosed brokers' fees.

        In addition, Computer Associates made representations and warranties regarding, among other things:

�
corporate matters, including due organization, power and qualification;

�
authorization, execution, delivery and performance and the enforceability of the merger agreement and related matters;

�
absence of conflicts with, or violations of, organizational documents or other obligations as a result of the merger;

�
identification of required governmental filings and consents;

�
accuracy of information supplied for inclusion in this proxy statement;

�
operations of Merger Sub; and

�
availability of funds necessary for the merger, including the merger consideration.

        Many of our representations and warranties are qualified by a material adverse effect standard. A "company material adverse effect" means,
with respect to Concord Communications, a material adverse effect on the financial condition, properties, business or results of operations of
Concord Communications and its subsidiaries taken as a whole, except that the following, in and of themselves, will not be considered to
constitute a company material adverse effect:

�
any change resulting from (1) general economic or business conditions in the U.S. or Europe or acts of war or terrorism,
(2) factors generally affecting the industries or markets in which Concord Communications operates, or (3) any changes in
applicable law or generally accepted accounting principles (except, in each case, to the extent such change primarily relates
only to Concord Communications and its subsidiaries or disproportionately adversely affects Concord Communications and
its subsidiaries as compared to other companies of similar size in our industry);

�
any adverse change proximately caused by the pendency or announcement of the merger;

�
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any failure by Concord Communications to meet any revenue or earnings estimates for any period ending on or after April 7,
2005 and prior to the closing (provided that this will not prevent a determination that any event underlying such failure has
resulted in, or contributed to, a company material adverse effect); or

�
a decline in the price of our common stock on Nasdaq (provided that this will not prevent a determination that any event
underlying such decline has resulted in, or contributed to, a company material adverse effect).

Covenants Relating to the Conduct of Our Business

        From the date of the merger agreement through the effective time of the merger, we have agreed, and have agreed to cause our subsidiaries,
to conduct our business in the ordinary course of business and use our reasonable best efforts to preserve our business organization, assets,
properties and
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relationships with third parties and to keep available the services of our present officers and key employees.

        During the same period, we have also agreed that, subject to certain exceptions, we will not do any of the following without the prior
written consent of Computer Associates:

�
issue or otherwise dispose of or encumber any shares of our capital stock;

�
amend our articles of organization or bylaws or comparable organizational documents;

�
split, combine or reclassify any of our outstanding shares of capital stock;

�
declare, set aside or pay any dividend payable in cash, stock or property in respect of any capital stock other than dividends
from wholly owned subsidiaries;

�
purchase or redeem any shares of our capital stock or any of our other securities convertible into shares of our capital stock,
except for the acquisition of shares of our common stock in connection with the exercise of options;

�
issue, sell, pledge, dispose of or encumber any shares of our capital stock, any securities convertible into or exercisable for
shares of our capital stock or any options, warrants or rights of any kind to acquire shares of our capital stock or any voting
debt or other assets (other than shares of common stock issuable pursuant to options and other stock-based awards
outstanding as of the date of the merger agreement under our existing option plans or upon conversion of certain outstanding
convertible senior notes);

�
transfer, sell, lease, license, abandon, cancel or otherwise dispose of, allow to lapse or encumber any material property or
assets;

�
restructure, recapitalize, reorganize or completely or partially liquidate or adopt a plan of complete or partial liquidation or
otherwise enter into any arrangement imposing material changes or restrictions on the operation of our assets or business;

�
acquire any business or any business organization or division, or any material assets, other than inventory and other items in
the ordinary course of business;

�
adopt a stockholder rights plan or similar plan or arrangement that is applicable to Computer Associates or its affiliates;

�
incur or guarantee indebtedness, other than obligations pursuant to existing credit facilities in the ordinary course of
business;

�
issue, sell, amend or guarantee any debt securities;

�
make any loans or advances, except routine employee advances in the ordinary course of business, or capital contributions
to, or investment in, any other person;

�
enter into any hedging agreements or other similar financial agreements, other than in the ordinary course of business;

�
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make any capital expenditures in excess of $250,000 in the aggregate, other than as set forth in our budget;

�
make any material changes in accounting methods, principles or practices, except as may be required under generally
accepted accounting principles;

�
change any assumption underlying, or method of calculating, any bad debt, contingency or other reserve;

�
enter into, renew, modify, amend or terminate or waive, release or assign any material rights or claims under, any material
contract, other than in the ordinary course of business;
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�
grant any exclusivity rights, "most favored nation" rights or agreements restricting our ability to compete, to the extent any
such right or agreements would survive the effective time of the merger;

�
except as required by applicable law or agreements in effect as of April 7, 2005:

�
adopt, enter into, amend or terminate any employment agreement, change in control agreement, or any employee
benefit plan or arrangement;

�
increase the compensation or fringe benefits of any director, officer, employee or consultant, other than annual
increases in salaries of persons who are not officers in the ordinary course of business that do not exceed 2%;

�
amend or accelerate the payment, right to payment or vesting of any compensation or benefits;

�
pay any benefit not provided for as of April 7, 2005 under our employee benefit plans;

�
grant any awards under any bonus, compensation or equity compensation plan, except for grants of options to
purchase common stock upon customary terms to new hires in the ordinary course of business; or

�
take any action to fund or in any other way secure the payment of compensation or benefits under any company
benefit plan;

�
initiate, compromise or settle any material litigation, proceeding, claim or charge;

�
make or rescind any tax election, amend any tax return or permit any insurance policy naming Concord Communications or
any of our subsidiaries as a beneficiary or loss-payable payee to be cancelled or terminated, except in the ordinary course of
business;

�
take any action or omit to take any action that is reasonably likely to result in any condition to the merger not being satisfied;
or

�
authorize, or commit or agree to take, any of the foregoing actions.

No Solicitation

        The merger agreement provides that, until the effective time of the merger or the earlier termination of the merger agreement, neither
Concord Communications nor any of our officers and directors will, and we will use reasonable best efforts to cause our employees, investment
bankers, attorneys, accountants and other advisors or representatives not to, directly or indirectly:

�
initiate, solicit or knowingly encourage any inquiries or the making of any proposal or offer that constitutes, or could
reasonably be expect to lead to, any acquisition proposal; or

�
engage in, continue or otherwise participate in any discussions or negotiations regarding, or furnish to any person any
confidential information for the purpose of encouraging or facilitating, any acquisition proposal, or otherwise facilitate
knowingly any effort or attempt to make an acquisition proposal.
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        An "acquisition proposal" means any proposal or offer for a merger, consolidation, dissolution, tender offer, recapitalization,
reorganization, share exchange, business combination or similar transaction involving us or any proposal or offer to acquire in any manner,
directly or indirectly, over 15% of our equity securities or consolidated total assets.

        However, prior to the adoption of the merger agreement by our stockholders, we may (a) provide information in response to a request
therefor by a third party who has made an unsolicited bona fide written acquisition proposal (for the purposes of this paragraph, the reference in
the definition of acquisition proposal above to 15% will be replaced by 50%, except in the case the acquisition proposal
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is an asset sale, in which case "all or substantially all" will be substituted for 15%), so long as (i) the proposal did not result from a breach by us
of the no solicitation provisions of the merger agreement, (ii) we have notified Computer Associates regarding the acquisition proposal and
provided Computer Associates with the information concerning the acquisition proposal required under the terms of the merger agreement,
(iii) the third party enters into a customary confidentiality agreement with us containing terms not less restrictive of the third party than those
terms contained in our confidentiality agreement with Computer Associates and (iv) our board determines in good faith after consultation with
outside legal counsel that failure to take such action would be inconsistent with our board's fiduciary obligations under applicable law, and
(b) participate in discussions or negotiations with a third party who has made such an acquisition proposal, if and to the extent that:

�
our board determines in good faith, after consultation with outside counsel, that the failure to so act would be inconsistent
with its fiduciary obligations under applicable law; and

�
with respect to our participation in such discussions or negotiations, our board determines in good faith, after consultation
with outside counsel and our financial advisors, that it is reasonably likely that the acquisition proposal (a) if accepted, is
reasonably likely to be consummated, taking into account all legal, financial, regulatory and other aspects of the proposal
and the person making the proposal, and, if consummated, would result in a superior proposal, or (b) is reasonably likely to
lead to a superior proposal.

        A "superior proposal" means any acquisition proposal that would, if consummated, result in a transaction more favorable to our
stockholders from a financial point of view than the merger.

        We have agreed to promptly notify Computer Associates of our receipt of any acquisition proposal, request for information in connection
with any acquisition proposal or inquiry with respect to any acquisition proposal, and to provide copies of any written request, acquisition
proposal or inquiry, together with the material terms of the acquisition proposal or inquiry and the identity of the person making the acquisition
proposal or inquiry. We are also required to keep Computer Associates informed of the status of any such acquisition proposal or inquiry. We
also agreed to cease all discussions and negotiations regarding any acquisition proposal that existed as of the date of the merger agreement and
to request the return or destruction of all confidential information provided to the other bidders.

        We have further agreed that, until the effective time of the merger or the earlier termination of the merger agreement, our board will not:

�
withhold, withdraw, qualify or modify (or publicly propose to take any such action), in a manner adverse to Computer
Associates, its approval of the merger agreement or its recommendation that stockholders vote to approve the merger
agreement (including publicly taking a neutral position or no position with respect to an acquisition proposal, except during
the ten-business day period after the first public announcement of such acquisition proposal);

�
cause or permit us to enter into any letter of intent, merger agreement or similar agreement providing for the consummation
of a transaction contemplated by an acquisition proposal (other than a confidentiality agreement as discussed above); or

�
approve, recommend or adopt any acquisition proposal (or propose, publicly or otherwise, to take any such action).

        However, prior to the adoption of the merger agreement by our stockholders, our board may withhold, withdraw, qualify or modify its
recommendation with respect to the merger agreement or approve or recommend any superior proposal made after the date of the merger
agreement and not solicited, initiated or knowingly encouraged in breach of the merger agreement if our board determines in good faith, after
consultation with outside counsel, that failure to do so would be inconsistent with its fiduciary obligations under applicable law. We must notify
Computer Associates if our board intends
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to take any of these actions, our board may not take such actions until two business days after Computer Associates has been so notified and our
board must take into account any changes to the terms of the merger agreement proposed by Computer Associates in determining whether the
acquisition proposal still constitutes a superior proposal.

        Nothing in the merger agreement prohibits us or our representatives from taking and disclosing a position to our stockholders with respect
to a tender offer contemplated by Rules 14d-9 and 14e-2 of the Exchange Act or from making any required disclosure to our stockholders, if our
board determines in good faith, and after consultation with outside counsel, that failure to do so would be inconsistent with its obligations under
applicable law.

Stockholders Meeting

        We have agreed to hold as promptly as practicable a meeting of our stockholders to vote on the proposal to approve the merger agreement.
Unless the merger agreement has been terminated in accordance with its terms, we are required to hold the meeting regardless of whether our
board determines to withhold, withdraw, qualify or modify its recommendation that stockholders approve the merger agreement or our board
determines to approve or recommend a superior proposal.

Benefit Arrangements

        Computer Associates has agreed that, for a period of 12 months following the merger, it will use commercially reasonable efforts to provide
generally to continuing employees the same base salary and pension and welfare benefits under employee benefit plans (but excluding bonus,
incentive and equity compensation) which are substantially similar in the aggregate to those provided to those persons immediately prior to the
execution of the merger agreement. Continuing employees are those of our employees who continue as employees of the surviving corporation
following the merger. Computer Associates has agreed to give continuing employees full credit for prior service with us for purposes of any
waiting period, eligibility, vesting and benefit entitlement under Computer Associates' employee benefits plans and the determination of benefits
levels under Computer Associates' employee benefits plans relating to tax qualified pension plans, 401(k) savings plans and welfare benefit
plans and policies.

Indemnification and Insurance

        Computer Associates has agreed that, for a period of six years following the effective time of the merger, it and the surviving corporation
will indemnify our current and former directors and officers against losses arising out of or pertaining to the fact that those persons were
directors or officers of Concord Communications. Computer Associates has also agreed to cause the surviving corporation to maintain in effect,
for six years after the merger, the current policies of the directors' and officers' liability insurance maintained by Concord Communications with
respect to matters existing or occurring at or prior to the effective time, so long as the aggregate annual premiums therefor would not be in
excess of 250% of the annual premiums paid by us in our most recent fiscal year (this amount is referred to below in this section as the
maximum premium). If any of our existing insurance policies expires, is terminated or is canceled during such six-year period, or if the
premiums therefor exceed the maximum premium, Computer Associates shall cause the surviving corporation to obtain as much directors' and
officers' liability insurance as can be obtained for the remainder of such period for an annualized premium not in excess of the maximum
premium, on terms and conditions as favorable as can be obtained in comparison to our existing directors' and officers' liability insurance. For
more information, please refer to "The Merger�Interests of Certain Persons in the Merger�Indemnification of Officers and Directors."
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Conditions to the Merger

        Our and Computer Associates' obligations to effect the merger are subject to the satisfaction or waiver of the following conditions:

�
our stockholders must have approved the merger agreement;

�
the applicable waiting period under the HSR Act must have expired or been terminated; and

�
no court or governmental agency shall have enacted, issued, promulgated, enforced or entered any order, stay, decree,
judgment or injunction or statute, rule or regulation that is in effect and that has the effect of making the merger illegal or
otherwise prohibiting consummation of the merger.

        In addition, our obligation to effect the merger is subject to the satisfaction or waiver of the following conditions:

�
the representations and warranties of Computer Associates in the merger agreement must be true and correct (without giving
effect to any limitation as to materiality or material adverse effect) as of April 7, 2005 and as of the closing date of the
merger as though made on and as of such date and time (except to the extent that any such representation and warranty
speaks of an earlier date, in which case such representation and warranty shall be true and correct as of such earlier date),
except for such inaccuracies that, individually or in the aggregate, have not had, and are not reasonably likely to have, a
material adverse effect on Computer Associates; and

�
each of Computer Associates and Merger Sub must have performed, in all material respects, all obligations required to be
performed by it under the merger agreement.

        In addition, the obligation of Computer Associates to effect the merger is subject to the satisfaction or waiver of the following conditions:

�
our representations and warranties in the merger agreement must be true and correct (without giving effect to any limitation
as to materiality or material adverse effect) as of April 7, 2005 and as of the closing date of the merger as though made on
and as of such date and time (except to the extent that any such representation and warranty speaks of an earlier date, in
which case such representation and warranty shall be true and correct as of such earlier date), except for such inaccuracies
(other than with respect to our capitalization representation which shall be true and correct in all material respects) that,
individually or in the aggregate, have not had, and are not reasonably likely to have, a material adverse effect on us;

�
we must have performed, in all material respects, all obligations required to be performed by us under the merger agreement;

�
there must not be instituted or pending any suit, action or proceeding in which a governmental entity is (i) challenging or
seeking to restrain or prohibit the consummation of the merger, or (ii) seeking to prohibit or materially impair Computer
Associates' ability to own or operate any of our material businesses and assets, or any of the businesses or assets of
Computer Associates (including, without limitation, through any divestiture, licensing, lease or hold separate arrangement)
or seeking to prohibit or limit in any material respect Computer Associates' ability to vote, transfer, receive dividends with
respect to or otherwise exercise ownership rights with respect to the stock of the surviving corporation;

�
there must not be any order, stay, judgment, injunction, statute, rule or regulation imposing any restraint, prohibition,
impairment or limitation described in clause (i) or (ii) of the bullet point above;

�
all governmental and other filings, consents and approvals required of both Computer Associates and us and specified in the
merger agreement shall have been made or obtained;

Edgar Filing: CONCORD COMMUNICATIONS INC - Form PREM14A

63



38

Edgar Filing: CONCORD COMMUNICATIONS INC - Form PREM14A

64



�
all other approvals and consents of applicable governmental and regulatory agencies shall have been obtained or made, other
than those failures to obtain, individually or in the aggregate, that would not be reasonably likely (i) to have a material
adverse effect on Concord Communications or on Computer Associates (but with materiality measured at the Concord
Communications level) or (ii) to provide a reasonable basis to conclude that the companies or any of their affiliates would be
subject to the risk of criminal sanctions or any of their representatives would be subject to the risk of criminal or civil
sanctions; and

�
there must not have occurred any change, event, circumstance or development since April 7, 2005 that has had, or is
reasonably likely to have, a material adverse effect on us.

Termination

        The merger agreement may be terminated and the merger may be abandoned at any time prior to the effective time of the merger
(notwithstanding any approval by our stockholders):

�
by the mutual written consent of us and Computer Associates;

�
by either us or Computer Associates, if:

�
the merger has not been consummated by September 30, 2005 or the approval of our stockholders shall not have
been obtained at the special meeting of our stockholders, provided, that this right to terminate is not available to
any party that has breached in any material respect its obligations under the merger agreement in any manner that
has proximately contributed to the occurrence of the failure of the merger to be consummated; or

�
any governmental order, decree, ruling or action permanently restraining, enjoining or otherwise prohibiting the
merger shall become final and nonappealable; or

�
by Computer Associates, if:

�
our board (i) fails to recommend, or withholds, withdraws, qualifies or modifies its recommendation that our
stockholders approve the merger agreement in a manner adverse to Computer Associates or takes a neutral
position or no position with respect to an acquisition proposal beyond the time permitted under the merger
agreement, (ii) fails to reconfirm its recommendation as promptly as practicable (but in any event within five
business days) after Computer Associates requests it to do so, (iii) approves, recommends or adopts an acquisition
proposal (or publicly announces an intention to do so), or recommends that our stockholders accept a tender offer
or exchange offer for our common stock or, within ten business days after commencement of a tender offer or
exchange offer, fails to recommend against acceptance of the offer; or

�
we breach any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement that would result in the failure of a condition to our
obligation to effect the merger being satisfied and which is not cured within 20 days after written notice of the
breach or failure to perform is given to us; or

�
by us, if:

�
our board approves or recommends to our stockholders a superior proposal, provided that prior to any such
termination, (i) we inform Computer Associates of our intent to effect such termination and to enter into a binding
written agreement concerning a superior proposal, attaching the most current version of such agreement or, to the
extent no such agreement is contemplated, a description of all material terms and conditions of such superior
proposal, and (ii) Computer Associates does not make within three business days an offer that our board
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advisor) is at least as favorable from a financial point of view to our stockholders as the superior proposal, and
(iii) we pay Computer Associates a termination fee (as detailed below) and reimburse Computer Associates for its
expenses; or

�
Computer Associates breaches any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement that would result in the failure
of a condition to its obligation to effect the merger being satisfied and which is not cured within 20 days after
written notice of the breach or failure to perform is given to Computer Associates.

Termination Fee

        The merger agreement obligates us to pay a termination fee to Computer Associates of $11.5 million, plus reimburse up to $0.5 million of
Computer Associates' expenses relating to the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement, if:

�
the merger agreement is terminated by us or Computer Associates because:

�
the merger has not been completed by September 30, 2005, and (i) between the date of the merger agreement and
the date of the special meeting of stockholders an acquisition proposal was made or publicly disclosed and not
publicly withdrawn in good faith and without qualification prior to the date of such termination, and (ii) within
12 months after the termination of the merger agreement we enter into a definitive agreement to consummate, or
consummate, or shall have approved or recommended to our stockholders or otherwise not opposed, any
acquisition proposal; or

�
our stockholders did not approve the merger agreement at the special meeting, and (i) between the date of the
merger agreement and the date of the special meeting of the stockholders an acquisition proposal was made or
publicly disclosed and not publicly withdrawn in good faith and without qualification prior to the seventh business
day prior to the date of the special meeting, and (ii) within 12 months after the termination of the merger
agreement we enter into a definitive agreement to consummate, or consummate, or shall have approved or
recommended to our stockholders or otherwise not opposed, any acquisition proposal; or

�
the merger agreement is terminated by us because:

�
the meeting of our stockholders has been duly convened and our stockholders have not approved the merger
agreement, and, prior to the date of the meeting, our board (i) shall have failed to recommend that our stockholders
approve the merger agreement, or shall have withheld, withdrawn, qualified or modified its recommendation that
our stockholders approve the merger agreement in a manner adverse to Computer Associates or shall have taken a
neutral position or no position with respect to an acquisition proposal beyond the time permitted under the merger
agreement, (ii) shall have failed to reaffirm its recommendation as promptly as practicable (but in any event within
five business days) after Computer Associates requests it to do so, (iii) shall have approved, recommended or
adopted an acquisition proposal (or publicly announced its intention to do so), (iv) shall have recommended that
our stockholders accept a publicly-disclosed tender offer or exchange offer for our common stock, or (v) within ten
business days after commencement of a tender offer or exchange offer, shall have failed to recommend against
acceptance of the offer; or

�
our board has approved or recommended to our stockholders a superior proposal, and such action was done in
compliance with the provisions of the merger agreement described in "The Merger Agreement�No Solicitation"; or
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�
the merger agreement is terminated by Computer Associates because:

�
our board fails to recommend that our stockholders approve the merger agreement, or withholds, withdraws,
qualifies or modifies its recommendation that our stockholders approve the merger agreement in a manner adverse
to Computer Associates;

�
our board takes a neutral position or no position with respect to an acquisition proposal beyond the time permitted
under the merger agreement, or fails to reaffirm its recommendation of the merger agreement and the merger as
promptly as practicable (but in any event within five business days) after Computer Associates requests it to do so;
or

�
our board approves, recommends or adopts an acquisition proposal (or publicly announces its intention to do so);

�
our board recommends that our stockholders accept a publicly disclosed tender offer or exchange offer for our
common stock or, within ten business days after commencement of a tender offer or exchange offer, fails to
recommend against acceptance of the offer.

Amendment

        At any time prior to the effective time, the merger agreement may be amended, modified or supplemented in writing by the parties, by
action of the board of directors of each of the respective parties.

APPRAISAL RIGHTS

        The Massachusetts legislature adopted a new Massachusetts Business Corporation Act (the "MBCA") in July 2004, which repealed and
replaced the Massachusetts Business Corporation Law, including the provisions related to appraisal rights.

        General.    Section 13.02(a) of the MBCA provides generally that stockholders of Massachusetts corporations are entitled to appraisal rights
in the event of a merger. Although an exemption set forth in Section 13.02(a)(1) of the MBCA provides that stockholders are not entitled to
appraisal rights in transactions similar to the merger where cash is the sole consideration received by the stockholders, we believe that certain
persons or entities may have a direct or indirect material financial interest in the Merger, as described in the section entitled "The
Merger�Interests of Certain Persons in the Merger" on page 31, which renders this exemption inapplicable with respect to the merger.
Accordingly, Concord Communications believes its stockholders are entitled to appraisal rights under Massachusetts law.

        Any stockholder who wishes to exercise appraisal rights or who wishes to preserve that right should review carefully the following
discussion and Sections 13.01 through 13.31 of Part 13 of the MBCA, attached as Annex C to this Proxy Statement. Failure to strictly comply
with the procedures specified in Part 13 of the MBCA will result in the loss of appraisal rights.
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        Notice of Intent and Demand for Payment.    Any holder of our common stock wishing to exercise the right to demand appraisal under
Part 13 of the MBCA must satisfy each of the following conditions:

�
Before the vote to approve the merger agreement is taken, a stockholder electing to exercise his or her appraisal rights must
deliver to us written notice of such stockholder's intent to demand payment for his or her shares if the merger is completed.
The written notice should be delivered to Douglas Batt, Secretary, Concord Communications, Inc., 600 Nickerson Road,
Marlboro, Massachusetts 01752. We recommend you send your notice by registered or certified mail, return receipt
requested; and

�
A stockholder electing to exercise his or her appraisal rights must NOT vote in favor of the proposal to approve the merger
agreement. If a stockholder returns a signed proxy but does not specify a vote against the proposal to approve the merger
agreement or a direction to abstain, the proxy will be voted FOR the merger agreement, which will have the effect of
waiving that stockholder's appraisal rights.

        Generally, a stockholder may assert appraisal rights only if the stockholder seeks them with respect to all of the holder's shares of common
stock. Stockholders of record for more than one beneficial stockholder may assert appraisal rights with respect to fewer than all the shares
registered in such stockholder's name as holder of record, provided that such stockholder notifies us in writing of the name and address of each
beneficial stockholder on whose behalf such stockholder is asserting appraisal rights. For a beneficial stockholder to assert appraisal rights, such
beneficial stockholder must submit to us such record stockholder's written consent to the assertion of such rights not fewer than 40 nor more than
60 days after we send out written notice to the stockholder of appraisal rights, as described below. Stockholders who hold their shares in
brokerage accounts or other nominee forms and who wish to exercise appraisal rights are urged to consult with their brokers to determine the
appropriate procedures for the making of a demand for appraisal by the nominee.

        Appraisal Notice and Form.    If the merger agreement is approved, within 10 days after the effective date of the merger, we will deliver a
written appraisal notice and a form containing certain information to all stockholders who have properly demanded appraisal rights. The
appraisal notice will include a copy of Part 13 of the MBCA and a form that specifies the date of the first announcement to stockholders of the
principal terms of the merger. The form will require the stockholder asserting appraisal rights to certify (i) whether or not beneficial ownership
of the shares for which appraisal rights are asserted were acquired before the date of the first announcement of the proposed merger and (ii) that
the stockholder did not vote for proposal to approve the merger agreement. The form provided with the appraisal notice will state:

�
where the form must be returned, where certificates for shares must be deposited, and the date by which such certificates
must be deposited;

�
the date on which the form is due, which will not be fewer than 40 nor more than 60 days after the date the appraisal notice
and form are sent, and notice that the stockholder shall have waived the right to demand appraisal with respect to such shares
unless the form is received by the specified date;

�
our estimate of the fair value of the shares;

�
that, if requested in writing, we will provide within 10 days after the date on which all forms are due, the number of
stockholders who have returned the forms and the total number of shares owned by such stockholders; and

�
the date by which the stockholder may withdraw his or her notice of intent to demand appraisal rights, which date will be
within 20 days after the date on which all forms are due.
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        Perfection of Rights.    A stockholder who wishes to exercise appraisal rights shall execute and return the form provided, with all
certifications completed, and deposit such stockholder's share certificates in accordance with the terms of the notice. Once a stockholder deposits
his or her share certificates, such stockholder loses all rights as a stockholder unless the stockholder withdraws his or her election in accordance
with the withdrawal procedures, which are summarized below. If a stockholder fails to make the certification on the form that such stockholder
acquired the shares before the date of the first announcement of the proposed merger, we may elect to treat those shares as "after-acquired
shares," as described below.

        Withdrawal of Appraisal Rights.    A stockholder who has otherwise properly perfected his or her appraisal rights may decline to exercise
his or her appraisal rights and withdraw from the appraisal process by notifying us in writing within 20 days after the date on which all forms
were due. If the stockholder fails to withdraw from the appraisal process before the expiration of the withdrawal period, such stockholder may
not thereafter withdraw without our written consent.

        Payment.    Within 30 days after the date on which the form described above is due, we will pay in cash to each stockholder who has
properly perfected his or her appraisal rights the amount we estimate to be the fair value of their shares, plus interest but subject to any
applicable withholding taxes. The payment to each stockholder will be accompanied by:

�
our financial statements;

�
a statement of our estimate of the fair value of the shares, which estimate will equal or exceed the estimate given with the
appraisal notice; and

�
a statement that stockholders may demand further payment if the stockholder is dissatisfied with the payment or offer in
accordance with the procedures set forth in Section 13.26 of the MBCA (as described below).

        Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event that the stockholder is demanding payment for "after-acquired shares," we may elect to
withhold payment from such stockholder. If we elect to withhold payment, we must, within 30 days after the date on which the form described
above is due, notify all stockholders who have "after-acquired shares":

�
of the information in our financial statements;

�
of our estimate of the fair value of the shares, which estimate will equal or exceed the estimate given with the appraisal
notice;

�
that the stockholders may accept the estimate of fair value, plus interest, in full satisfaction of their demands or demand
appraisal under Section 13.26 of the MBCA (described below);

�
that those stockholders who wish to accept our offer shall notify us of their acceptance within 30 days after receiving such
offer; and

�
that those stockholders who do not satisfy the requirements for demanding appraisal under Section 13.26 shall be deemed to
have accepted our offer.

        Within 10 days after receiving the stockholder's acceptance of this offer, we will pay in cash the amount offered to each stockholder who
agreed to accept our offer for his or her "after-acquired shares." Within 40 days after sending the notice to holders of "after-acquired shares", we
must pay in cash the amount offered to each stockholder who does not satisfy the requirements for demanding appraisal under Section 13.26.

        Procedure if Stockholder is Dissatisfied with Payment or Offer.    Pursuant to Section 13.26, within 30 days after receipt of payment for a
stockholder's shares, a stockholder who is dissatisfied with the amount of the payment to be received shall notify us in writing of that
stockholder's estimate of the
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fair value of the shares and demand payment of that estimate plus interest, less any payment previously paid. In addition, within 30 days after
receiving our offer to pay for a stockholder's "after-acquired shares", a stockholder holding "after-acquired shares" who was offered payment (as
described above) and who is dissatisfied with that offer shall reject the offer and demand payment of the stockholder's stated estimate of the fair
value of the shares plus interest. A stockholder's failure to notify us within such 30 day period waives the right to demand payment and shall be
entitled only to the payment made or offered as described above.

        Court Proceedings.    If a stockholder makes a proper and timely demand for payment that remains unsettled, we will commence an
equitable proceeding within 60 days after receiving the payment demand and petition the court to determine the fair value of the shares and
accrued interest. If we do not commence the proceeding within the 60-day period, we will pay in cash to each stockholder the amount the
stockholder demanded, plus interest.

        Any stockholder wishing to exercise appraisal rights is urged to consult legal counsel before attempting to exercise appraisal rights. Failure
to strictly comply with all of the procedures set forth in Part 13 of the MBCA may result in the loss of a stockholder's statutory appraisal rights.

MARKET PRICE AND DIVIDEND DATA

        Our common stock is traded on The NASDAQ National Market under the symbol "CCRD." The table below shows, for the periods
indicated, the high and low sales prices for shares of our common stock as reported by The NASDAQ National Market.

Concord Communications
Common Stock

Period High Low

Year ended December 31, 2003
First Quarter $ 11.50 $ 6.60
Second Quarter $ 15.38 $ 8.58
Third Quarter $ 16.95 $ 11.67
Fourth Quarter $ 23.12 $ 13.18

Year ended December 31, 2004
First Quarter $ 21.02 $ 13.06
Second Quarter $ 15.65 $ 10.33
Third Quarter $ 11.45 $ 7.87
Fourth Quarter $ 11.22 $ 7.76

Year ended December 31, 2005
First Quarter $ 11.65 $ 9.16
Second Quarter through                        , 2005 $ $

        The following table sets forth the closing sales prices per share of Concord Communications common stock, as reported on The NASDAQ
National Market on April 6, 2005, the last full trading day before the public announcement of the proposed merger, and on                  , 2005, the
latest practicable date before the printing of this proxy statement:

April 6, 2005 $ 9.94
            , 2005 $

        If the merger is consummated, our common stock will be delisted from The NASDAQ National Market, there will be no further public
market for shares of our common stock and each share of our
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common stock will be cancelled and converted into the right to receive $17.00 in cash, without interest, except as discussed in "Appraisal
Rights".

        We have never paid dividends on shares of our common stock and do not anticipate paying dividends on shares of our common stock in the
future.

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF MANAGEMENT AND CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS

        The following table sets forth the beneficial ownership of shares of our common stock as of April 16, 2005, by (1) each person or entity
known by us to beneficially own more than five percent of the shares of our common stock, (2) each director and named executive officer
individually and (3) all our current directors and executive officers as a group. Unless otherwise indicated all shares of our common stock are
owned directly and the indicated owner has sole voting and dispositive power with respect to such shares.

Name and Address
Amount and

Nature of Ownership
Percent of
Class

Brown Capital Management, Inc.
1201 N. Calvert Street
Baltimore, MD 21202 2,827,250(1) 15.44%

FMR Corp.
82 Devonshire Street
Boston, MA 02109 2,571,128(2) 13.73%

T. Rowe Price Associates, Inc.
100 E. Pratt Street
Baltimore, MD 21202 1,688,500(3) 9.2%

Hotchkis and Wiley Capital Management, LLC
725 South Figueroa Street, 39th Floor
Los Angeles, CA 90017-5439 1,606,200(4) 8.8%

Firsthand Capital management, Inc.,
Firsthand Funds, and Kevin M. Landis
125 South Market Street, Suite 1200
San Jose, CA 95113 1,089,300(5) 5.95%

John A. Blaeser(6) 591,544(7)(8) 3.13%
Douglas A. Batt(6) 53,937(7)(8) *
Melissa H. Cruz(6) 98,124(7)(8) *
Ferdinand R. Engel(6) 222,070(7)(8) 1.19%
Michael Fabiaschi(6) 0(7)(8)
Dayton Semerjian(6) 45,512(7)(8) *
Ted D. Williams(6) 0(7)(8)
Frederick W.W. Bolander(6) 76,986(7)(8) *
Richard M. Burnes, Jr.(6) 112,250(7)(8) *
Jack M. Cooper(6) 53,125(7)(8) *
Robert E. Donohue(6) 0(7)(8) *
Robert M. Wadsworth(6) 81,350(7)(8) *
All executive officers and directors as a group (12 people)(9) 1,334,898 6.87%

*
less than 1%
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(1)
According to a Schedule 13G filed on February 9, 2005, Brown Capital Management, Inc. has sole voting power with respect to
1,366,350 shares of Common Stock and sole power to dispose of 2,827,250 shares of Common Stock.

(2)
According to a Schedule 13G filed on February 14, 2005, FMR Corp. does not have sole voting power with respect to any shares of
Common Stock and has sole power to dispose of 2,571,128 shares of Common Stock.

(3)
According to a Schedule 13G filed on February 16, 2005, T. Rowe Price Associates, Inc. has sole voting power with respect to
178,400 shares of Common Stock and sole power to dispose of 1,688,500 shares of Common Stock. These securities are owned by
various individuals and institutional investors for which T. Rowe Price Associates, Inc. serves as an investment advisor with power to
direct investments and/or sole power to vote the securities. For purposes of the reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, T. Rowe Price Associates, Inc. is deemed to be a beneficial owner of such securities; however, T. Rowe Price Associates, Inc.
expressly disclaims that it is, in fact, the beneficial owner of such securities.

(4)
According to a Schedule 13G filed on February 14, 2005, Hotchkis and Wiley Capital Management, LLC has sole voting power with
respect to 1,120,900 shares of Common Stock and sole power to dispose of 1,606,200 shares of Common Stock.

(5)
According to a Schedule 13G filed on January 26,2005, Firsthand Capital Management, Inc., Firsthand Funds, and Kevin M. Landis
have sole voting power with respect to 1,089,300 shares of Common Stock and sole power to dispose of 1,089,300 shares of Common
Stock.

(6)
The address for each named person is c/o Concord Communications, Inc., 600 Nickerson Road, Marlboro, MA 01752.

(7)
All named persons possess sole voting and sole dispositive power with respect to the shares, except for Mr. Bolander, who has
disclaimed beneficial ownership of 200 shares of Common Stock, which shares are beneficially owned by his wife.

(8)
Includes shares of Common Stock which have not been issued, but which are subject to options that either are presently exercisable or
will become exercisable within 60 days of April 16, 2005, as follows: Mr. Blaeser, 426,249 shares; Mr. Batt, 53,937 shares; Ms. Cruz,
98,124 shares; Mr. Engel, 178,750 shares; Mr. Fabiaschi, 0 shares; Mr. Semerjian, 45,512 shares; Mr. Williams, 0 shares;
Mr. Bolander, 33,750 shares; Mr. Burnes, 41,250 shares; Mr. Cooper, 18,125 shares; Mr. Donohue, 0 shares; Mr. Wadsworth, 33,750
shares; and Mr. Williams, 0 shares.

(9)
The group is composed of directors and executive officers of the Company as of April 16, 2005. The total includes 929,447 shares of
common stock that the directors and executive officers as a group have the right to acquire, either presently or within 60 days of the
record date, by exercise of stock options granted under the Company's stock plans and 70,000 restricted shares of common stock
issued to Mr. Fabiaschi, Executive Vice President and General Manager, SPECTRUM Business Unit, which vest over four years from
the date of grant with 25% of the grant vesting each year on the anniversary of the grant date.

DESCRIPTION OF CONCORD COMMUNICATIONS, INC.

        Concord Communications, Inc., a corporation organized under the laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, is a global provider of
Business Service Management (BSM) software that reduces IT downtime, improves capacity planning, and optimizes service level
management�thereby enabling customers to increase revenue and productivity. Built on more than 1,000 technology patents, Concord
Communications' family of world-class solutions addresses the needs of enterprise customers across 17 vertical markets, managed service
providers, and both wireless and wireline telecommunications
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carriers. These solutions enable organizations of all sizes to map IT services to business needs, measure the actual end-user experience, and
manage voice or data applications, systems and networks. More than 7,500 customers worldwide use Concord Communications' software,
including 23 of the world's largest banks, and 11 of the world's 20 largest insurance companies. Our common stock is quoted on The NASDAQ
National Market under the symbol "CCRD."

DESCRIPTION OF COMPUTER ASSOCIATES INTERNATIONAL, INC.

        Computer Associates International, Inc., a corporation organized under the laws of the State of Delaware, is one of the world's largest
providers of management software. Founded in 1976, Computer Associates designs, markets and licenses computer software products that allow
businesses to efficiently run, manage, and automate critical aspects of their IT operations. Computer Associates operates in more than 100
countries, has a large and broad base of customers and estimates that 95% of the Fortune 500® companies currently use its products. Computer
Associates' common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "CA."

DESCRIPTION OF MINUTEMAN ACQUISITION CORP.

        Minuteman Acquisition Corp., a corporation organized under the laws of the State of Delaware, is a direct wholly owned subsidiary of
Computer Associates. Minuteman Acquisition Corp. was formed exclusively for the purpose of effecting the merger. This is the only business of
Minuteman Acquisition Corp.

FUTURE STOCKHOLDER PROPOSALS

        Our 2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, originally scheduled for May 4, 2005, has been postponed to a date yet to be determined. The
2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders will only be held if the merger is not completed. Proposals of stockholders intended to be presented at the
2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders were due by November 30, 2004, for inclusion in our proxy statement and proxy for that meeting.

        If the merger is consummated, we will not have public stockholders and there will be no public participation in any future meetings of
stockholders. If the merger is not consummated, proposals of stockholders intended for inclusion in the Company's proxy materials to be
furnished to all stockholders entitled to vote at the 2006 Annual Meeting of Stockholders pursuant to SEC Rule 14a-8 must be received at the
Company's principal executive offices not later than such date as the Company shall publish in an upcoming quarterly report on Form 10-Q.
Proposals of stockholders received after such date will be considered untimely.

        Under the Company's By-Laws, stockholders who wish to make a proposal at the 2006 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, other than one that
will be included in the Company's proxy materials, must send notice in written form to the Secretary (whose name appears on the cover of this
proxy statement) at the Company's principal executive offices. To be considered timely, the notice must be delivered to, or mailed to and
received at, the principal executive offices not less than 60 days nor more than 90 days prior to the date of the 2006 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders. If a stockholder who wishes to present a proposal fails to notify the Company by these deadlines, the stockholder would not be
entitled to present the proposal at the meeting. If, however, notwithstanding the requirements of the Company's By-Laws, the proposal is
brought before the meeting, then under the SEC's proxy rules the proxies solicited by management with respect to the 2006 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders will confer discretionary voting authority with respect to the stockholder's proposal on the persons selected by management to vote
the proxies. If a stockholder makes a timely notification, the proxies may still exercise discretionary voting authority under circumstances
consistent with the SEC's proxy rules. In

47

Edgar Filing: CONCORD COMMUNICATIONS INC - Form PREM14A

75



order to minimize controversy as to the date on which a proposal was received by the Company, it is suggested that stockholders submit their
proposals by Certified Mail�Return Receipt Requested.

HOUSEHOLDING OF PROXY STATEMENT

        Some banks, brokers and other nominee record holders may be participating in the practice of "householding" proxy statements. This
means that only one copy of our proxy statement may have been sent to multiple stockholders in your household. We will promptly deliver a
copy of the proxy statement to you if you write or call us at the following address or phone number: Concord Communications, Inc., 600
Nickerson Road, Marlboro, Massachusetts 01752 Attention: Secretary, (508) 460-4646. If you would like to receive separate copies of annual
reports or proxy statements in the future, or if you are receiving multiple copies and would like to receive only one copy for your household, you
should contact your bank, broker or other nominee holder, or you may contact us at the above address and phone number.

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

        Each of Concord Communications and Computer Associates files annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other
information with the SEC under the Exchange Act. You may read and copy this information at, or obtain copies of this information by mail
from, the SEC's Public Reference Room, 450 Fifth Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20549, at prescribed rates. Please call the SEC at
1-800-SEC-0330 for further information about the public reference room.

        The filings of Concord Communications and Computer Associates with the SEC are also available to the public from commercial document
retrieval services and at the web site maintained by the SEC at "http://www.sec.gov."

YOUR VOTE IS IMPORTANT. Whether or not you plan to attend the special meeting, please sign and date the enclosed proxy
card and return it promptly in the envelope provided or vote through the Internet or by telephone as described in the enclosed proxy
card. Giving your proxy now will not affect your right to vote in person if you attend the meeting.

        If you have any questions about this proxy statement, the special meeting or the merger or need assistance with the voting procedures, you
should contact The Altman Group, our proxy solicitor, toll-free at (800) 361-1722.
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Annex A

AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

Among

COMPUTER ASSOCIATES INTERNATIONAL, INC.,

MINUTEMAN ACQUISITION CORP.

and

CONCORD COMMUNICATIONS, INC.

Dated as of April 7, 2005
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AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

        AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER (hereinafter called this "Agreement"), dated as of April 7, 2005, among Concord
Communications, Inc., a Massachusetts corporation (the "Company"), Computer Associates International, Inc., a Delaware corporation
("Parent"), and Minuteman Acquisition Corp., a Delaware corporation and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Parent ("Merger Sub," the Company
and Merger Sub sometimes being hereinafter collectively referred to as the "Constituent Corporations").

RECITALS

        WHEREAS, the respective boards of directors of each of Parent, Merger Sub and the Company have approved the merger of Merger Sub
with and into the Company with the Company as the surviving entity (the "Merger") and approved the Merger upon the terms and subject to the
conditions set forth in this Agreement; and

        WHEREAS, the Company, Parent and Merger Sub desire to make certain representations, warranties, covenants and agreements in
connection with this Agreement;

        NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises, and of the representations, warranties, covenants and agreements contained herein,
the parties hereto agree as follows:

ARTICLE I

The Merger; Closing; Effective Time

         1.1    The Merger.     Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, at the Effective Time (as hereinafter
defined), Merger Sub shall be merged with and into the Company and the separate corporate existence of Merger Sub shall thereupon cease. The
Company shall be the surviving corporation in the Merger (sometimes hereinafter referred to as the "Surviving Corporation"), and the separate
corporate existence of the Company with all its rights, privileges, immunities, powers and franchises shall continue unaffected by the Merger,
except as set forth in Article II. The Merger shall have the effects specified in the Massachusetts Business Corporation Act, as amended (the
"MBCA").

        1.2    Closing.     Unless otherwise mutually agreed in writing between the Company and Parent, the closing for the Merger (the "Closing")
shall take place at the offices of Sullivan & Cromwell LLP, 125 Broad Street, New York, New York, at 9:00 A.M. (New York City time) on the
first business day (the "Closing Date") following the day on which the last to be fulfilled or waived of the conditions set forth in Article VIII
(other than those conditions that by their nature are to be satisfied at the Closing, but subject to the fulfillment or waiver of those conditions)
shall be satisfied or waived in accordance with this Agreement.

        1.3    Effective Time.     As soon as practicable following the Closing, the Company and Parent will cause Articles of Merger (the
"Massachusetts Articles of Merger") to be executed and delivered to the Secretary of the Commonwealth of the Commonwealth of
Massachusetts as provided in Section 11.06 of the MBCA. The Merger shall become effective at the time when the Massachusetts Articles of
Merger have been filed with the Secretary of the Commonwealth of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts or at such later time as may be agreed
by the parties and specified in the Massachusetts Articles of Merger (the "Effective Time").
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ARTICLE II

Certificate of Incorporation and By-Laws of the Surviving Corporation

         2.1    The Certificate of Incorporation.     At the Effective Time, the articles of organization of the Company as in effect immediately prior
to the Effective Time shall be amended and restated in its entirety to be identical to the certificate of incorporation of the Merger Sub (the
"Charter"), until thereafter amended as provided therein or by applicable Law; provided, however, that at the Effective Time, Article I of the
articles of organization of the Surviving Corporation shall be amended and restated in its entirety to read as follows: "The name of the
corporation is Concord Communications, Inc.". After the Effective Time, the authorized capital stock of the Surviving Corporation shall consist
of 1,000 shares of common stock, par value $.01 per share.

        2.2    The By-Laws.     At the Effective Time, the by-laws of the Company in effect at the Effective Time shall be amended and restated in
their entirety to be identical to the by-laws of Merger Sub, as in effect immediately prior to the Effective Time(the "By-Laws"), until thereafter
amended as provided therein or by applicable Law.

ARTICLE III

Officers and Directors of the Surviving Corporation

         3.1    Directors.     The directors of Merger Sub at the Effective Time shall, from and after the Effective Time, be the directors of the
Surviving Corporation until their successors have been duly elected or appointed and qualified or until their earlier death, resignation or removal
in accordance with the Charter and the By-Laws and the Board of Directors of the Company shall take all such actions as may be necessary or
appropriate to give effect to the foregoing.

        3.2    Officers.     The officers of the Company at the Effective Time shall, from and after the Effective Time, be the officers of the
Surviving Corporation until their successors have been duly elected or appointed and qualified or until their earlier death, resignation or removal
in accordance with the Charter and the By-Laws.

ARTICLE IV

Conversion of Securities

         4.1    Conversion of Capital Stock.     As of the Effective Time, by virtue of the Merger and without any action on the part of Merger Sub,
the Company or any holder of shares of the capital stock of the Company or capital stock of Merger Sub:

        (a)    Capital Stock of Merger Sub.    Each share of the common stock of Merger Sub issued and outstanding immediately prior to
the Effective Time shall be converted into and become one fully paid and nonassessable share of common stock, $0.01 par value per
share, of the Surviving Corporation.

        (b)    Cancellation of Treasury Stock and Parent-Owned Stock.    All shares of common stock, par value $0.01 per share, of the
Company ("Company Common Stock") that are owned by the Company as treasury stock and any shares of Company Common Stock
owned by Parent or Merger Sub immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be cancelled and shall cease to exist and no payment
shall be made with respect thereto.

        (c)    Merger Consideration for Company Common Stock.    Subject to Section 4.2, each share of Company Common Stock (other
than shares to be cancelled in accordance with Section 4.1(b) and Dissenting Shares (as hereinafter defined)) issued and outstanding
immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be automatically converted into the right to receive $17.00 in cash per share, without
interest (the "Merger Consideration"). As of the Effective Time, all such shares of
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Company Common Stock shall no longer be outstanding and shall automatically be cancelled and shall cease to exist, and each holder
of a certificate representing any such shares of Company Common Stock shall cease to have any rights with respect thereto, except the
right (other than in respect of Dissenting Shares) to receive the Merger Consideration pursuant to this Section 4.1(c) upon the
surrender of such certificate in accordance with Section 4.2, without interest.

        (d)    Adjustments to Prevent Dilution.    In the event that the Company changes the number of shares of Company Common
Stock or securities convertible or exchangeable into or exercisable for shares of Company Common Stock issued and outstanding prior
to the Effective Time as a result of a reclassification, stock split (including a reverse stock split), stock dividend or distribution,
recapitalization, merger, subdivision, issuer tender or exchange offer, or other similar transaction, the Merger Consideration shall be
equitably adjusted.

        4.2    Exchange of Certificates.     The procedures for exchanging outstanding shares of Company Common Stock for the Merger
Consideration pursuant to the Merger are as follows:

        (a)    Exchange Agent.    At or prior to the Effective Time, Parent shall deposit, or cause to be deposited, with an exchange agent
appointed by Parent and approved in advance by the Company (such approval not to be unreasonably withheld) (the "Exchange
Agent"), for the benefit of the holders of shares of Company Common Stock, for payment through the Exchange Agent in accordance
with this Section 4.2, cash in an amount equal to the product of the Merger Consideration and the number of shares of Company
Common Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time (exclusive of any shares to be cancelled pursuant to
Section 4.1(b)) (the "Exchange Fund"). The Exchange Agent shall invest the Exchange Fund as directed by Parent provided that such
investments shall be in obligations of or guaranteed by the United States of America, in commercial paper obligations rated A-1 or P-1
or better by Moody's Investors Service, Inc. or Standard & Poor's Corporation, respectively, or in certificates of deposit, bank
repurchase agreements or banker's acceptances of commercial banks with capital exceeding $1 billion. Any interest and other income
resulting from such investment shall become a part of the Exchange Fund, and any amounts in excess of the amounts payable under
Section 4.1(c) shall be promptly returned to Parent.

        (b)    Exchange Procedures.    Promptly (and in any event within five (5) Business Days) after the Effective Time, Parent shall
cause the Exchange Agent to mail to each holder of record of a certificate which immediately prior to the Effective Time represented
outstanding shares of Company Common Stock (each, a "Certificate") (i) a letter of transmittal in customary form and as approved by
the Company and (ii) instructions for effecting the surrender of the Certificates in exchange for the Merger Consideration payable with
respect thereto. Upon surrender of a Certificate for cancellation to the Exchange Agent, together with such letter of transmittal, duly
executed, the holder of such Certificate shall be entitled to receive in exchange therefor the Merger Consideration that such holder has
the right to receive pursuant to the provisions of this Article IV, after giving effect to any required withholding taxes, and the
Certificate so surrendered shall immediately be cancelled. No interest will be paid or accrued on the cash payable upon the surrender
of such Certificate or Certificates. In the event of a transfer of ownership of Company Common Stock which is not registered in the
transfer records of the Company, it will be a condition of payment of the Merger Consideration that the surrendered Certificate be
properly endorsed, with signatures guaranteed, or otherwise in proper form for transfer and that the Person requesting such payment
will pay any transfer or other taxes required by reason of the payment to a Person other than the registered holder of the surrendered
Certificate or such Person will establish to the satisfaction of Parent that such taxes have been paid or are not applicable. Until
surrendered as contemplated by this Section 4.2, each Certificate shall be deemed at any time after the Effective Time to represent
only the right to receive upon such surrender the Merger Consideration as contemplated by this Section 4.2. For purposes of this
Agreement, the term
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"Person" shall mean an individual, corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, association, trust, unincorporated
organization or other entity.

        (c)    No Further Ownership Rights in Company Common Stock.    All Merger Consideration paid upon the surrender for
exchange of Certificates evidencing shares of Company Common Stock in accordance with the terms hereof shall be deemed to have
been paid in satisfaction of all rights pertaining to such shares of Company Common Stock, and from and after the Effective Time
there shall be no further registration of transfers on the stock transfer books of the Surviving Corporation of the shares of Company
Common Stock which were outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time. If, after the Effective Time, Certificates are
presented to the Surviving Corporation or the Exchange Agent for any reason, they shall be cancelled and exchanged as provided in
this Article IV.

        (d)    Termination of Exchange Fund.    Any portion of the Exchange Fund which remains undistributed to the holders of
Company Common Stock one hundred eighty (180) days after the Effective Time shall be delivered to Parent, upon demand, and any
former holder of Company Common Stock who has not previously complied with this Section 4.2 shall be entitled to receive only
from Parent payment of its claim for Merger Consideration, without interest.

        (e)    No Liability.    To the extent permitted by applicable Law, none of Parent, Merger Sub, the Company, the Surviving
Corporation or the Exchange Agent shall be liable to any holder of shares of Company Common Stock delivered to a public official
pursuant to any applicable abandoned property, escheat or similar Law.

        (f)    Withholding Rights.    Each of Parent and the Surviving Corporation shall be entitled to deduct and withhold from the
consideration otherwise payable pursuant to this Agreement to any holder of shares of Company Common Stock such amounts as it is
required to deduct and withhold with respect to the making of such payment under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended
(the "Code"), or any other applicable state, local or foreign Tax Law. To the extent that amounts are so withheld by the Surviving
Corporation or Parent, as the case may be, such withheld amounts (i) shall be remitted by Parent or the Surviving Corporation, as the
case may be, to the applicable Governmental Entity, and (ii) shall be treated for all purposes of this Agreement as having been paid to
the holder of the shares of Company Common Stock in respect of which such deduction and withholding was made by the Surviving
Corporation or Parent, as the case may be.

        (g)    Lost Certificates.    If any Certificate shall have been lost, stolen or destroyed, upon the making of an affidavit of that fact by
the Person claiming such Certificate to be lost, stolen or destroyed, and, if required by Parent, the posting by such Person of a bond in
such reasonable amount as Parent may direct as indemnity against any claim that may be made against it with respect to such
Certificate, the Exchange Agent shall pay, in exchange for such lost, stolen or destroyed Certificate, the Merger Consideration to be
paid in respect of the shares of Company Common Stock formerly represented thereby pursuant to this Agreement.

        (h)   As used in this Agreement, the term "Business Day" means any day that is not a Saturday, Sunday or a day on which the
banks in either the State of New York or the Commonwealth of Massachusetts are permitted or required by Law to close.

        4.3    Company Options.     (a) At the Effective Time, by virtue of the Merger and without any action on the part of any holder of
outstanding options to purchase Company Common Stock ("Company Stock Options"), each Company Stock Option, whether vested or
unvested, and all Company Stock Plans (as hereinafter defined) themselves, insofar as they relate to outstanding Company Stock Options, shall
be assumed by Parent and each Company Stock Option shall become an option to acquire, on the same terms and conditions as were applicable
under the Company Stock Option immediately prior to the Effective Time, the number of shares of common stock, $0.10 par value per share, of
Parent ("Parent Common Stock;" such options, "Parent Stock Options") determined as follows: (i) the number
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of shares of Parent Common Stock subject to each Company Stock Option assumed by Parent shall be determined by multiplying the number of
shares of Company Common Stock that were subject to such Company Stock Option immediately prior to the Effective Time by the Conversion
Ratio (as defined below), and rounding the resulting number down to the nearest whole number of shares of Parent Common Stock; and (ii) the
per share exercise price for the Parent Common Stock issuable upon exercise of each Company Stock Option assumed by Parent shall be
determined by dividing the per share exercise price of Company Common Stock subject to such Company Stock Option, as in effect
immediately prior to the Effective Time, by the Conversion Ratio, and rounding the resulting exercise price up to the nearest whole cent. Any
restrictions on the exercise of any Company Stock Option assumed by Parent shall continue in full force and effect and the term, exercisability,
vesting schedule and other provisions of such Company Stock Option shall otherwise remain unchanged as a result of the assumption of such
Company Stock Option (other than as set forth in any agreement in effect as of the date of this Agreement). The "Conversion Ratio" shall be
equal to the fraction having a numerator equal to $17.00 and having a denominator equal to the average of the closing sale prices of a share of
Parent Common Stock as reported on The New York Stock Exchange for each of the five (5) consecutive trading days immediately preceding
the Closing Date; provided, however, that if, between the date of this Agreement and the Effective Time, the outstanding shares of Company
Common Stock or Parent Common Stock are changed into a different number or class of shares by reason of any stock split, division or
subdivision of shares, stock dividend, reverse stock split, consolidation of shares, reclassification, recapitalization or other similar transaction,
then the Conversion Ratio shall be adjusted to the extent appropriate; provided, however, that with respect to any Company Stock Option which
is an "incentive stock option", within the meaning of Section 422 of the Code, the adjustments provided in this Section shall, if applicable, be
modified in a manner so that the adjustments are consistent with the requirements of Section 424(a) of the Code.

        (b)   Prior to the Effective Time, the Company shall take any actions that are necessary to accomplish the provisions of Section 4.3(a).

        (c)   Within fifteen (15) Business Days following the Effective Time, Parent shall deliver to the participants in the Company Stock Plans an
appropriate notice setting forth such participants' rights pursuant to the Company Stock Options, as provided in this Section 4.3.

        (d)   Parent shall take all corporate action necessary to reserve for issuance a sufficient number of shares of Parent Common Stock for
delivery upon exercise of the Company Stock Options assumed in accordance with this Section. Within five (5) Business Days following the
Effective Time, Parent shall have filed a registration statement on Form S-8 (or any successor form) or another appropriate form with respect to
the shares of Parent Common Stock subject to such options and shall use its reasonable best efforts to maintain the effectiveness of such
registration statement or registration statements (and maintain the current status of the prospectus or prospectuses contained therein) for so long
as such options remain outstanding.

        4.4    Employee Stock Purchase Plans.     Prior to the Effective Time, the Company shall terminate its 2001 Non-Executive Employee Stock
Purchase Plan and 2004 Non-Executive Employee Stock Purchase Plan (collectively, the "Purchase Plans") in accordance with their respective
terms. The Company shall amend each of the Purchase Plans as appropriate to avoid the commencement of any new offering of options
thereunder at or after the date of this Agreement and prior to the earlier of the termination of this Agreement or the Effective Time.

        4.5    Actions by the Company.     Subject to Section 4.3, the Company shall take all actions reasonably necessary to ensure that from and
after the Effective Time the Surviving Corporation will not be bound by any options, rights, awards or arrangements to which the Company is a
party which would entitle any person, other than Parent or Merger Sub, to beneficially own shares of the Surviving Corporation or Parent or
receive any payments (other than as set forth in this Section) in respect of such options, rights, awards or arrangements.
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        4.6    Dissenting Shares.     Each outstanding share of Company Common Stock the holder of which has perfected his, her or its right to
dissent from the Merger under the MBCA and has not effectively withdrawn or lost such right as of the Effective Time (the "Dissenting Shares")
shall not be converted into, or represent a right to receive, the Merger Consideration hereunder, and the holder thereof shall be entitled only to
such rights as are granted by the applicable provisions of the MBCA. If any holder of Dissenting Shares shall fail to perfect or shall have
effectively withdrawn or lost the right to dissent, the Dissenting Shares held by such holder shall thereupon be treated as though such Dissenting
Shares had been converted into the right to receive the Merger Consideration to which such holder would be entitled pursuant to Section 4.1
hereof. The Company shall give Parent prompt notice upon receipt by the Company of any written demands for payment of the fair value of
shares of Company Common Stock and of withdrawals of such demands and any other instruments provided. The Company shall not make any
payment or settlement offer prior to the Effective Time with respect to any such demands unless Parent shall have given its prior written consent
to such payment or settlement offer.

        4.7    Restricted Stock.     All outstanding shares of Company Common Stock that are issued pursuant to the Company Stock Plans and that
are subject to vesting and forfeiture provisions set forth in restricted stock grant or similar agreements with the Company (such shares of
Company Common Stock being "Restricted Shares", and such restricted stock grant or similar agreements being "Stock Restriction
Agreements") shall remain subject to the terms and conditions of the applicable Stock Restriction Agreements without modification
notwithstanding the Merger, except as modified by the terms and conditions of the Management Change in Control Agreement or Amended and
Restated Management Change in Control Agreement to which the holder of Restricted Shares is a party. From and after the Effective Time, as
the vesting and forfeiture restrictions set forth in any Stock Restriction Agreement expire or lapse, the holder of the applicable Restricted Shares
shall be entitled to exchange such shares for the Merger Consideration pursuant to the Merger as set forth in Article IV hereof.

ARTICLE V

Representations and Warranties of the Company

        The Company represents and warrants to Parent and Merger Sub that the statements contained in this Article V are true and correct, except
as set forth in any Company SEC Report (as hereinafter defined) filed prior to the date hereof or in the disclosure schedule delivered by the
Company to Parent and Merger Sub prior to the execution of this Agreement (the "Company Disclosure Schedule"). The Company Disclosure
Schedule shall be arranged in sections and paragraphs corresponding to the numbered and lettered sections and paragraphs contained in this
Article V, and the disclosure in any Section or paragraph shall qualify (a) the corresponding Section or paragraph in this Article V and (b) the
other sections and paragraphs in this Article V to the extent that it is reasonably apparent from a reading of such disclosure that it also qualifies
or applies to such other sections and paragraphs.

        5.1    Organization, Good Standing and Qualification.     Each of the Company and its Subsidiaries is a corporation duly organized, validly
existing and in good standing under the Laws of its respective jurisdiction of organization and has all requisite corporate or similar power and
authority to own and operate its properties and assets and to carry on its business as presently conducted and is qualified to do business and is in
good standing as a foreign corporation in each jurisdiction where the ownership or operation of its assets or properties or conduct of its business
requires such qualification, except where the failure to be so organized, qualified or in good standing, or to have such power or authority when
taken together with all other such failures, has not had, and is not reasonably likely to have, a Company Material Adverse Effect. The Company
has made available to Parent a complete and correct copy of the Company's and its Subsidiaries' articles of organization and by-laws (or
equivalent governing instruments), each as amended to the date hereof. The Company's and its Subsidiaries' (or equivalent governing
instruments) and by-laws so delivered are in full force and effect. The Company has made available to Parent correct and complete copies of the
minutes of all meetings of the
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stockholders, the Company Board and each committee of the Board of Directors of the Company (the "Company Board") and each of its
Subsidiaries held between January 1, 2002 and March 31, 2005. Section 5.1 of the Company Disclosure Schedule contains a complete and
accurate list of (x) each of the Company's Subsidiaries and the ownership interest of the Company in each such Subsidiary, as well as the
ownership interest of any other Person or Persons in each such Subsidiary and (y) each jurisdiction where the Company and each of its
Subsidiaries is organized and qualified to do business.

        As used in this Agreement, the term (i) "Subsidiary" means, with respect to the Company, Parent or Merger Sub, as the case may be, any
entity, whether incorporated or unincorporated, of which at least a majority of the securities or ownership interests having by their terms voting
power to elect a majority of the board of directors or other persons performing similar functions is directly or indirectly owned or controlled by
such party or by one or more of its respective Subsidiaries and (ii) "Company Material Adverse Effect" means a material adverse effect on the
financial condition, properties, business or results of operations of the Company and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole; provided, however, that
none of the following, in and of itself or themselves, shall constitute a Company Material Adverse Effect:

        (a)   changes that are the result of general economic or business conditions in the United States or Europe or acts of war or
terrorism;

        (b)   changes that are the result of factors generally affecting the industries or markets in which the Company operates;

        (c)   any adverse change, effect or circumstance proximately caused by the pendency or the announcement of the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement;

        (d)   changes in applicable law, rule or regulations or generally accepted accounting principles or the interpretation thereof after
the date hereof;

        (e)   any failure by the Company to meet any estimates of revenues or earnings for any period ending on or after the date of this
Agreement and prior to the Closing; provided, that, the exception in this clause shall not prevent or otherwise affect a determination
that any change, effect, circumstance or development underlying such failure has resulted in, or contributed to, a Company Material
Adverse Effect; and

        (f)    a decline in the price of the Company Common Stock on The Nasdaq National Market; provided, that, the exception in this
clause shall not prevent or otherwise affect a determination that any change, effect, circumstance or development underlying such
decline has resulted in, or contributed to, a Company Material Adverse Effect;

provided, further, that, with respect to clauses (a), (b) and (d), such change, event, circumstance or development does not (i) primarily relate only
to (or have the effect of primarily relating only to) the Company and its Subsidiaries or (ii) disproportionately adversely affect the Company and
its Subsidiaries compared to other companies of similar size operating in the industry in which the Company and its Subsidiaries operate.

        5.2    Capital Structure.

        (a)   As of the date of this Agreement, the authorized capital stock of the Company consists of 50,000,000 shares of Company Common
Stock and 1,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $0.01 per share (the "Preferred Shares"). All of the outstanding shares of Company
Common Stock have been duly authorized and are validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable. At the close of business on April 5, 2005,
18,500,527 shares of Company Common Stock and no Preferred Shares were issued and outstanding. The Company has no shares of Company
Common Stock or Preferred Shares reserved for issuance, except that, at the close of business on April 5, 2005: (i) 9,560,777 shares of Company
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Common Stock were reserved for issuance by the Company pursuant to options to purchase shares of Company Common Stock (a "Company
Stock Option") granted under the following plans:

Plan
Shares
Reserved

2000 Non-Executive Employee Equity Incentive Plan 2,000,000
1997 Stock Plan 3,250,000
1997 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan 330,000
1995 Stock Option Plan 2,695,236
2001 Non-Executive Employee Stock Purchase Plan 500,000
2004 Non-Executive Employee Stock Purchase Plan 500,000
FS 97 Stock Plan 280,990
FS 96 Stock Plan 4,551

(collectively, the "Company Stock Plans"), (ii) 1,815,807 shares of Company Common Stock were reserved for issuance pursuant to Company
Stock Options not yet granted under the Company Stock Plans, (iii) 3,209,776 shares of Company Common Stock were subject to issuance
pursuant to the Company's 3.0% Convertible Senior Notes due 2023 (the "Convertible Senior Notes") and (iv) no shares of Company Common
Stock were held by the Company in its treasury. Section 5.2(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth a complete and accurate list, as of
the date specified therein, of: (i) all Company Stock Plans, indicating for each Company Stock Plan, as of such date, the number of shares of
Company Common Stock issued under such Company Stock Plan, the number of shares of Company Common Stock subject to outstanding
options under such Company Stock Plan and the number of shares of Company Common Stock reserved for future issuance under such
Company Stock Plan; and (ii) all outstanding Company Stock Options, indicating with respect to each such Company Stock Option the name of
the holder thereof, the Company Stock Plan under which it was granted, the number of shares of Company Common Stock subject to such
Company Stock Option, the exercise price, the date of grant, and the vesting schedule, including whether (and to what extent) the vesting will be
accelerated in any way by the execution of this Agreement, the adoption of the Company Voting Proposal, by the consummation of the Merger
or by termination of employment or change in position following consummation of the Merger. The Company has made available to Parent
complete and accurate copies of all Company Stock Plans and the forms of all stock option agreements evidencing Company Stock Options. The
Company is listed on the Nasdaq National Market. Except for the issuance of shares of Company Common Stock pursuant to Company Stock
Options outstanding on April 5, 2005, from and after the close of business on April 5, 2005 through and including the date of this Agreement,
the Company has not (i) issued any shares of Company Common Stock, Company Stock Options, other stock awards or other capital stock or
equity securities of the Company or (ii) changed the authorized share capital of the Company. Each of the outstanding shares of capital stock or
other securities of each of the Company's Subsidiaries is duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable and owned by the
Company or by a Subsidiary of the Company, free and clear of any Liens. Except as set forth above in this Section 5.2 or as contemplated by the
indenture dated as of December 8, 2003 by and between the Company and Wilmington Trust Company, as Trustee, there are no preemptive or
other outstanding rights, options, warrants, conversion rights, phantom stock units or stock appreciation rights or similar rights, redemption
rights, repurchase rights, agreements, arrangements, calls, commitments or rights of any kind that obligate the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries to issue or sell any shares of capital stock or other securities of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any securities or
obligations convertible or exchangeable into or exercisable for, or giving any Person a right to subscribe for or acquire, any securities of the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries, and no securities or obligations evidencing such rights are authorized, issued or outstanding. The Company
does not have outstanding any bonds, debentures, notes or other obligations (i) the terms of which provide the holders the right to vote with the
stockholders of the Company on any matter or (ii) that are convertible into or exercisable for securities having the right to vote with the
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stockholders of the Company on any matter (any such bonds, debentures, notes or obligations, "Voting Debt"), except, solely in the case of
clause (ii), for the Convertible Senior Notes.

        (b)   Section 5.2(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth a complete and accurate list of the Company's or its Subsidiaries' capital
stock, equity interest or other direct or indirect ownership interest in any Person other than a Subsidiary of the Company. The Company does not
own, directly or indirectly, any voting interest in any Person that requires an additional filing by Parent under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust
Improvement Act of 1976, as amended (the "HSR Act").

        (c)   Other than the registration rights agreement entered into in connection with the Convertible Senior Notes, there are no registration
rights, and, as of the date of this Agreement, there is no rights agreement, "poison pill" anti-takeover plan or other similar plan, device or
arrangement to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party or by which it or they are bound with respect to any equity security of
any class of the Company. Neither the Company nor any of its Affiliates is a party to or is bound by any agreements or understandings with
respect to the voting (including voting trusts and proxies) or sale or transfer (including agreements imposing transfer restrictions) of any shares
of capital stock or other equity interests of the Company. There are no obligations, contingent or otherwise, of the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries to repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any shares of Company Common Stock or the capital stock of the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries.

        5.3    Corporate Authority; Approval and Fairness.     (a) The Company has all requisite corporate power and authority and has taken all
corporate action necessary in order to execute, deliver and perform its obligations under this Agreement, subject only to approval of this
Agreement by the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of Company Common Stock (the "Company Voting Proposal"), and to
consummate the Merger. This Agreement is a valid and binding agreement of the Company enforceable against the Company in accordance with
its terms.

        (a)   The Company Board acting unanimously, has (i) determined that this Agreement and the Merger are fair to, and in the best interests of,
the Company and the holders of Company Common Stock, (ii) approved and adopted this Agreement and declared its advisability in accordance
with the provisions of the MBCA and (iii) resolved to recommend this Agreement and the Merger to the holders of Company Common Stock for
approval in accordance with Section 7.5 of this Agreement and (iv) directed that this Agreement and the Merger be submitted to the holders of
Company Common Stock for consideration in accordance with this Agreement. The Company Board has received the opinion of its financial
advisor, Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc., to the effect that (subject to the assumptions and qualifications set forth in such opinion) the consideration to
be received by the holders of the shares of Company Common Stock in the Merger is fair, as of the date of such opinion, to such holders, a copy
of which opinion has been delivered to Parent.

        5.4    Governmental Filings; No Violations; Certain Contracts, Etc.     (a) Other than (A) the filings, approvals and/or notices pursuant to
Section 1.3, (B) filings, approvals and/or notices under the HSR Act (or similar foreign filings), the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the
rules and regulations promulgated thereunder and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act") and the rules and
regulations promulgated thereunder, (C) filings, approvals and/or notices required to be made with or obtained from The Nasdaq National
Market, (D) such consents, approvals, orders, authorizations, registrations, declarations and filings as may be required under applicable U.S.
state securities Laws and (E) the notifications, consents and approvals set forth in Section 5.4(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule (all of
such filings, approvals, notices, consents, orders, authorizations, registrations, declarations and notifications described in clauses (A) through
(E) above, collectively, the "Company Approvals"), no notices, reports or other filings are required to be made by the Company with, nor are any
consents, registrations, approvals, permits or authorizations required to be obtained by the Company from, any foreign or domestic governmental
or regulatory authority (including self-regulatory authorities), agency, commission, body or other governmental entity ("Governmental
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Entity"), in connection with the execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Company and the consummation by the Company of the
Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby, except those that the failure to make or obtain are not, individually or in the aggregate,
reasonably likely to have a Company Material Adverse Effect or prevent, materially delay or materially impair the ability of the Company to
consummate transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

        (b)   The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by the Company do not, and the consummation by the Company of the
Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby will not, constitute or result in (A) a breach or violation of, or a default under, the articles
of organization or by-laws of the Company or the equivalent governing instruments of any of its Subsidiaries, (B) a breach or violation of, a
termination (or right of termination) or a default under, or the acceleration of any obligations or the creation of a Lien on the assets of the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries (with or without notice, lapse of time or both) pursuant to, any agreement, lease, license, contract, note,
mortgage, indenture, arrangement or other obligation ("Contracts") binding upon the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any Laws or
governmental or non-governmental permit or license to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is subject or (C) any change in the rights
or obligations of any party under any of the Contracts, except, in the case of clause (B) or (C) above, for any breach, violation, termination,
default, acceleration or creation that, individually or in the aggregate, is not reasonably likely to have a Company Material Adverse Effect or
prevent, materially delay or materially impair the ability of the Company to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
Section 5.4(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth a complete and accurate list of all consents or waivers required to be obtained
under the agreements referred to in Section 5.5(a)(i) or agreements for Third Party Embedded Software (other than software subject to open
source or similar type license agreements).

        (c)   Section 5.4(c) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth a complete and accurate list of all material claims held by the Company
or any of its Subsidiaries, as creditors or claimants, with respect to debtors or debtors-in-possession subject to proceedings under Chapter 11 of
Title 11 of the United States Code, together with a complete and accurate list of all orders entered by the applicable United States Bankruptcy
Court with respect to each such proceeding. None of such orders, individually or in the aggregate, is reasonably likely to have a Company
Material Adverse Effect or prevent, materially delay or materially impair the ability of the Company to consummate the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement.

        5.5    Contracts.

        (a)   For purposes of this Agreement, "Company Material Contract" shall mean:

          (i)  any "material contract" (as such term is defined in Item 601(b)(10) of Regulation S-K of the SEC) with respect to the
Company and its Subsidiaries;

         (ii)  any employment, service or consulting Contract or arrangement with any current or former executive officer or other
employee of the Company or member of the Company Board, other than those that are terminable by the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries on no more than thirty (30) days' notice without liability or financial obligation to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries;

        (iii)  (A) any Contract containing any covenant granting any exclusivity rights or limiting in any respect the right of the Company
or any of its Affiliates to engage in any line of business, compete with any Person in any line of business or to compete with any party
or the manner or locations in which any of them may engage, (B) any Major Customer Contract (as defined) granting "most favored
nation" status that, following the Merger, would in any way apply to Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, including the Company and its
Subsidiaries, or (C) any Contract otherwise prohibiting or limiting the right of the Company or any of its Affiliates to make, sell or
distribute any products
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or services or use, transfer, license, distribute or enforce any Intellectual Property rights of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries;

        (iv)  any Contract relating to the disposition or acquisition by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries after the date of this
Agreement of a material amount of assets not in the ordinary course of business or pursuant to which the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries has any material ownership interest in any other Person or other business enterprise other than the Company's
Subsidiaries (including, without limitation, joint venture, partnership or other similar agreements);

         (v)  any Contract which provides access to source code to any third party for all or any portion of any Company Product or
Owned Intellectual Property in any circumstance other than an event of bankruptcy, liquidation, assignment for the benefit of creditors
or similar event;

        (vi)  any Contract to license or otherwise authorize any third party to manufacture, reproduce, develop or modify any portion of
the Company's products, services or technology or any Contract to sell or distribute any of the Company's products, services or
technology, except (A) agreements with distributors, sales representatives or other resellers in the ordinary course of business, or
(B) agreements allowing internal backup copies to be made by end-user customers in the ordinary course of business;

       (vii)  any mortgages, indentures, guarantees, loans or credit agreements, security agreements or other Contracts relating to the
borrowing of money or extension of credit, other than accounts receivables and payables in the ordinary course of business;

      (viii)  any settlement agreement entered into within three (3) years prior to the date of this Agreement, other than (A) releases
immaterial in nature or amount entered into with former employees or independent contractors of the Company in the ordinary course
of business in connection with the routine cessation of such employee's or independent contractor's employment with the Company, or
(B) settlement agreements for cash only (which has been paid) that do not exceed $150,000 as to such settlement;

        (ix)  any Contract not described in clause (iii) above under which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has licensed or
otherwise made available any Owned Intellectual Property or Third Party License to a third party, other than to customers, distributors
and other resellers in the ordinary course of business;

         (x)  any Contract under which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has received a Third Party License, but excluding
generally commercially available, off-the-shelf software programs with a purchase price of less than $10,000;

        (xi)  any Contract between the Company or any of its Subsidiaries and any current customer of the Company and its Subsidiaries
with respect to which the Company and its Subsidiaries recognized cumulative revenue during the twelve-month period ended
December 31, 2004 in excess of $414,500 (each such customer, a "Major Customer," and each Contract referenced in this
Section 5.5(a)(xi), a "Major Customer Contract");

       (xii)  any Contract which has aggregate future sums due from the Company or any of its Subsidiaries in excess of $250,000 and is
not terminable by the Company or any such Subsidiary (without penalty or payment) on ninety (90) (or fewer) days' notice; or

      (xiii)  any other Contract (A) with any Affiliate of the Company (other than its Subsidiaries), (B) with investment bankers,
financial advisors, attorneys, accountants or other advisors retained by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries involving payments by
or to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries of more than $250,000 on an annual basis, (C) providing for indemnification by the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries of any Person, except for any such Contract that is (x) not material to the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries and (y) entered into in the ordinary course of
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business, (D) containing a standstill or similar agreement pursuant to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries have agreed not to
acquire assets or securities of another Person, or (E) relating to currency hedging or similar transactions.

        (b)   Section 5.5(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth a list (arranged in clauses corresponding to the clauses set forth in
Section 5.5(a)) of all Company Material Contracts to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party or bound by as of the date hereof.
A complete and accurate copy of each Company Material Contract has been made available to Parent (including all amendments, modifications,
extensions, renewals, guarantees or other Contracts with respect thereto, but excluding all names, terms and conditions that have been redacted
in compliance with applicable Laws governing the sharing of information).

        (c)   All Company Material Contracts are valid and binding and in full force and effect, except to the extent they have previously expired in
accordance with their terms or for such failures to be valid and binding or in full force and effect that, individually or in the aggregate, are not
reasonably likely to have a Company Material Adverse Effect. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has violated, and, to the
knowledge of the Company, no other party to any of the Company Material Contracts has violated, any provision of, or committed or failed to
perform any act which, with or without notice, lapse of time or both, would constitute a default under the provisions of any Company Material
Contract, except in each case for those violations and defaults which, individually or in the aggregate, are not reasonably likely to have a
Company Material Adverse Effect.

        (d)   During the last twelve (12) months, to the Knowledge of the Company, none of the Major Customers has terminated or failed to renew
any of its Major Customer Contracts and neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has received any written notice of termination from
any of the Major Customers. The cumulative revenue recognized by the Company and its Subsidiaries from the Major Customer Contracts
during the twelve-month period ended December 31, 2004 represented more than 50% of the Company's total revenue for such period.

        (e)   The Company has made available to Buyer a copy of each of the standard form Contracts currently in use by the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries (including, without limitation, end user, partnership, maintenance and reseller standard form Contracts) in connection with their
respective businesses (each, a "Company Standard Form Contract").

        (f)    Section 5.5(f) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth a complete and accurate list of all active vendors, resellers and
distributors or similar Persons through which the products of the Company and its Subsidiaries are marketed, sold or otherwise distributed
(determined on the basis of product revenues received by the Company and its Subsidiaries during the twelve months preceding the date of this
Agreement). Each reseller and distributor agreement of the Company and its Subsidiaries is terminable by the Company or its Subsidiary
(without penalty or cost) upon 90 days' or less notice.

        5.6    SEC Filings; Financial Statements; Information Provided.

        (a)   The Company has filed all registration statements, forms, reports and other documents required to be filed by the Company with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") since January 1, 2002. All such registration statements, forms, reports and other documents
(including those that the Company may file after the date hereof until the Closing) are referred to herein as the "Company SEC Reports." The
Company SEC Reports (i) were or will be filed on a timely basis, (ii) at the time filed, complied, or will comply when filed, as to form in all
material respects with the applicable requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the Exchange Act, as the case may be, and the
rules and regulations of the SEC thereunder applicable to such Company SEC Reports, and (iii) did not or will not at the time they were or are
filed contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated in such Company SEC Reports or
necessary in order to make the statements in such Company SEC Reports, in the light of the
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circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. No Subsidiary of the Company is subject to the reporting requirements of
Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act. There are no off-balance sheet structures or transactions with respect to the Company or any
of its Subsidiaries that would be required to be reported or set forth in the Company SEC Reports.

        (b)   Each of the consolidated financial statements (including, in each case, any related notes and schedules) contained or to be contained in
or incorporated by reference in the Company SEC Reports at the time filed (or to be filed) (i) complied (or will comply) as to form in all
material respects with applicable accounting requirements and the published rules and regulations of the SEC with respect thereto and (ii) were
(or will be) prepared in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP") applied on a consistent basis
throughout the periods involved (except as may be indicated in the notes to such financial statements or, in the case of unaudited interim
financial statements, as permitted by the SEC with respect to Form 10-Q under the Exchange Act). Each of the consolidated balance sheets
(including, in each case, any related notes and schedules) contained or to be contained or incorporated by reference in the Company SEC
Reports at the time filed fairly presented (or will fairly present) the consolidated financial position of the Company and its Subsidiaries as of the
dates indicated and each of the consolidated statements of income and of changes in financial position contained or to be contained or
incorporated by reference in the Company SEC Reports (including, in each case, any related notes and schedules) fairly presented (or will fairly
present) the consolidated results of operations, retained earnings and changes in financial position, as the case may be, of the Company and its
Subsidiaries for the periods set forth therein, except that the unaudited interim financial statements were or are subject to normal and recurring
year-end adjustments.

        (c)   The information to be supplied by or on behalf of the Company for inclusion in the proxy statement to be sent to the stockholders of
the Company (the "Proxy Statement") in connection with the Company Meeting shall not, on the date the Proxy Statement is first mailed to
stockholders of the Company or at the time of the Company Meeting, contain any statement which, at such time and in light of the circumstances
under which it shall be made, is false or misleading with respect to any material fact, or omit to state any material fact necessary in order to
make the statements made in the Proxy Statement not false or misleading in light of the circumstances under which they were or shall be made;
or omit to state any material fact necessary to correct any statement in any earlier communication with respect to the solicitation of proxies for
the Company Meeting which has become false or misleading. If at any time prior to the Company Meeting any fact or event relating to the
Company or any of its Affiliates which should be set forth in a supplement to the Proxy Statement should be discovered by the Company or
should occur, the Company shall, promptly after becoming aware thereof, inform Parent of such fact or event. As used in this Agreement with
respect to any party, the term "Affiliate" means any Person who is an "affiliate" of that party within the meaning of Rule 405 promulgated under
the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

        (d)   The Company maintains disclosure controls and procedures required by Rule 13a-15 or 15d-15 under the Exchange Act. Such
disclosure controls and procedures are effective to ensure that all material information concerning the Company and its Subsidiaries is made
known on a timely basis to the individuals responsible for the preparation of the Company's filings with the SEC and other public disclosure
documents. The Company has disclosed, based on its most recent evaluation prior to the date hereof, to the Company's auditors and the audit
committee of the Company Board (A) any significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect in
any material respect the Company's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data and has identified for the Company's auditors
any material weaknesses in internal controls and (B) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have
a significant role in the Company's internal controls. The Company has made available to Parent a summary of any such disclosure made by
management to the Company's auditors and audit committee since January 1,
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2003. Since January 1, 2003, no former or current employee of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has alleged to any of the senior officers of
the Company or such Subsidiaries that the Company or any such Subsidiaries has engaged in questionable accounting or auditing practices. No
attorney representing the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, whether or not employed by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, has reported
evidence of a violation of securities Laws, breach of fiduciary duty or similar violation by the Company or any of its officers, directors,
employees or agents to the Company Board or any committee thereof or to any director or officer of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

        (e)   The Company is in compliance with the applicable listing and other rules and regulations of The Nasdaq National Market and has not
since January 1, 2002 received any notice from The Nasdaq National Market asserting any non-compliance with such rules and regulations.

        (f)    The Company is in compliance in all material respects with the applicable provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

        5.7    Absence of Certain Changes.     Since December 31, 2004, the Company and its Subsidiaries have conducted their respective
businesses only in, and have not engaged in any material transaction other than according to, the ordinary and usual course of such businesses
and, since such date, there has not been (i) any change in the financial condition, properties, business or results of operations of the Company
and its Subsidiaries or any development, circumstance or occurrence or combination thereof which, individually or in the aggregate, has had or
is reasonably likely to have a Company Material Adverse Effect (including any adverse change with respect to any development, circumstance
or occurrence existing on or prior to such date); (ii) any material damage, destruction or other casualty loss with respect to any material asset or
property owned, leased or otherwise used by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, whether or not covered by insurance or (iii) any other
action or event that would have required the consent of Parent under Section 7.1 of this Agreement had such action or event occurred after the
date of this Agreement.

        5.8    Litigation and Liabilities.     There are no (i) civil, criminal or administrative actions, suits, claims, hearings, investigations or
proceedings pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened against the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, (ii) judgments, orders or
decrees outstanding against the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or (iii) obligations or liabilities, whether or not accrued, contingent or
otherwise and whether or not required to be disclosed, including those relating to matters involving any Environmental Law, or any other facts
or circumstances of which to the Knowledge of the Company could result in any claims against, or obligations or liabilities of, the Company or
any of its Affiliates, except for those that are not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably likely to have a Company Material Adverse Effect
or prevent, materially delay or materially impair the ability of the Company to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

        5.9    Employee Benefits.     (a) All benefit and compensation plans, policies or arrangements, other than commission arrangements,
currently maintained by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (or in respect of which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has any
outstanding liability) and covering current or former employees, independent contractors, consultants (including, without limitation,
outsourcing), temporary employees and current or former directors of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, which are "employee benefit
plans" within the meaning of Section 3(3) of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended ("ERISA"), and any other
written plan, policy or arrangement (whether or not subject to ERISA) involving direct or indirect compensation, other than commission
arrangements, currently maintained by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (or in respect of which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has
any outstanding liability) and covering current or former employees, independent contractors, consultants (including, without limitation,
outsourcing), temporary employees and current or former directors of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, including insurance coverage,
vacation, loans, fringe benefits, severance benefits, disability benefits, deferred compensation, bonuses, stock options, stock purchase, phantom
stock, stock
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appreciation, stock based or other forms of incentive compensation, bonus or post-retirement compensation or benefits (the "Company Benefit
Plans"), other than Company Benefit Plans maintained outside of the United States primarily for the benefit of employees working outside of the
United States (such plans hereinafter being referred to as "Company Non-U.S. Benefit Plans"), are listed on Section 5.10(a)-1 of the Company
Disclosure Schedule. Complete and accurate copies of all Company Benefit Plans listed on Section 5.10(a)-1 of the Company Disclosure
Schedule and, any trust instruments, insurance contracts and, with respect to any employee stock ownership plan, loan agreements, forming a
part of any Company Benefit Plans, and all amendments thereto have been provided or made available to Parent. Section 5.10(a)-2 of the
Company Disclosure Schedule identifies each employee or other service provider covered by any change in control or retention agreement of the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries and complete and accurate copies of the forms of each such agreement have been provided to Parent.
Section 5.10(a)-3 of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth a complete and accurate list of all amounts payable or that could become
payable under the Apprisma Management Technologies, Inc. 2003 Equity Participation and Retention Plan, together with the name of the
recipients of such payments, the earliest date payment is due or may become due and the amount of each such payment.

        (b)   All Company Benefit Plans, other than "multiemployer plans" within the meaning of Section 3(37) of ERISA (each, a "Multiemployer
Plan") and Company Non-U.S. Benefit Plans (collectively, "Company U.S. Benefit Plans"), are in substantial compliance with ERISA, the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended and other applicable Laws. Each Company U.S. Benefit Plan which is subject to ERISA (the
"Company ERISA Plans") that is an "employee pension benefit plan" within the meaning of Section 3(2) of ERISA (a "Company Pension Plan")
and that is intended to be qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code, has received a favorable determination letter from the Internal Revenue
Service (the "IRS") or has applied to the IRS for such favorable determination letter within the applicable remedial amendment period under
Section 401(b) of the Code, and the Company is not aware of any circumstances likely to result in the loss of the qualification of such Plan under
Section 401(a) of the Code. Any voluntary employees' beneficiary association within the meaning of Section 501(c)(9) of the Code which
provides benefits under a Company U.S. Benefit Plan has (i) received an opinion letter from the IRS recognizing its exempt status under
Section 501(c)(9) of the Code and (ii) filed a timely notice with the IRS pursuant to Section 505(c) of the Code, and the Company is not aware
of circumstances likely to result in the loss of such exempt status under Section 501(c)(9) of the Code. Neither the Company nor any of its
Subsidiaries has engaged in a transaction with respect to any Company ERISA Plan that, assuming the taxable period of such transaction expired
as of the date hereof, could subject the Company or any Subsidiary to a tax or penalty imposed by either Section 4975 of the Code or
Section 502(i) of ERISA in an amount which would be material. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has incurred or reasonably
expects to incur a material tax or penalty imposed by Section 4980F of the Code or Section 502 of ERISA or any material liability under
Section 4071 of ERISA.

        (c)   None of the Company Pension Plans is (i) subject to Section 302 of ERISA, Section 412 of the Code, or Title IV of ERISA, or (ii) a
Multiemployer Plan, nor does the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries have any liability, contingent or otherwise, in respect of any employee
pension benefit plan described in clauses (i) or (ii) of this Section 5.9(c).

        (d)   All contributions required to be made under each Company Benefit Plan, as of the date hereof, have been timely made and all
obligations in respect of each Company Benefit Plan have been properly accrued and reflected in the most recent consolidated balance sheet
filed or incorporated by reference in the Company SEC Reports prior to the date hereof.

        (e)   As of the date hereof, there is no material pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened, litigation relating to the Company
Benefit Plans. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has any obligations for retiree health and life benefits under any Company
ERISA Plan or
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collective bargaining agreement. By its terms, the Company or its Subsidiaries may amend or terminate any such Company ERISA Plan at any
time without incurring any liability thereunder other than in respect of claims incurred prior to such amendment or termination.

        (f)    There has been no amendment to, announcement by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries relating to, or change in employee
participation or coverage under, any Company Benefit Plan which would increase materially the expense of maintaining such plan above the
level of the expense incurred therefor for the most recent fiscal year. Section 5.9(f) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth a complete
and accurate list of all contracts, plans or arrangements obligating the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to pay severance to any current or
former directors, employees, independent contractors or consultants (including without limitation outsourcing) of the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries, except for obligations pursuant to, required by or arising under applicable Law. Except pursuant to retention or other agreements
set forth on Schedule 5.10(a)-2, neither the execution of this Agreement, stockholder approval of this Agreement nor the consummation of the
transactions contemplated hereby will (w) entitle any employees of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to severance pay or any increase in
severance pay upon any termination of employment after the date hereof, (x) accelerate the time of payment or vesting or result in any payment
or funding (through a grantor trust or otherwise) of compensation or benefits under, increase the amount payable or result in any other material
obligation pursuant to, any of the Company Benefit Plans, (y) limit or restrict the right of the Company or, after the consummation of the
transactions contemplated hereby, Parent to merge, amend or terminate any of the Company Benefit Plans or (z) result in payments under any of
the Company Benefit Plans which would not be deductible under Section 162(m) or Section 280G of the Code.

        (g)   All Company Non-U.S. Benefit Plans are in substantial compliance with applicable local Law. All Company Non-U.S. Benefit Plans
are listed on Section 5.10(h) of the Company Disclosure Schedule. The Company and its subsidiaries have no material unfunded liabilities with
respect to any such Company Non-U.S. Benefit Plan. As of the date hereof, there is no pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company,
threatened litigation relating to Company Non-U.S. Benefit Plans that has resulted in, or is reasonably likely to result in, a material expense in
respect of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

        5.10    Compliance with Laws; Permits.     The businesses of each of the Company and its Subsidiaries have been, and are being, conducted
in compliance with all applicable federal, state, local or foreign laws, statutes, ordinances, rules, regulations, judgments, orders, injunctions,
decrees, arbitration awards, agency requirements, licenses and permits of all Governmental Entities (collectively, "Laws"), except for violations
or possible violations that, individually or in the aggregate, (i) have not had, and are not reasonably likely to have, a Company Material Adverse
Effect or prevent, materially delay or materially impair the ability of the Company to consummate the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement and (ii) have not resulted, and are not reasonably likely to result in, the imposition of a criminal fine, penalty or sanction against the
Company, any of its Subsidiaries or any of their respective directors or officers. No investigation or review by any Governmental Entity with
respect to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened, nor has any Governmental Entity
indicated an intention to conduct any such investigation or review. The Company and its Subsidiaries each have all governmental permits,
licenses, franchises, variances, exemptions, orders and other governmental authorizations, consents and approvals necessary to conduct its
business as presently conducted (each, a "Company Permit") except those the absence of which, individually or in the aggregate, have not had,
and are not reasonably likely to have a Company Material Adverse Effect or prevent or materially burden or materially impair the ability of the
Company to consummate the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement. No Company Permit will cease to be effective
as a result of the execution of this Agreement or the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

A-16

Edgar Filing: CONCORD COMMUNICATIONS INC - Form PREM14A

99



        5.11    Environmental Matters.     Except for such matters that, alone or in the aggregate, are not reasonably likely to have a Company
Material Adverse Effect: (i) the Company and its Subsidiaries have complied at all times with all applicable Environmental Laws; (ii) no
property currently owned or operated by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (including soils, groundwater, surface water, buildings or other
structures) is contaminated with any Hazardous Substance; (iii) no property formerly owned or operated by the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries was contaminated with any Hazardous Substance during or prior to such period of ownership or operation; (iv) neither the
Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is subject to liability for any Hazardous Substance disposal or contamination on any third party property;
(v) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has caused or could be held liable for any release or threat of release of any Hazardous
Substance; (vi) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has received any notice, demand, letter, claim or request for information alleging
that the Company or any of its Subsidiaries may be in violation of or subject to liability under any Environmental Law; (vii) neither the
Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is subject to any order, decree, injunction or other arrangement with any Governmental Entity or any
indemnity or other agreement with any third party relating to liability under any Environmental Law or relating to Hazardous Substances;
(viii) there are no other circumstances or conditions involving the Company or any of its Subsidiaries that are reasonably likely to result in any
claim, liability, investigation, cost or restriction on the ownership, use, or transfer of any property pursuant to any Environmental Law; and
(ix) the Company has delivered to Parent copies of all environmental reports, studies, assessments, sampling data and other environmental
information in its possession relating to Company or its Subsidiaries or their respective current and former properties or operations.

        As used herein, the term "Environmental Law" means any federal, state, local or foreign statute, Law, regulation, order, decree, permit,
authorization, opinion, common law or agency requirement relating to: (A) the protection, investigation or restoration of the environment,
health, safety, or natural resources, (B) the handling, use, presence, disposal, release or threatened release of any Hazardous Substance or
(C) noise, odor, indoor air, employee exposure, wetlands, pollution, contamination or any injury or threat of injury to persons or property
relating to any Hazardous Substance.

        As used herein, the term "Hazardous Substance" means any substance that is: (A) listed, classified or regulated pursuant to any
Environmental Law; (B) any petroleum product or by-product, asbestos-containing material, lead-containing paint or plumbing, polychlorinated
biphenyls, radioactive material or radon; and (C) any other substance which may be the subject of regulatory action by any Government Entity
in connection with any Environmental Law.

        5.12    Taxes.     The Company and each of its Subsidiaries (i) have prepared in good faith and duly and timely filed (taking into account
any extension of time within which to file) all material Tax Returns required to be filed by any of them and all such filed Tax Returns are
complete and accurate in all material respects; (ii) have paid or accrued for all Taxes that are required to be paid as shown in such Tax Returns
or that the Company or any of its Subsidiaries are obligated to withhold from amounts owing to any employee, creditor or third party, except
with respect to matters contested in good faith; and (iii) have not waived any statute of limitations with respect to Taxes or agreed to any
extension of time with respect to a Tax assessment or deficiency. As of the date hereof, there are not pending or, to the Knowledge of the
Company, threatened in writing, any audits, examinations, investigations or other proceedings in respect of Taxes or Tax matters. The Company
has made available to Parent correct and complete copies of the United States Federal income Tax Returns filed by the Company and its
Subsidiaries for each of the fiscal years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has any
liability with respect to income, franchise or similar Taxes in excess of the amounts accrued with respect thereto that are reflected in the
financial statements included in the Company SEC Reports filed on or prior to the date hereof. None of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries
has any liability for Taxes of any Person other than members of the tax consolidated group of which the Company is the common parent. None
of the
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Company or any of its Subsidiaries was the distributing corporation or the controlled corporation in a distribution intended to qualify under
Section 355(a) of the Code. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has engaged in any transaction that is the same as, or substantially
similar to, a transaction which is a "reportable transaction" for purposes of § 1.6011-4(b) (including without limitation any transaction which the
IRS has determined to be a "listed transaction" for purposes of § 1.6011-4(b)(2)). None of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has engaged in
a transaction of which it made disclosure to any taxing authority to avoid penalties. None of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has
participated in a "tax amnesty" or similar program offered by any tax authority to avoid the assessment of penalties or other additions to Tax.

        As used in this Agreement, (i) the term "Tax" (including, with correlative meaning, the terms "Taxes", and "Taxable") includes all federal,
state, local and foreign income, profits, franchise, gross receipts, environmental, customs duty, capital stock, severances, stamp, payroll, sales,
employment, unemployment, disability, use, property, withholding, excise, production, value added, occupancy and other taxes, duties or
assessments of any nature whatsoever, together with all interest, penalties and additions imposed with respect to such amounts and any interest
in respect of such penalties and additions, and (ii) the term "Tax Return" includes all returns and reports (including elections, declarations,
disclosures, schedules, estimates and information returns) required to be supplied to a Tax authority relating to Taxes.

        5.13    Labor Matters.     Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is a party to or otherwise bound by any collective bargaining
agreement, contract or other agreement or understanding with a labor union or labor organization, nor is the Company or any of its Subsidiaries
the subject of any material proceeding asserting that the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has committed an unfair labor practice or is seeking
to compel it to bargain with any labor union or labor organization, nor is there pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened, nor
has there been for the past five years, any labor strike, dispute, walk-out, work stoppage, slow-down or lockout involving the Company or any of
its Subsidiaries. The Company has previously made available to Parent complete and accurate copies of all labor and collective bargaining
agreements, Contracts or other agreements or understandings with a labor union or labor organization to which the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries is party or by which any of them are otherwise bound (collectively, the "Company Labor Agreements"). Section 5.13 of the
Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth a complete and accurate list of all workers' councils to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries
are subject and the jurisdictions of each such workers' council. The consummation of the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this
Agreement will not entitle any third party (including any labor union or labor organization) to any payments under any of the Company Labor
Agreements or require the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to consult with any workers' council (or similar body).

        5.14    Insurance.     The Company and its Subsidiaries maintain insurance coverage reasonably adequate for the operation of the business
of the Company and its Subsidiaries (taking into account the cost and availability of such insurance). Since January 1, 2002, no insurer of the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries has (a) cancelled or invalidated any insurance policy of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or (b) refused
any coverage or rejected any material claim under any such insurance policy. Each such insurance policy is in full force and effect and all
premiums due with respect to all such insurance policies have been paid.

        5.15    Intellectual Property.

        (a)   Section 5.15(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth, for the Owned Intellectual Property, a correct and complete list of all
Patents, Trademarks, domain name registrations, and Copyrights indicating for each, the applicable jurisdiction, registration number (or
application number) and date issued (or date filed).
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        (b)   All Trademarks, Patents and Copyrights listed in Section 5.15(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule are currently in compliance in
all material respects with all legal requirements (including the timely post-registration filing of affidavits of use and incontestability and renewal
applications with respect to Trademarks, and the payment of filing, examination and annuity and maintenance fees and proof of working or use
with respect to Patents), are valid and enforceable and are not subject to any maintenance fees or actions falling due within ninety (90) days after
the Closing Date. No Trademark is currently involved in any opposition or cancellation proceeding and no such action has been threatened with
respect to any of the Trademarks or trademark registration applications. No Patent is currently involved in any interference, reissue,
re-examination or opposition proceeding and no such action has been threatened with respect to any Patent. There are no potentially conflicting
Trademarks or potentially interfering Patents of any Person as defined under 35 U.S.C. 135 of the United States Patent Code.

        (c)   Section 5.15(c)(i) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth a complete and accurate list of any and all Contracts or other
arrangements (excluding license agreements for off-the-shelf software applications programs having an acquisition price of less than $5,000 per
unit) pursuant to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has been granted or otherwise receives any right to use or distribute any Software
(including the Third Party Embedded Software, as defined below), indicating for each such Contract and arrangement the title, the parties, date
executed, whether or not it is exclusive and the type or nature of the Software provided thereunder (e.g. products, tools, utilities, modules,
libraries, etc.) (the "Third Party Software Licenses"). Section 5.15(c)(ii) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth a complete and accurate
list of all third party Software that is contained or embedded in, or otherwise used in connection with, any Company Products ("Third Party
Embedded Software").

        (d)   Except for the Third Party Software Licenses, Section 5.15(d) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth a complete and accurate
list of any and all Contracts or other arrangements pursuant to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has been granted or otherwise
receives any right to use, exercise or practice any right under any Intellectual Property, indicating for each such Contract and arrangement the
title, the parties, date executed, whether or not it is exclusive and the Intellectual Property covered thereby (the "Third Party IP Licenses" and,
together with the Third Party Software Licenses, the "Third Party Licenses").

        (e)   Section 5.15(e) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth a complete and accurate list of all Third Party Licenses pursuant to
which any royalty, honorarium or other fee is payable by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries for the use of or right to use any Intellectual
Property, and in each case indicating the payment terms thereunder. No such royalties, honoraria or other fees are due and owing by the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

        (f)    The Owned Intellectual Property and the Intellectual Property covered by the Third Party Licenses constitute all of the Intellectual
Property used in or necessary for the Company's business as currently conducted. The Company and its Subsidiaries exclusively own, free and
clear of all Encumbrances, all Owned Intellectual Property, and have valid, enforceable and transferable rights to use all of the Intellectual
Property covered by the Third Party Licenses. The Company and its Subsidiaries have taken all necessary steps to protect the Owned Intellectual
Property, including all necessary steps to protect the Owned Intellectual Property from infringement. No Person has challenged the ownership,
use, validity or enforceability of any of the Owned Intellectual Property.

        (g)   To the Knowledge of the Company, the conduct of the Company's business as currently conducted and as it is intended to be
conducted does not infringe upon any Intellectual Property rights of any Person. Neither the Company nor any of the its Subsidiaries has been
notified by any third party of any allegation that the conduct of the Company's business infringes upon, violates or constitutes the unauthorized
use of the Intellectual Property rights of any Person. No Person has notified the Company or any of the Company's Subsidiaries that (i) any of
such Person's Intellectual Property rights are
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infringed, or (ii) the Company or any of its Subsidiaries requires a license to any of such Person's Intellectual Property rights. Further, neither the
Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has received a written offer to license any of such Person's Intellectual Property rights.

        (h)   To the Knowledge of the Company, no Person is misappropriating, infringing, diluting, or violating any Owned Intellectual Property
and, except as set forth in Section 5.15(h) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, no such claims have been brought or threatened against any
Person by or on behalf of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

        (i)    Section 5.15(i) of the Company Disclosure Schedule contains a complete and accurate list of all Software that is sold, licensed, leased
or otherwise distributed by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or resellers (such Software, the "Company Products"). Each of the Company
Products was either developed by (i) employees of the Company and its Subsidiaries within the scope of their employment, or (ii) independent
contractors who have assigned their rights to the Company or one of its Subsidiaries pursuant to enforceable written agreements.

        (j)    All Trademarks of the Company and its Subsidiaries which are used in any way in connection with the conduct of the Company's
business have been in continuous use by the Company or a Subsidiary of the Company. There has been no prior use of any such Trademarks or
other action taken by any Person that would confer upon said Person superior rights in such Trademarks, the Company has taken all necessary
steps to protect the Trademarks against infringement and the registered Trademarks have been continuously used in the form appearing in, and in
connection with the goods and services listed in, their respective registration certificates or identified in their respective pending applications.

        (k)   The Company and its Subsidiaries have taken all necessary steps to obtain and preserve the Patents which are used in any way in
connection with the conduct of the Company's business, including the payment of annuities or maintenance fees and the filing of all required
documents.

        (l)    The Copyrights which are used in any way in connection with the conduct of the Company's business relate to works of authorship
(i) created by (A) employees of the Company and its Subsidiaries within the scope of their employment, or (B) independent contractors who
have assigned their rights to the Company pursuant to enforceable written agreements, or (ii) acquired from the original author(s) or subsequent
assignees. The works covered by such Copyrights were not copies of nor derived from any work for which the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries does not own the Copyrights, and no other Person has any claim to authorship or ownership of any part thereof.

        (m)  The Company and its Subsidiaries have taken all necessary steps to protect the respective rights in confidential information and trade
secrets used in connection with the conduct of the Company's business. Without limiting the foregoing, the Company and its Subsidiaries have
enforced a policy of requiring each employee, consultant, contractor and potential business partner or investor to execute proprietary information
and confidentiality agreements substantially consistent with the Company's standard forms thereof (complete and current copies of which have
been delivered or made available). Prior to Closing, the Company shall secure an assignment from each employee of the Company and its
Subsidiaries of any and all rights in Intellectual Property which that employee may have and which is used or may be used in connection with or
otherwise related to the conduct of the Company's business as it is currently conducted or as it is intended to be conducted. Except under valid
and binding confidentiality obligations, there has been no material disclosure of any confidential information or trade secrets used in connection
with the conduct of the Company's business.

        (n)   The Company and its Subsidiaries have valid registrations for each of the domain names set forth in Section 5.15(a) of the Company
Disclosure Schedule. The registration of each such domain name is free and clear of all Encumbrances and is in full force and effect. The
Company has paid all fees required to maintain each registration. None of the Company's registrations or uses of the domain
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names has been disturbed or placed "on hold" and neither the Company nor any of the Company's Subsidiaries has received written notice of any
claim asserted against the Company or any of its Subsidiaries adverse to its rights to such domain names.

        (o)   All Software, whether owned by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or licensed from any other Person, is free from any significant
defect or programming or documentation error including bugs, logic errors or failures of the Software to operate in all material respects as
described in the related documentation, conforms to the specifications thereof. With respect to Software owned by the Company and its
Subsidiaries, the applications thereof can be compiled from the associated source code without undue burden.

        (p)   Except as set forth in Section 5.15(p) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, none of the Company Products or any Owned Intellectual
Property are, in whole or in part, subject to the provision of any open source or other type of license agreement or distribution model that:
(i) requires the distribution or making available of the source code for the Company Products, (ii) prohibits or limits the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries from charging a fee or receiving consideration in connection with sublicensing or distributing any Company Product, (iii) except as
specifically permitted by law, grants any right to any Person (other than the Company and its Subsidiaries) or otherwise allows any such Person
to decompile, disassemble or otherwise reverse-engineer any Company Product, or (iv) requires the licensing of any Company Product for the
purpose of making derivative works (any such open source or other type of license agreement or distribution model described in clause (i), (ii),
(iii) or (iv) above, a "Limited License"). By way of clarification, but not limitation, the term "Limited License" shall include: (A) GNU's General
Public License (GPL) or Lesser/Library GPL (LGPL), (B) the Artistic License (e.g., PERL), (C) the Mozilla Public License, (D) the Netscape
Public License, (E) the Sun Community Source License (SCSL), and (F) the Sun Industry Standards License (SISL). None of the Company
Products incorporate, or are distributed with, any Software that is subject to a Limited License, nor does any Company Product constitute a
derivative work of, dynamically link with or otherwise interact with any such Software.

        (q)   No government funding, facilities of a university, college, other educational institution or research center, or funding from any Person
was used in the creation or development of the Owned Intellectual Property. To the Knowledge of the Company, no current or former employee,
consultant or independent contractor, who was involved in, or who contributed to, the creation or development of any Owned Intellectual
Property, has performed services for any Governmental Authority, a university, college, or other educational institution, or a research center,
during a period of time during which such employee, consultant or independent contractor was also performing services used in the creation or
development of the Owned Intellectual Property. To the Knowledge of the Company, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries are party
to any contract, license or agreement with any Governmental Authority that grants to such Governmental Authority any right or license with
respect to the Owned Intellectual Property, other than as granted in the ordinary course of business pursuant to a non-exclusive license to any
Company Product.

        (r)   As used in this Agreement, the term (i) "Copyrights" means all copyrights (registered or otherwise) and registrations and applications
for registration thereof, and all rights therein provided by multinational treaties or conventions, (ii) "Intellectual Property" means (a) inventions,
whether or not patentable, whether or not reduced to practice or whether or not yet made the subject of a pending Patent application or
applications, (b) ideas and conceptions of potentially patentable subject matter, including, without limitation, any patent disclosures, whether or
not reduced to practice and whether or not yet made the subject of a pending Patent application or applications, (c) Patents, (d) Trademarks,
(e) Copyrights, (f) Software, (g) trade secrets and confidential, technical or business information (including ideas, formulas, compositions,
designs, inventions, and conceptions of inventions whether patentable or unpatentable and whether or not reduced to practice), (h) whether or
not confidential, technology (including know-how and show-how), manufacturing and production processes and
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techniques, research and development information, drawings, specifications, designs, plans, proposals, technical data, copyrightable works,
financial, marketing and business data, pricing and cost information, business and marketing plans and customer and supplier lists and
information, (i) copies and tangible embodiments of all the foregoing, in whatever form or medium, (j) all rights to obtain and rights to apply for
Patents, and to register Trademarks and Copyrights, (k) all rights under the License Agreements and any licenses, registered user agreements,
technology or materials, transfer agreements, and other agreements or instruments with respect to items in (a) to (k) above; and (l) all rights to
sue and recover and retain damages and costs and attorneys' fees for present and past infringement of any of the Intellectual Property rights
hereinabove set out, (iii) "Owned Intellectual Property" means all Intellectual Property in and to which the Company has, or has a right to hold,
right, title and interest, (iv) "Patents" means all national (including the United States) and multinational statutory invention registrations, patents,
patent registrations, patent applications, provisional patent applications, industrial designs, industrial models, including all reissues, divisions,
continuations, continuations-in-part, extensions and reexaminations, and all rights therein provided by multinational treaties or conventions and
all improvements to the inventions disclosed in each such registration, patent or application, (v) "Software" means any and all computer
programs and all related documentation, manuals, source code and object code, program files, data files, computer related data, field and data
definitions and relationships, data definition specifications, data models, program and system logic, interfaces, program modules, routines,
subroutines, algorithms, program architecture, design concepts, system design, program structure, sequence and organization, screen displays
and report layouts, and all other material related to such software, used or held for use in any way in connection with the conduct of the
Company's business and (vi) "Trademarks" means all trademarks, service marks, trade dress, logos, trade names, corporate names, business
names, domain names, whether or not registered, including all common law rights, and registrations, applications for registration and renewals
thereof, including, but not limited to, all marks registered in the United States Patent and Trademark Office, the Trademark Offices of the States
and Territories of the United States of America, and the Trademark Offices of other nations throughout the world, and all rights therein provided
by multinational treaties or conventions.

        5.16    Owned and Leased Properties.

        (a)   The Company owns no real property.

        (b)   Section 5.16(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth a complete and accurate list as of the date of this Agreement of all real
property leased, subleased or licensed by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries as lessor, lessee, sublessor, sublessee, licensor or licensee
(collectively "Company Leases") and the location of the premises. Each of the Company Leases is in full force and effect. Neither the Company
nor any of its Subsidiaries nor, to the Knowledge of the Company, any other party to any Company Lease is in default under any of the
Company Leases, except where the existence of such defaults, individually or in the aggregate, has not had, and is not reasonably likely to have,
a Company Material Adverse Effect. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries leases, subleases or licenses any real property to any
Person other than the Company and its Subsidiaries. The Company has made available to Parent complete and accurate copies of all Company
Leases.

        (c)   The Company and each of its Subsidiaries has good and marketable title to, or valued leasehold interests in, all of its material tangible
assets and properties, except for such tangible assets and properties as are disposed in the ordinary course of business and except for defects in
title, easements, restrictive covenants, Taxes that are not yet delinquent and similar encumbrances that, individually or in the aggregate, have not
had and are not reasonably likely to have a Company Material Adverse Effect. All such material tangible assets and properties, other than assets
and properties in which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has a leasehold interest, are free and clear of all Liens, except for (i) Liens for
Taxes not yet due and payable, that are payable without penalty or that are being contested in good faith and for which adequate reserves have
been recorded, (ii) Liens
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for assessments and other governmental charges or liens of landlords, carriers, warehousemen, mechanics and repairmen incurred in the ordinary
course of business, in each case for sums not yet due and payable or due but not delinquent or being contested in good faith by appropriate
proceedings, (iii) Liens incurred in the ordinary course of business in connection with workers' compensation, unemployment insurance and
other types of social security or to secure the performance of tenders, statutory obligations, surety and appeal bonds, bids, leases, government
contracts, performance and return of money bonds and similar obligations, and (iv) Liens that do not materially interfere with the conduct of the
Company's business and do not materially affect the use or value of the Company's assets.

        5.17    Takeover Statutes.     No "fair price," "moratorium," "control share acquisition" or other similar anti-takeover statute or regulation
(including Ch. 110F of the Massachusetts General Laws assuming that Parent is not an "interested stockholder" for purposes of such statute)
(each a "Takeover Statute") or any anti-takeover provision in the Company's articles of organization and by-laws is, or at the Effective Time will
be, applicable to any shares of Company Common Stock, the Merger or the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement. The Company
Board has taken all action so that neither Parent nor Merger Sub will be prohibited from entering into a "business combination" with the
Company as an "interested stockholder" (in each case as such term is used in Ch. 110F of the Massachusetts General Laws) as a result of the
execution of this Agreement or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby.

        5.18    Brokers and Finders.     Neither the Company nor any of its officers, directors or employees has employed any broker or finder or
incurred any liability for any brokerage fees, commissions or finders fees in connection with the Merger or the other transactions contemplated
in this Agreement except that the Company has employed Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc. as its financial advisor. The Company has made available to
Parent a complete and accurate copy of all agreements pursuant to which Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc. is entitled to any fees or expenses in
connection with any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

ARTICLE VI

Representations and Warranties of Parent and Merger Sub

        Parent and Merger Sub represent and warrant to the Company that the statements contained in this Article VI are true and correct, except as
set forth in the disclosure schedule delivered by Parent and Merger Sub to the Company prior to the execution of this Agreement (the "Parent
Disclosure Schedule"). The Parent Disclosure Schedule shall be arranged in sections and paragraphs corresponding to the numbered and lettered
sections and paragraphs contained in this Article VI and the disclosure in any Section or paragraph shall qualify (a) the corresponding Section or
paragraph in this Article VI and (b) the other sections and paragraphs in this Article VI to the extent that it is reasonably apparent from a reading
of such disclosure that it also qualifies or applies to such other sections and paragraphs.

        6.1    Organization, Standing and Power.     Each of Parent and Merger Sub is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good
standing under the Laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation, has all requisite corporate power and authority to own, lease and operate its
properties and assets and to carry on its business as now being conducted, and is duly qualified to do business and, where applicable as a legal
concept, is in good standing as a foreign corporation in each jurisdiction in which the character of the properties it owns, operates or leases or the
nature of its activities makes such qualification necessary, except for such failures to be so organized, qualified or in good standing, individually
or in the aggregate, that are not reasonably likely to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect. For purposes of this Agreement, the term "Parent
Material Adverse Effect" means any material adverse change, event, circumstance or development with respect to, or any material adverse effect
on, (a) the business, financial condition or results of operations of Parent and its Subsidiaries, taken as a
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whole, or (b) the ability of Parent and Merger Sub to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

        6.2    Authority; No Conflict; Required Filings and Consents.

        (a)   Each of Parent and Merger Sub has all requisite corporate power and authority to enter into this Agreement and to consummate the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement. The execution and delivery of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement by Parent and Merger Sub have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action on the part of each of
Parent and Merger Sub. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by each of Parent and Merger Sub and constitutes the valid and
binding obligation of each of Parent and Merger Sub, enforceable against each of them in accordance with its terms.

        (b)   The execution and delivery of this Agreement by each of Parent and Merger Sub do not, and the consummation by Parent and Merger
Sub of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement will not, (i) conflict with, or result in any violation or breach of, any provision of the
certificate of incorporation or by-laws of Parent or Merger Sub, (ii) conflict with, or result in any violation or breach of, or constitute (with or
without notice or lapse of time, or both) a default (or give rise to a right of termination, cancellation or acceleration of any obligation or loss of
any material benefit) under, require a consent or waiver under, constitute a change in control under, require the payment of a penalty under or
result in the imposition of any lien, pledge, security interest, claim or other encumbrance ("Liens") on Parent's or Merger Sub's assets under, any
of the terms, conditions or provisions of any lease, license, contract or other agreement, instrument or obligation to which Parent or Merger Sub
is a party or by which any of them or any of their properties or assets may be bound, or (iii) subject to compliance with the requirements
specified in clauses (i) and (ii) of Section 6.2(c), conflict with or violate any permit, concession, franchise, license, judgment, injunction, order,
decree, statute, Law, ordinance, rule or regulation applicable to Parent or Merger Sub or any of its or their respective properties or assets, except
in the case of clauses (ii) and (iii) of this Section 6.2(b) for any such conflicts, violations, breaches, defaults, terminations, cancellations,
accelerations, losses, penalties or Liens, and for any consents or waivers not obtained, that, individually or in the aggregate, are not reasonably
likely to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect or prevent or materially delay the consummation of the Merger.

        (c)   Other than the filings and/or notices (A) pursuant to Section 1.3, (B) under the HSR Act, the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and
the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder and the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, (C) required to be
made with New York Stock Exchange, (D) of such consents, approvals, orders, authorizations, registrations, declarations and filings as may be
required under applicable U.S. state securities Laws and (E) the notifications, consents and approvals set forth in Section 6.2(c) of the Parent
Disclosure Schedule (collectively, the "Parent Approvals"), no notices, reports or other filings are required to be made by Parent with, nor are
any consents, registrations, approvals, permits or authorizations required to be obtained by Parent from, any Government Entity, in connection
with the execution and delivery of this Agreement by Parent and Merger Sub and the consummation by Parent and Merger Sub of the Merger
and the other transactions contemplated hereby, except those that the failure to make or obtain are not, individually or in the aggregate,
reasonably likely to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect or prevent, materially delay or materially impair the ability of Parent and Merger Sub
to consummate transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

        (d)   No vote of the holders of any class or series of Parent's capital stock or other securities is necessary for the consummation by Parent of
the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

        6.3    Information Provided.     The information to be supplied by or on behalf of Parent for inclusion in the Proxy Statement to be sent to
the stockholders of the Company in connection with the Company Meeting shall not, on the date the Proxy Statement is first mailed to
stockholders of the Company or at
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the time of the Company Meeting, contain any statement which, at such time and in light of the circumstances under which it shall be made, is
false or misleading with respect to any material fact, or omit to state any material fact necessary in order to make the statements made in the
Proxy Statement not false or misleading in light of the circumstances under which they were or shall be made; or omit to state any material fact
necessary to correct any statement in any earlier communication with respect to the solicitation of proxies for the Company Meeting which has
become false or misleading. If at any time prior to the Company Meeting any fact or event relating to Parent or any of its Affiliates which should
be set forth in a supplement to the Proxy Statement should be discovered by Parent or should occur, Parent shall, promptly after becoming aware
thereof, inform the Company of such fact or event.

        6.4    Operations of Merger Sub.     Merger Sub was formed solely for the purpose of engaging in the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement, has engaged in no other business activities and has conducted its operations only as contemplated by this Agreement.

        6.5    Financing.     Parent has available all funds necessary (a) to perform all of its obligations under this Agreement, including payment of
the Merger Consideration, and (b) to satisfy the Company's obligations under the Indenture dated as of December 8, 2003 with the Company, as
Issuer, and Wilmington Trust Company, as Trustee.

ARTICLE VII

Covenants

         7.1    Interim Operations.     The Company covenants and agrees as to itself and its Subsidiaries that, after the date hereof and prior to the
Effective Time (unless Parent shall otherwise approve in writing and except as otherwise expressly contemplated by this Agreement):

        (a)   the business of it and its Subsidiaries shall be conducted in the ordinary and usual course and, to the extent consistent
therewith, it and its Subsidiaries shall use their respective reasonable best efforts to preserve its business organization intact and
maintain its existing relations and goodwill with customers, suppliers, distributors, strategic partners, creditors, lessors, employees and
business associates;

        (b)   it shall not (i) issue, sell, pledge, dispose of or encumber any capital stock owned by it in any of its Subsidiaries; (ii) amend
its articles of organization or by-laws; (iii) split, combine or reclassify its outstanding shares of capital stock; (iv) declare, set aside or
pay any dividend payable in cash, stock or property in respect of any capital stock other than dividends from its direct or indirect
wholly-owned Subsidiaries; or (v) purchase, redeem or otherwise acquire, except for the acquisition of shares of Company Common
Stock from holders of Company Stock Options in full or partial payment of the exercise price payable by such holder upon exercise of
Company Stock Options to the extent required or permitted under the terms of such Company Stock Options, or permit any of its
Subsidiaries to purchase or otherwise acquire, any shares of its capital stock or any securities convertible into or exchangeable or
exercisable for any shares of its capital stock;

        (c)   neither it nor any of its Subsidiaries shall (i) issue, sell, pledge, dispose of or encumber any shares of, or securities
convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for, or options, warrants, calls, commitments or rights of any kind to acquire, any
shares of its capital stock of any class or any Voting Debt or any other property or assets (other than shares of Company Common
Stock issuable pursuant to options and other stock-based awards outstanding on the date hereof under the Company Stock Plans or
upon conversion of the Convertible Senior Notes); (ii) transfer, lease, license, guarantee, sell, mortgage, pledge, dispose of, abandon,
cancel, surrender or allow to lapse or expire or encumber any material property or material assets (including capital stock of any of its
Subsidiaries) or business;
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        (d)   neither it nor any of its Subsidiaries shall restructure, recapitalize, reorganize or completely or partially liquidate or adopt a
plan of complete or partial liquidation or otherwise enter into any agreement or arrangement imposing material changes or restrictions
on the operation of its assets or businesses or adopt resolutions providing for or authorizing any of the foregoing;

        (e)   neither it nor any of its Subsidiaries shall acquire (i) by merging or consolidating with, or by purchasing all or a substantial
portion of the assets of or any stock of, or by any other manner, any business or any corporation, partnership, joint venture, limited
liability company, association or other business organization or division thereof, or (ii) any assets that are material, individually or in
the aggregate,DIV>

     Management is not presently aware of any current recommendations to the Corporation or to the Bank by regulatory authorities
which, if they were to be implemented, would have a material effect on the Corporation�s liquidity, capital resources, or operations.
Accounting Matters

     In November 2003, the Emerging Issues Task Force (�EITF�) issued EITF Issue No. 03-01, �The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary
Impairment and Its Application to Certain Investments (�EITF 03-01�). EITF 03-01 provided guidance for evaluating whether an
investment is other-than-temporarily impaired and requires certain disclosures with respect to these investments. In September 2004,
the Financial Accounting Standards Board (�FASB�) issued a FASB Staff Position (�FSP EITF 03-1-b�) to delay the requirement to record
impairment losses EITF 03-01. The guidance also included accounting considerations subsequent to the recognition of an
other-than-temporary impairment and requirements for disclosures about unrealized losses that have not been recognized as
other-than-temporary impairments. In November 2005, the FASB issued FSP FAS 115-1 and FAS 124-1, which addresses the
determination as to when an investment is considered impaired. This FSP nullifies certain requirements of EITF 03-01 and supersedes
EITF Topic No. D-44, �Recognition of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment upon the Planned Sale of a Security Whose Cost Exceeds
Fair Value.� This FSP is to be applied to reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2005. Accordingly, the Corporation adopted
this FSP on January 1, 2006 with no material effect on its consolidated financial statements.
     In December 2004, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123(R) (�SFAS No. 123(R)�), �Share-Based
Payment�, which is a revision of FASB Statement No. 123 �Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation� and supersedes APB Opinion
No. 25 �Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees�. SFAS No. 123(R) requires companies to recognize the fair value of stock options
and other equity-based compensation expenses in the income statement that have been issued to employees over the period in which an
employee is required to provide service in exchange for the award. SFAS No. 123(R) also establishes accounting requirements for
�share-based� compensation to employees, including employee-stock purchase plans (�ESPPs�). Registrants that do not file as small
business users must adopt SFAS No. 123(R) as of the beginning of their first annual period beginning after June 15, 2005.
Accordingly, the Corporation adopted SFAS No. 123(R) on January 1, 2006, with no material effect on its consolidated financial
statements. In March 2005, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107 (�SAB 107�), which contains guidance on applying the
requirements in SFAS No. 123(R). SAB 107 provides guidance on valuation techniques, development of assumptions used in valuing
employee share options and related MD&A disclosures. SAB 107 is effective for the period in which SFAS No. 123(R) is adopted.
The Corporation adopted SAB 107 on January 1, 2006, with no material effect on its consolidated financial statements. The
Corporation expects to incur approximately $0.9 million of salary expense in 2006 for stock option grants made prior to 2006 as a
result of the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R). In addition, the Corporation expects to incur approximately $0.2 million of salary expense
in 2006 for restricted stock awards made prior to 2006. During 2006, the Corporation granted approximately 126,000 stock options
and performance share awards to executive officers which is expected to result in $0.5 million of salary expense during 2006. In
addition, the Corporation granted approximately 87,000 shares of restricted stock to selected employees and directors which is
expected to result in $0.6 million of salary expense during 2006.
     In May 2005, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 154 (�SFAS No. 154�), �Accounting Changes and
Error Corrections�, which replaces APB Opinion No. 20 �Accounting Changes� and FASB Statement No. 3 �Reporting Accounting
Changes in Interim Financial Statements�. SFAS No. 154 changes the requirements for the accounting for and reporting of a change in
an accounting principle. SFAS No. 154 requires retrospective application for voluntary changes in an accounting principle unless it is
impracticable to do so. SFAS No. 154 is effective for accounting changes made in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005.
The Corporation adopted SFAS No. 154 on January 1, 2006 with no material effect on its consolidated financial statements.
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     In July 2005, the FASB issued an exposure draft, �Accounting for Uncertain Tax Positions�, a proposed
interpretation of SFAS No. 109, �Accounting for Income Taxes� (the proposed Interpretation). The proposed
Interpretation would clarify the accounting for uncertain tax positions and require the Corporation to
recognize management�s best estimate of the impact of a tax position. The initial proposed effective date of the
Interpretation was fiscal years ending after December 31, 2005; however, the final provisions of the
Interpretation have not been finalized. Management is currently evaluating the effect of the initial proposed
Interpretation and its impact on the consolidated financial statements.
     From time to time, the FASB issues exposure drafts for proposed statements of financial accounting
standards. Such exposure drafts are subject to comment from the public, to revisions by the FASB and to final
issuance by the FASB as statements of financial accounting standards. Management considers the effect of the
proposed statements on the consolidated financial statements of the Corporation and monitors the status of
changes to and proposed effective dates of exposure drafts.
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk
     The information called for by Item 7A is set forth in Item 7 under the caption Market Risk Management
beginning on page 43 and is incorporated herein by reference.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
First Charter Corporation:
     We have audited management�s assessment, included in the accompanying Management�s Annual Report on
Internal Control over Financial Reporting, that First Charter Corporation maintained effective internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on criteria established in Internal Control�Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).
First Charter Corporation�s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial
reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on management�s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company�s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.
     We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating
management�s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control,
and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
     A company�s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company�s internal control over financial
reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company;
(2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of
the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company�s assets that could have a material effect on the financial
statements.
     Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.
     In our opinion, management�s assessment that First Charter Corporation maintained effective internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on
criteria established in Internal Control�Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Also, in our opinion, First Charter Corporation
maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2005, based on criteria established in Internal Control�Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).
     We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States), the consolidated balance sheets of First Charter Corporation and subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders� equity,
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and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2005, and our report dated
March 9, 2006, expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.
Charlotte, North Carolina
March 9, 2006
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
The Board of Directors and Shareholders
First Charter Corporation:
     We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of First Charter Corporation and
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements of income,
shareholders� equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2005.
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company�s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.
     We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.
     In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of First Charter Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2005 and
2004, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period
ended December 31, 2005, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
     We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States), the effectiveness of First Charter Corporation�s internal control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 2005, based on criteria established in Internal Control�Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report dated
March 9, 2006 expressed an unqualified opinion on management�s assessment of, and the effective operation
of, internal control over financial reporting.
Charlotte, North Carolina
March 9, 2006
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First Charter Corporation and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets

December
31, December 31,

(Dollars in thousands, except share data) 2005 2004

Assets:
Cash and due from banks $ 119,080 $ 90,238
Federal funds sold 2,474 1,589
Interest bearing bank deposits 3,998 6,184

Cash and cash equivalents 125,552 98,011

Securities available for sale (cost of $917,710 at December 31, 2005 and
$1,660,703 at December 31, 2004; carrying amount of pledged collateral
at December 31, 2005, $557,132) 899,111 1,652,732
Loans held for sale 6,447 5,326

Loans 2,945,918 2,439,692
Less: Unearned income (173) (291)
Allowance for loan losses (28,725) (26,872)

Loans, net 2,917,020 2,412,529

Premises and equipment, net 106,773 97,565
Goodwill and other intangible assets 21,897 21,594
Other assets 155,620 143,848

Total assets $ 4,232,420 $ 4,431,605

Liabilities:
Deposits, domestic:
Noninterest bearing demand $ 429,758 $ 377,793
Interest bearing 2,369,721 2,232,053

Total deposits 2,799,479 2,609,846

Federal funds purchased and securities sold under agreements to
repurchase 312,283 250,314
Commercial paper and other short-term borrowings 198,432 325,684
Long-term debt 557,859 873,738
Other liabilities 40,772 57,336

Total liabilities 3,908,825 4,116,918

Shareholders� equity:
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Preferred stock � no par value; authorized 2,000,000 shares; no shares
issued and outstanding � �
Common stock � no par value; authorized 100,000,000 shares; issued and
outstanding 30,736,936 and 30,054,256 shares 133,408 121,464
Common stock held in Rabbi Trust for deferred compensation (893) (808)
Deferred compensation payable in common stock 893 808
Retained earnings 201,442 198,085
Accumulated other comprehensive loss:
Unrealized losses on securities available for sale, net (11,255) (4,862)

Total shareholders� equity 323,595 314,687

Total liabilities and shareholders� equity $ 4,232,420 $ 4,431,605

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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First Charter Corporation and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Income

Years Ended December 31
(Dollars in thousands, except share and per share data) 2005 2004 2003

Interest income:
Loans $ 172,760 $ 124,169 $ 118,911
Federal funds sold 60 19 20
Interest bearing bank deposits 163 201 465
Securities 51,622 62,914 58,896

Total interest income 224,605 187,303 178,292

Interest expense:
Deposits 53,456 35,350 41,544
Federal funds purchased and securities sold under agreements
to repurchase 10,246 2,969 2,288
Federal Home Loan Bank and other borrowings 36,020 25,974 26,658

Total interest expense 99,722 64,293 70,490

Net interest income 124,883 123,010 107,802
Provision for loan losses 9,343 8,425 27,518

Net interest income after provision for loan losses 115,540 114,585 80,284

Noninterest income:
Service charges on deposit accounts 27,809 25,564 22,143
Financial management income 5,900 5,848 3,705
(Loss) gain on sale of securities, net (16,690) 2,383 10,287
Gain on sale of credit card loan portfolio � � 2,262
Loss from equity method investees (271) (349) (285)
Mortgage services income 2,873 1,748 2,912
Brokerage services income 3,119 3,112 3,016
Insurance services income 12,360 11,269 9,408
Trading gains 51 163 1,801
Bank owned life insurance 4,311 3,413 3,888
Gain on sale of property 1,853 777 382
ATM and merchant income 6,702 5,160 4,054
Other 2,196 1,808 360

Total noninterest income 50,213 60,896 63,933

Noninterest expense:
Salaries and employee benefits 63,595 58,493 54,752
Occupancy and equipment 16,807 17,226 16,504
Data processing 5,376 4,034 2,816
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Marketing 4,668 4,351 4,435
Postage and supplies 4,659 4,959 4,521
Professional services 8,260 9,574 11,582
Telephone 2,194 1,998 2,267
Amortization of intangibles 538 461 441
Debt extinguishment expense 6,884 � 19,089
Derivative termination costs 7,770 � �
Other 10,471 9,921 10,378

Total noninterest expense 131,222 111,017 126,785

Income before income taxes 34,531 64,464 17,432
Income taxes 9,220 22,022 3,286

Net income $ 25,311 $ 42,442 $ 14,146

Net income per share:
Basic $ 0.83 $ 1.42 $ 0.47
Diluted $ 0.82 $ 1.40 $ 0.47
Weighted average shares:
Basic 30,457,573 29,859,683 29,789,969
Diluted 30,784,406 30,277,063 30,007,435

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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First Charter Corporation and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders� Equity

Common
Stock
held in
RabbiDeferred Accumulated
Trust
forCompensation Other

Common Stock Deferred
Payable

in RetainedComprehensive

(Dollars in thousands, except share data) Shares AmountCompensation
Common
Stock Earnings

Income
(Loss) Total

Balance, December 31, 2002 30,069,147 122,870 (476) 476 185,900 15,916 324,686

Comprehensive income:
Net income � � � � 14,146 � 14,146
Unrealized loss on securities available for
sale, net � � � � � (9,755) (9,755)
Total comprehensive income 4,391
Common stock purchased by Rabbi Trust
for deferred compensation � � (160) � � � (160)
Deferred compensation payable in
common stock � � � 160 � � 160
Cash dividends � � � � (22,038) � (22,038)
Stock options exercised 137,575 1,700 � � � � 1,700
Shares issued in connection with business
acquisition 78,441 1,323 � � � � 1,323
Purchase and retirement of common stock (565,000) (10,623) � � � � (10,623)

Balance, December 31, 2003 29,720,163 115,270 (636) 636 178,008 6,161 299,439

Comprehensive income:
Net income � � � � 42,442 � 42,442
Unrealized loss on securities available for
sale, net � � � � � (11,023) (11,023)
Total comprehensive income 31,419
Common stock purchased by Rabbi Trust
for deferred compensation � � (172) � � � (172)
Deferred compensation payable in
common stock � � � 172 � � 172
Cash dividends � � � � (22,365) � (22,365)
Stock options exercised and Dividend
Reinvestment Plan stock issued 267,576 4,605 � � � � 4,605
Shares issued in connection with business
acquisition 47,970 1,175 � � � � 1,175
Restricted stock issued 18,547 414 � � � � 414
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Balance, December 31, 2004 30,054,256 $121,464 $(808) $808 $198,085 $ (4,862) $314,687

Comprehensive income:
Net income � � � � 25,311 � 25,311
Unrealized loss on securities available for
sale, net � � � � � (6,393) (6,393)
Total comprehensive income 18,918
Common stock purchased by Rabbi Trust
for deferred compensation � � (85) � � � (85)
Deferred compensation payable in
common stock � � � 85 � � 85
Cash dividends � � � � (21,954) � (21,954)
Stock options exercised and Dividend
Reinvestment Plan stock issued 646,003 11,078 � � � � 11,078
Shares issued in connection with business
acquisition 21,277 501 � � � � 501
Restricted stock issued 15,400 365 � � � � 365

Balance, December 31, 2005 30,736,936 $133,408 $(893) $893 $201,442 $(11,255) $323,595

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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First Charter Corporation and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended December 31
(Dollars in thousands) 2005 2004 2003

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $ 25,311 $ 42,442 $ 14,146
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided
by (used in) operating activities:
Provision for loan losses 9,343 8,425 27,518
Depreciation 7,876 9,064 8,952
Amortization of intangibles 538 461 441
Premium amortization and discount accretion, net 2,395 3,296 6,867
Net loss (gain) on securities available for sale transactions 16,690 (2,383) (10,287)
Net loss (gain) loss on foreclosed assets 50 (172) 265
Write-downs on foreclosed assets 154 116 �
Net loss from equity method investments 271 349 285
Net gain on sale of property (1,853) (777) (382)
Net (gain) loss on sale of equipment (15) 62 5
Gain on sale of credit card loan portfolio � � (2,262)
Gain on sale of deposits and loans � (339) �
Payment on BOLI claims (935) � �
Origination of mortgage loans held for sale (154,303) (95,635) (278,165)
Proceeds from sale of mortgage loans held for sale 153,182 54,704 144,510
Increase in cash surrender value of bank owned life
insurance (2,685) (3,413) (3,888)
(Increase) decrease in other assets (1,029) 6,463 (5,954)
(Decrease) Increase in other liabilities (16,564) 9,425 (9,642)

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 38,426 32,088 (107,591)

Cash flows from investing activities:
Proceeds from sales of securities available for sale 652,583 139,261 1,004,264
Proceeds from calls and maturities of securities available
for sale 166,191 419,251 551,072
Purchase of securities available for sale (94,866) (587,582) (1,753,691)
Net increase in loans (520,366) (204,108) (267,843)
Proceeds from sale of loans � 5,828 40,220
Proceeds from sales of other real estate 5,048 5,433 10,452
Net purchases of premises and equipment (17,069) (10,136) (9,528)
Proceeds from sale of credit card portfolio � � 13,242
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash paid � (6,755) (991)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 191,521 (238,808) (412,803)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Net increase in demand, money market and savings
accounts 153,340 93,219 210,268
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Net increase (decrease) in certificates of deposit 36,293 98,229 (105,016)
Net increase (decrease) in federal funds purchased and
securities sold under agreements to repurchase 61,968 (68,703) (7,727)
Net (decrease) increase in commercial paper and other
short-term borrowings (127,252) (264,392) 332,710
Proceeds from the issuance of long-term debt and trust
preferred securities 186,857 580,000 225,816
Retirement of long-term debt (502,736) (229,368) (161,040)
Purchase and retirement of common stock � � (10,623)
Proceeds from issuance of common stock 11,078 4,605 1,700
Dividends paid (21,954) (22,365) (22,038)

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (202,406) 191,225 464,050

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 27,541 (15,495) (56,344)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 98,011 113,506 169,850

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 125,552 $ 98,011 $ 113,506

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest $ 96,857 $ 62,977 $ 72,699
Cash paid for income taxes 21,520 18,548 12,619
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash transactions:
Transfer of loans and premises and equipment to other real
estate owned 6,532 2,385 7,272
Unrealized loss on securities available for sale (net of tax
effect of ($4,235), ($7,045) and ($6,254) for the years
ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively) (6,393) (11,023) (9,755)
Issuance of common stock for business acquisitions 501 1,175 1,323
Loans held for sale securitized and transferred to the
securities available for sale portfolio � 40,742 286,922
Allowance related to loans sold, securitized or transferred
to held for sale � 584 20,783

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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First Charter Corporation and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003
Note One � Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
General
     The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Corporation and its
wholly-owned subsidiary, the Bank, a North Carolina state bank. In addition, the Bank operates two
subsidiaries: First Charter Insurance Services, Inc. (�First Charter Insurance�) and First Charter Leasing and
Investments, Inc. (�First Charter Leasing�). First Charter Insurance is a North Carolina corporation formed to
meet the insurance needs of businesses and individuals throughout the Charlotte metropolitan area. First
Charter Leasing is a North Carolina corporation engaged in commercial equipment leasing and the
management of investment securities. It also acts as the holding company for First Charter of Virginia Realty
Investments, Inc., a Virginia corporation (�First Charter Virginia�). First Charter Virginia is engaged in the
mortgage origination business and also acts as a holding company for First Charter Realty Investments, Inc., a
Delaware real estate investment trust. First Charter Realty Investments, Inc. is the holding company for FCB
Real Estate, Inc., a North Carolina real estate investment trust, and First Charter Real Estate Holdings, LLC, a
North Carolina limited liability company, which owns and maintains the real estate property and assets of the
Corporation. FCB Real Estate, Inc. primarily invests in commercial and 1-4 family residential real estate
loans. The Bank also has a majority ownership in Lincoln Center at Mallard Creek, LLC, a North Carolina
limited liability company. Lincoln Center is a three-story office building occupied in part by First Charter
Insurance Services, Inc and a branch of the Bank. During 2005, the Corporation merged its full service and
discount brokerage subsidiary, First Charter Brokerage Service, Inc, into the Bank.
     The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date of the consolidated
financial statements, as well as the amounts of income and expenses during the reporting period. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.
     Reclassifications of certain amounts in the previously issued consolidated financial statements have been
made to conform to the financial statement presentation for 2005. Such reclassifications had no effect on the
net income or shareholders� equity of the combined entity as previously reported.
Principles of Consolidation and Basis of Presentation
     The Corporation consolidates those entities in which it holds a controlling financial interest, which is
typically measured as a majority of the outstanding common stock. However, in certain situations, a voting
interest may not be indicative of control, and in those cases, control is measured by other factors. Variable
interest entities (�VIEs�), certain of which are also referred to as special-purpose entities (�SPE�), are entities in
which equity investors do not have the characteristics of a controlling financial interest or do not have
sufficient equity at risk for the entity to finance its activities without additional subordinate financial support
from other parties. Under the provisions of FIN 46 R, a company is deemed to be the �primary beneficiary�, and
thus required to consolidate a VIE, if the company has a variable interest (or combination of variable interests)
that will absorb a majority of the VIE�s expected losses, that will receive a majority of the VIE�s expected
residual returns, or both. A �variable interest� is a contractual, ownership or other interest that changes with
changes in the fair value of the VIE�s net assets. �Expected losses� and �expected residual returns� are measures of
variability in the expected cash flows of a VIE.
     The Corporation formed First Charter Capital Trust I and First Charter Capital Trust II (collectively, the
�Trusts�), in June 2005 and September 2005, respectively. Both are wholly owned business trusts. The Trusts
are not consolidated by the Corporation because it is not the primary beneficiary. The sole assets of the Trusts
are subordinated debentures of the Corporation (the �Notes�). The Trusts are 100 percent
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owned by the Corporation. The subordinated debentures issued to these trust are included in long-term
borrowings in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.
Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
     In December 2003, the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (�AICPA�) issued Statement of
Position 03-03 �Accounting for Certain Loans of Debt Securities Acquired in a Transfer� (�SOP 03-03�). This
addresses accounting for differences between contractual cash flows and cash flows expected to be collected
from an investor�s initial investment in non-homogeneous loans or debt securities acquired in a transfer if those
differences are attributable, at least in part, to credit quality. SOP 03-03 includes loans acquired in purchase
business combinations and applies to all nongovernmental entities. SOP 03-03 does not apply to loans
originated by the entity and is effective for loans acquired in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2004.
Accordingly, the Corporation adopted the provisions of SOP 03-03 on January 1, 2005, with no effect on its
consolidated financial statements.
     In March 2005, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 47, �Accounting for Conditional Asset
Retirement Obligations� (�FIN 47�). This Interpretation clarifies that the term �conditional asset retirement
obligation� as used in SFAS No. 143, �Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations,� refers to a legal obligation
to perform an asset retirement activity in which the timing and (or) method of settlement are conditional on a
future event that may or may not be within the control of the entity. According to FIN 47, an entity is required
to recognize a liability for the fair value of a conditional asset retirement obligation when incurred if the
liability�s fair value can be reasonably estimated. The provisions of FIN 47 are effective for fiscal years ending
after December 15, 2005. The Corporation adopted FIN 47 on December 31, 2005 with no material effect on
its consolidated financial statements.
Securities
     The Corporation classifies securities as available-for-sale, held-to-maturity or trading based on
management�s intent at the date of purchase or securitization. At December 31, 2005, all of the Corporation�s
securities are categorized as available-for-sale and, accordingly, are reported at fair value, based on quoted
market prices, with any unrealized gains or losses, net of taxes, reflected as an element of accumulated other
comprehensive income in shareholders� equity. The Corporation intends to hold these available-for-sale
securities for an indefinite period of time, but may sell them prior to maturity in response to changes in
interest rates, changes in prepayment risk, changes in the liquidity needs of the Bank, and other factors.
Securities for which there is an unrealized loss that is deemed to be other-than-temporary are written down to
fair value with the write-down recorded as a realized loss in noninterest income. The fair value of the
securities is determined by a third party as of a date in close proximity to the end of the reporting period. The
valuation is based on available quoted market prices or quoted market prices for similar securities if a quoted
market price is not available. Securities that the Corporation has the positive intent and ability to hold to
maturity would be classified as held to maturity and reported at cost. At December 31, 2005, the Corporation
held no securities in this category. As more fully discussed in Note Seven, the Corporation had a nominal
amount of trading assets at December 31, 2005, which are carried at fair value, and included in other assets on
the consolidated balance sheet. Changes in their fair value are reflected in the statement of income. The fair
value of trading account assets is based on quoted market prices.
     Gains and losses on sales of securities are recognized when realized on the trade date on a specific
identification basis. Premiums and discounts are amortized or accreted into interest income using a level yield
method.
Loans Held for Sale
     Loans held for sale include mortgage loans and are valued at the lower of cost or market. Market value is
determined by outstanding commitments from investors or current investor yield requirements. Periodically,
the Corporation securitizes mortgage loans held for sale and these assets are classified as securities
available-for-sale.
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Loans
     Loans are carried at their principal amount outstanding. Interest income is recorded as earned on an accrual
basis. The determination to discontinue the accrual of interest is based on a review of each loan. Generally,
accrual of interest is discontinued on loans 90 days past due or when deemed not collectible in full as to
principal or interest unless in management�s opinion collection of both principal and interest is assured by way
of collateralization, guarantees or other security and the loan is in the process of collection. Loans are returned
to accrual status when management determines, based on an evaluation of the underlying collateral together
with the borrower�s payment record and financial condition, that the borrower has the ability and intent to meet
the contractual obligations of the loan agreement.
     Management considers a loan to be impaired when, based on current information and events, it is probable
that the Bank will be unable to collect all amounts due according to the contractual terms of the loan
agreement. Factors that influence management�s judgment include, but are not limited to, loan payment
pattern, source of repayment, and value of collateral. A loan would not be considered impaired if an
insignificant delay in loan payment occurs and management expects to collect all amounts due. The major
sources for identification of loans to be evaluated for impairment include past due and nonaccrual reports,
internally generated lists of loans of certain risk grades, and regulatory reports of examination.
Allowance for Loan Losses
     The Corporation uses the allowance method to provide for loan losses. Accordingly, all loan losses are
charged to the allowance for loan losses and all recoveries are credited to it. The provision for loan losses is
based on consideration of specific loans, past loan loss experience and other factors, which in management�s
judgment, deserve current recognition in estimating probable loan losses. Such other factors considered by
management include the growth and composition of the loan portfolio and current economic conditions.
     Allowances for loan losses related to loans that are identified as impaired, in accordance with the
impairment policy set forth above, are based on discounted cash flows using the loans� initial interest rates or
the fair value of the collateral, if the loans are collateral dependent. Large groups of smaller-balance,
homogenous loans that are collectively evaluated for impairment (residential mortgage, consumer installment,
and certain commercial loans) are excluded from this impairment evaluation and their allowance is calculated
in accordance with the allowance for loan losses policy discussed above.
     Management considers the allowance for loan losses adequate to cover inherent losses in the Corporation�s
loan portfolio as of the date of the financial statements. Management believes it has established the allowance
in consideration of the current economic environment. While management uses the best information available
to make evaluations, future additions to the allowance may be necessary based on changes in economic and
other conditions. Additionally, various regulatory agencies, as an integral part of their examination process,
periodically review the Corporation�s allowances for loan losses. Such agencies may require the recognition of
adjustments to the allowances based on their judgments of information available to them at the time of their
examinations.
Derivative Instruments
     The Corporation enters into interest rate swap agreements or other derivative transactions as business
conditions warrant. As of December 31, 2005, the Corporation had no interest rate swap agreements or other
derivative transactions outstanding. Interest rate swap agreements provide an exchange of interest payments
computed on notional amounts that will offset any undesirable change in fair value resulting from market rate
changes on designated hedged items. A swap agreement is a contract between two parties to exchange cash
flows based on specified underlying notional amounts, assets and/or indices. The interest rate swap
agreements utilized by the Corporation in the past qualified for hedge accounting as fair value hedges.
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     According to the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133 (SFAS No. 133), if
the change in the fair value of the derivative hedging instrument and the hedged item is believed to be one
hundred percent correlated at inception, the �short cut� method of accounting would apply, resulting in a
presumption of no hedge ineffectiveness and no income statement impact. For interest rate swaps that do not
meet the criteria for the short-cut accounting method, the Corporation records on a quarterly basis, in
noninterest income, the net change in the fair value of the interest rate swap and the designated hedged item,
attributed to changes in interest rates, provided the criteria for hedge accounting continue to be met. In the
event the criteria for hedge accounting are not met in a future period, the Corporation will cease recording the
change in fair value of the hedged item and will amortize into earnings the then carrying value of the interest
rate swap over the life of the hedged item. The derivative hedging instruments were recorded at fair value in
other assets or other liabilities.
     The Corporation formally documents at inception all relationships between hedging instruments and
hedged items, as well as its risk management objectives and strategies for undertaking various hedge
transactions as required by SFAS No. 133. This documentation includes analysis at inception and is ongoing
relative to the effectiveness of the hedging relationship. The Corporation will discontinue hedge accounting
when it is determined that a derivative is not expected to be or has ceased to be highly effective as a hedge,
and will reflect changes in fair value through the income statement.
     The fair value of interest rate swaps are valued on a quarterly basis by a third party and an internal
valuation model. The valuation is determined using a discounted cash flow model, the implied forward
interest rate curve and a volatility index. The Corporation performs a quarterly assessment based on the third
party valuations to assess whether the derivative used in its hedging transaction has been highly effective in
offsetting changes in the fair value of the hedged item. The effectiveness assessment is conducted using the
cumulative dollar offset method.
     Interest rate swaps assist the Corporation�s Asset Liability Management (�ALM�) process. The Corporation�s
interest rate risk management strategy may include the use of interest rate contracts to manage fluctuations in
earnings that are caused by interest rate volatility. As a result of interest rate fluctuations, hedged fixed-rate
liabilities appreciate or depreciate in market value. Gains or losses on the derivative instruments that are
linked to the hedged fixed-rate liabilities are expected to substantially offset this unrealized appreciation or
depreciation. Exposure to loss on these contracts will increase or decrease over their respective lives as
interest rates fluctuate.
     Credit risk associated with derivatives is measured as the net replacement cost should the counter-parties
with contracts in a gain position to the Corporation fail to perform under the terms of those contracts
assuming no recoveries of underlying collateral. In managing derivative credit risk, both the current exposure,
which is the replacement cost of contracts on the measurement date, as well as an estimate of the potential
change in value of contracts over their remaining lives are considered. In managing credit risk associated with
its derivative activities, the Corporation deals primarily with commercial banks, broker-dealers and
corporations. The Corporation reviews its derivate related credit exposures and limits annually. To minimize
credit risk, the Corporation enters into legally enforceable master netting agreements, which reduce risk by
permitting the closeout and netting of transactions with the same counter-party upon the occurrence of certain
events.
Loan Securitizations
     The Corporation periodically securitizes mortgage loans and transfers them to securities available-for-sale.
This is accomplished by exchanging loans for mortgage-backed securities issued primarily by Freddie Mac
and Fannie Mae. Following the transfers, the securities are reported at estimated fair value based on quoted
market prices, with unrealized gains and losses reflected in accumulated other comprehensive income, net of
deferred income taxes. Since the transfers are not considered a sale, no gain or loss is recorded in conjunction
with these transactions. The Corporation retains the mortgage servicing on the loans exchanged for securities.
At December 31, 2005, the Corporation retained $49.1 million of securitized mortgage loans in its
available-for-sale securities portfolio compared to $92.3 million at December 31, 2004. There were no loan
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Servicing Rights
     The Corporation capitalizes servicing rights when mortgage loans are either securitized or sold and the
loan servicing is retained. The cost of servicing rights is amortized in proportion to and over the estimated
period of net servicing revenues. The amortization of servicing rights is recognized in the income statement as
an offset to noninterest income.
     The carrying value and aggregate estimated fair value of mortgage servicing rights at December 31, 2005
was $1.1 million and $2.2 million, respectively, compared to a carrying value and estimated fair value of
$1.6 million and $2.6 million at December 31, 2004. Servicing rights are periodically evaluated for
impairment based on their fair value. Prior to January 1, 2005, impairment was deemed a permanent
write-down and recognized through the income statement. Beginning on January 1, 2005 impairment was
recognized through a valuation allowance. Fair value is estimated based on market prices for similar assets
and on the discounted estimated present value of future net cash flows based on market consensus loan
prepayment estimates, historical prepayment rates, interest rates and other economic factors. For purposes of
impairment evaluation, the servicing assets are stratified based on predominant risk characteristics of the
underlying loans, including loan type (conventional or government) and note rate. The Corporation had no
write-downs related to its servicing rights for the year ended December 31, 2005. Write-downs of $30,000 and
$530,000 related to service rights were recognized for the years ended December 31, 2004 and December 31,
2003, respectively.
     The following is an analysis of capitalized mortgage servicing rights included in other assets in the
consolidated balance sheets:

Capitalized
Mortgage

Servicing Rights
(Dollars in thousands) 2005 2004 2003

Balance, January 1, $1,647 $ 2,106 $ 1,478
Servicing rights capitalized � 474 2,440
Amortization expense (514) (903) (1,282)
Write-downs � (30) (530)
Valuation allowance � � �

Balance, December 31, $1,133 $ 1,647 $ 2,106

     An increase in prepayment speeds of 10 percent and 20 percent variations may result in a decline in fair
value of $97,000 and $186,000, respectively. Also, the effect of a variation in a particular assumption on the
fair value of the mortgage servicing rights is calculated independently without changing any other assumption.
In reality, changes in one factor may result in changes in another (for example, changes in mortgage interest
rates, which drive changes in prepayment rate estimates, could result in changes in the discount rates), which
may magnify or counteract the sensitivities.
Loan Fees and Costs
     Nonrefundable loan fees and certain direct costs associated with originating or acquiring loans are deferred
and recognized over the contractual life of the related loans as an adjustment to interest income.
Premises and Equipment
     Premises and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation and amortization of
premises and equipment are computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives. Useful
lives range from three to ten years for software, furniture and equipment, from fifteen to forty years for
buildings improvements and building and over the shorter of the estimated useful lives or the terms of the
respective leases for leasehold improvements.
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     In the fourth quarter of 2005, the Corporation corrected the net book value of premises and equipment to
reflect the value of the assets in the fixed asset records. The net amount of the correction was
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approximately $1.4 million and was recognized as a current period reduction of occupancy and equipment
expense of $1.1 million on the Consolidated Statements of Income.
Foreclosed Properties
     Foreclosed properties are included in other assets and represent real estate acquired through foreclosure or
deed in lieu thereof and are carried at the lower of cost or fair value, less estimated costs to sell. The fair
values of such properties are evaluated annually and the carrying value, if greater than the estimated fair value
less costs to sell, is adjusted with a charge to income.
Intangible Assets
     Net assets of companies acquired in purchase transactions are recorded at fair value in other assets at the
date of acquisition, and therefore, the historical cost basis of individual assets and liabilities are adjusted to
reflect their fair value. When a purchase agreement contemplates contingent consideration based on the
performance of the acquired business, the contingent payments are recorded at the performance measurement
date as an additional cost of the acquired enterprise. The additional cost is allocated to the appropriate assets,
which are goodwill or other intangible assets with finite useful lives. Additional costs allocated to assets with
finite useful lives are amortized over the remaining period benefited.
     Identified intangibles are amortized on an accelerated or straight-line basis over the period benefited,
which is generally less than fifteen years. Goodwill is not amortized but is reviewed for potential impairment
on an annual basis, or if events or circumstances indicate a potential impairment, at the reporting unit level. A
reporting unit is defined as an operating segment or one level below an operating segment. The Bank is the
only reporting unit which carries goodwill on its balance sheet.
     The impairment test is performed in two phases. The first step of the goodwill impairment test compares
the fair value of the reporting unit with its carrying amount, including goodwill. If the fair value of the
reporting unit exceeds its carrying amount, goodwill of the reporting unit is considered not impaired;
however, if the carrying amount of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value, an additional procedure must be
performed. That additional procedure compares the implied fair value of the reporting unit�s goodwill with the
carrying amount of that goodwill. An impairment loss is recorded to the extent that the carrying amount of
goodwill exceeds its implied fair value. In 2005 and 2004, the Corporation was not required to perform the
second step of the impairment test as the fair value of its reporting units exceeded the carrying amount.
     Other intangible assets are amortized on an accelerated basis or straight-line basis over the period
benefited, which is generally less than fifteen years. They are evaluated for impairment if events and
circumstances indicate a possible impairment. Such evaluation of other intangible assets is based on
undiscounted cash flow projections.
Income Taxes
     Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying
amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and operating loss and tax credit
carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to
taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The
effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that
includes the enactment date.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
     For purposes of reporting cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, amounts due from
banks and federal funds sold. Generally, federal funds are sold for one-day periods.
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Securities Sold under Agreements to Repurchase
     Securities sold under agreements to repurchase, which are classified as secured short-term borrowed funds,
generally mature less than one year from the transaction date. Securities sold under agreements to repurchase
are reflected at the amount of cash received in connection with the borrowing. The terms of the repurchase
agreement may require the Corporation to provide additional collateral if the fair value of the securities
underlying the borrowings decline during the term of the agreement.
Equity Method Investments
     The Corporation�s equity method investments represent investments in venture capital limited partnerships.
     The Corporation�s recognition of earnings or losses from an equity method investment is determined by the
Corporation�s share of the investee�s earnings on a quarterly basis (or, in the case of some smaller investments,
on an annual basis if there has been no significant change in values). The limited partnerships generally
provide their financial information during the quarter after the end of a given period, and the Corporation�s
policy is to record its share of earnings or losses on these equity method investments in the quarter such
financial information is received.
     These limited partnerships record their investments in investee companies on a fair value basis, with
changes in the underlying fair values being reflected as an adjustment to their earnings in the period such
changes are determined. The earnings of these limited partnerships, and therefore the amount recorded on an
equity-method basis by the Corporation, are impacted significantly by changes in the underlying value of the
companies in which these limited partnerships invest. All of the companies in which these limited
partnerships invest are privately held, and their market values are not readily available. Estimations of these
values are made by the management of the limited partnerships and are reviewed by the Corporation�s
management for reasonableness. The assumptions in the valuation of these investments include the viability of
the business model, the ability of the investee company to obtain alternative financing, the ability to generate
revenues in future periods and other subjective factors. Given the inherent risks associated with this type of
investment in the current economic environment, there can be no guarantee that there will not be widely
varying gains or losses on these equity method investments in future periods.
Net Income Per Share
     Basic net income per share is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of shares
of common stock outstanding for the year. Diluted net income per share reflects the potential dilution that
could occur if the Corporation�s potential common stock and contingently issuable shares, which consist of
dilutive stock options and restricted stock, were issued. The numerators of the basic net income per share
computations are the same as the numerators of the diluted net income per share computations for all periods
presented.
     A reconciliation of the basic average common shares outstanding to the diluted average common shares
outstanding is as follows:

Years Ended December 31
2005 2004 2003

Basic weighted average number of common
shares outstanding 30,457,573 29,859,683 29,789,969
Dilutive effect arising from potential common
stock issuances 326,833 417,380 217,466

Diluted weighted average number of common
shares outstanding 30,784,406 30,277,063 30,007,435
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     The effects of outstanding antidilutive stock options are excluded from the computation of diluted earnings
per share. These amounts were 1.1 million shares, 720,000 shares and 723,000 shares for the years ended
December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively.
Dividends Per Share
     Dividends declared by the Corporation were $0.76 per share, $0.75 per share and $0.74 per share for the
years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
Stock-Based Compensation
     The Corporation accounts for stock-based compensation under the provisions of Accounting Principles
Board Opinion No. 25, �Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.� The pro forma impact on net income per
share as if the fair value of stock-based compensation plans had been recorded as a component of
compensation expense in the consolidated financial statements as of the date of grant of awards related to such
plans, pursuant to the provisions of the Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, �Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation� and Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 148, �Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation � Transition and Disclosure an amendment to FASB Statement No. 123�, is
disclosed as follows:

Years Ended December 31,
(Dollars in thousands, except per share data) 2005 2004 2003

Net income, as reported $25,311 $42,442 $14,146
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense
determined under fair value based method for all awards, net
of related tax effects (1,733) (1,821) (2,293)
Impact of change in prior period forfeiture assumptions 932 � �

Pro forma net income $24,510 $40,621 $11,853

Earnings per share:
Basic-as reported $ 0.83 $ 1.42 $ 0.47

Basic-pro forma $ 0.80 $ 1.36 $ 0.40

Diluted-as reported $ 0.82 $ 1.40 $ 0.47

Diluted-pro forma $ 0.80 $ 1.34 $ 0.40

     During 2005, the Corporation recognized a $0.9 million reduction in pro forma net income due to the
impact of prior period actual forfeitures differing from estimates.
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     The fair value of each option granted was estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the
following weighted average assumptions:

Years Ended December 31,
2005 2004 2003

2000 Omnibus Stock Option and Award Plan
Dividend yield 3.19% 3.52% 3.79%
Risk free interest rates 4.01% 4.04% 4.09%
Expected lives 8 years 8 years 8 years
Volatility 26% 26% 33%

Comprehensive Stock Option Plan
Dividend yield 3.20% � �
Risk free interest rates 4.10% � �
Expected lives 7 years � �
Volatility 26% � �

Director Plan
Dividend yield � 3.70% 3.79%
Risk free interest rates � 4.05% 3.95%
Expected lives � 10 years 9 years
Volatility � 26% 33%

1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan
Dividend yield 2.93% 3.76% 3.79%
Risk free interest rates 2.79% 1.31% 4.07%
Expected lives 1 year 1 year 1 year
Volatility 26% 23% 33%
Note Two � Business Segment Information
     The Corporation operates one reportable segment, the Bank, the Corporation�s primary banking subsidiary.
The Bank provides businesses and individuals with commercial, consumer and mortgage loans, deposit
banking services, brokerage services, insurance products, and comprehensive financial planning solutions to
individual and commercial clients. The results of operations of the Bank constitute a substantial majority of
the consolidated net income, revenues and assets of the Corporation. Included in Other are the parent
company�s revenues, expenses, assets which include cash, securities available-for-sale and investments in
venture capital limited partnerships, and liabilities which include commercial paper and subordinated
debentures.
     The accounting policies of the Bank are the same as those described in Note One.
     The Corporation continuously assesses its assumptions, methodologies and reporting classifications to
better reflect the true economics of the Corporation�s business segments. Based on these continuous
assessments, during the second quarter of 2005, the Corporation changed the composition of its reportable
segments to collapse insurance, brokerage, mortgage, leasing and financial management services into the
Bank. Accordingly, the Corporation restated its business segment disclosure for 2004 and 2003.
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     The following tables present selected segment information for the Bank and other operating units:

For the year
ended

December 31,
2005

(Dollars in thousands) The Bank Other Eliminations Totals

Total interest income $ 224,567 $ 38 $ � $ 224,605
Total interest expense 97,490 2,232 � 99,722

Net interest income (loss) 127,077 (2,194) � 124,883
Provision for loan losses 9,343 � � 9,343
Total noninterest income 50,074 139 � 50,213
Total noninterest expense 131,000 222 � 131,222

Net income (loss) before income taxes 36,808 (2,277) � 34,531
Income taxes expense (benefit) 9,828 (608) � 9,220

Net income (loss) $ 26,980 $ (1,669) $ � $ 25,311

Total loans held for sale and loans,
net $ 2,923,467 $ � $ � $2,923,467
Total assets 4,216,063 445,788 (429,432) 4,232,420

For the year
ended

December 31,
2004

(Dollars in thousands) The Bank Other Eliminations Totals

Total interest income $ 187,253 $ 50 $ � $ 187,303
Total interest expense 63,511 782 � 64,293

Net interest income (loss) 123,742 (732) � 123,010
Provision for loan losses 8,425 � � 8,425
Total noninterest income 59,639 1,257 � 60,896
Total noninterest expense 110,814 203 � 111,017

Net income before income taxes 64,142 322 � 64,464
Income taxes expense 21,912 110 � 22,022

Net income $ 42,230 $ 212 $ � $ 42,442

Total loans held for sale and loans, net $ 2,417,855 $ � $ � $2,417,855
Total assets 4,410,081 391,703 (370,179) 4,431,605
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For the year
ended

December 31,
2003

(Dollars in thousands) The Bank Other Eliminations Totals

Total interest income $ 178,220 $ 72 $ � $ 178,292
Total interest expense 69,893 597 � 70,490

Net interest income (loss) 108,327 (525) � 107,802
Provision for loan losses 27,518 � � 27,518
Total noninterest income 63,896 37 � 63,933
Total noninterest expense 126,718 67 � 126,785

Net income before income taxes 17,987 (555) � 17,432
Income taxes expense 3,391 (105) � 3,286

Net income $ 14,596 $ (450) $ � $ 14,146

Total loans held for sale and loans, net $ 2,232,167 $ � $ � $2,232,167
Total assets 4,183,057 354,680 (331,044) 4,206,693
Note Three � Acquisitions

(a) Insurance Agencies. In December of 2004, the Corporation, through a subsidiary of the Bank, acquired
Smith & Associates Insurance Services, Inc. This acquisition was recorded using the purchase accounting
method. The purchase price delivered at closing consisted of 27,726 shares of Common Stock valued at
$750,000. During 2005 the Corporation issued 3,117 additional shares of Common Stock valued at $84,000
related to this acquisition. The amount of additional common stock payments, if earned, is currently valued at
$980,000 and is based on the post-closing performance of the business.
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     In July and October of 2003, the Corporation, through a subsidiary of the Bank, acquired Piedmont
Insurance Agency, Inc. and Robertson Insurance Agency, Inc., respectively. These acquisitions were recorded
using the purchase accounting method. The initial purchase price for both agencies totaled $1.1 million in
cash. The purchase agreements also contemplate additional cash payments based on the post-closing
performance of the acquired businesses. Based on this agreement and the performance of the businesses, the
Corporation paid approximately $371,000 and $415,000 during 2005 and 2004, respectively. The amount of
subsequent additional payments, if earned, is currently expected to total approximately $211,000. Pro forma
financial information reflecting the effect of these acquisitions on periods prior to the combination is not
considered material.
(b) Third Party Benefits Administrator. In July of 2003, the Corporation, through a subsidiary of the Bank,
purchased a third party benefits administrator in a stock transaction. This acquisition was accounted for as a
purchase. The purchase price delivered at closing consisted of Common Stock valued at $1.32 million, and the
agreement contemplated additional Common Stock payments based on the post-closing performance of the
business. Based on this agreement and the performance of the business, during the third quarter of 2004 the
Corporation issued 20,244 additional shares of Common Stock valued at $425,000 for the period of July 1,
2003 through June 30, 2004. In the fourth quarter of 2005, the Corporation issued 18,160 additional shares of
Common Stock valued at $416,000 for the period of July 1, 2004 through June 30, 2005. There will be no
additional contingent issuances of Common Stock related to this transaction. The results of operations of this
entity are included in the consolidated results of operations of the Corporation from the date of the acquisition.
Pro forma financial information reflecting the effect of this acquisition on periods prior to the combination is
not considered material.
Note Four � Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
     The following is a summary of the gross carrying amount and accumulated amortization of amortized
intangible assets and the carrying amount of unamortized intangible assets:

December 31,
2005 2004

Gross
Carrying Accumulated

Gross
Carrying Accumulated

(Dollars in thousands) Amount Amortization Amount Amortization

Amortized intangible assets:
Noncompete agreements $ 1,037 $ 979 $ 1,037 $ 949
Customer lists 2,676 998 2,270 545
Other intangibles (1) 379 127 306 72

Total $ 4,092 $ 2,104 $ 3,613 $ 1,566

Unamortized intangible assets:
Goodwill (2) $19,910 $ � $19,547 $ �

(1) Other intangibles include trade name and proprietary software.

(2) Goodwill of $19,910 is recorded in the Bank.
     The gross carrying amount of customer lists increased to $2.7 million at December 31, 2005 from
$2.3 million at December 31, 2004. The increase was due to the following: $264,000 recorded from the
previously mentioned performance payments for Piedmont Insurance Agency, Inc. and Robertson Insurance
Agency, Inc. to be amortized over the remaining estimated useful life of five years, and $141,000 recorded
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from the previously mentioned final performance payments for a third party benefits administrator to be
amortized over the remaining estimated useful life of eight years.
     The gross carrying amount of other intangibles increased to $379,000 at December 31, 2005 from
$306,000 at December 31, 2004 due to $73,000 recorded from the previously mentioned performance
payments for a third party benefits administrator to be amortized over the remaining estimated useful life of
eight years.
     The gross carrying amount of goodwill increased to $19.9 million at December 31, 2005 from
$19.5 million at December 31, 2004 primarily due to goodwill of $202,000 related to the final contractual
payment made in connection with the performance of the Corporation�s third party benefits administrator,
$110,000
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associated with the contractual payments made in connection with the performance of Piedmont Insurance
Agency, Inc., and $84,000 associated with the acquisition of Smith & Associates Insurance Services, Inc.
There was no impairment of goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004.
     Amortization expense totaled $538,000, $461,000 and $441,000 for the years ended December 31, 2005,
2004 and 2003, respectively.
     The following table presents the estimated amortization expense for intangible assets:

Noncompete Customer Other
(Dollars in thousands) Agreements Lists Intangibles Total

2006 $ 30 $ 474 $ 62 $ 566
2007 28 386 54 468
2008 � 298 46 344
2009 � 210 36 246
2010 � 125 27 152

2011 and after � 185 27 212

Total $ 58 $1,678 $ 252 $1,988

Note Five � Comprehensive Income
     Comprehensive income is defined as the change in equity from all transactions other than those with
stockholders, and it includes net income and other comprehensive income. The Corporation�s only component
of other comprehensive income is the change in unrealized gains and losses on available for sale securities.
     The Corporation�s total comprehensive income for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 was
$18.9 million, $31.4 million and $4.4 million, respectively. Information concerning the Corporation�s other
comprehensive income is as follows:

Years ended December 31,
2005 2004 2003

Before
Tax

After
Tax

Before
Tax After Tax

Before
Tax

After
Tax

(Dollars in thousands) Amount
Tax
Effect Amount Amount

Tax
Effect Amount Amount

Tax
Effect Amount

Comprehensive
income:
Net income $ 34,531 $ 9,220 $ 25,311 $ 64,464 $22,022 $ 42,442 $ 17,432 $ 3,286 $14,146

Other comprehensive
(loss) income:
Unrealized
(losses) gains on
securities:
Unrealized
(losses) gains arising
during period (27,318) (10,886) (16,432) (15,685) (6,116) (9,569) (5,722) (2,242) (3,480)
Less: Reclassification
for realized
(losses) gains (16,690) (6,651) (10,039) 2,383 929 1,454 10,287 4,012 6,275
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Unrealized (losses),
net of reclassification $(10,628) $ (4,235) $ (6,393) $(18,068) $ (7,045) $(11,023) $(16,009) $(6,254) $ (9,755)

Total comprehensive
income $ 23,903 $ 4,985 $ 18,918 $ 46,396 $14,977 $ 31,419 $ 1,423 $(2,968) $ 4,391
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Note Six � Securities Available-for-Sale
     Securities available-for-sale are summarized as follows:

December 31, 2005
Gross Gross

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
(Dollars in thousands) Cost Gains Losses Value

US government obligations $ 14,905 $ � $ 27 $ 14,878
US government agency obligations 327,418 21 7,032 320,407
Mortgage-backed securities 417,891 335 12,776 405,450
State, county, and municipal obligations 108,298 1,125 427 108,996
Equity securities 44,198 188 � 44,386
Other 5,000 � 6 4,994

Total $917,710 $1,669 $20,268 $899,111

December 31, 2004
Gross Gross

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
(Dollars in thousands) Cost Gains Losses Value

US government obligations $ 54,755 $ 331 $ 712 $ 54,374
US government agency obligations 697,083 908 6,021 691,970
Mortgage-backed securities 731,389 3,349 8,357 726,381
State, county, and municipal obligations 112,935 2,568 123 115,380
Equity securities 64,541 86 � 64,627

Total $1,660,703 $7,242 $15,213 $1,652,732

     The contractual maturity distribution and yields (computed on a taxable-equivalent basis) of the
Corporation�s securities portfolio at December 31, 2005 are summarized below. Actual maturities may differ
from contractual maturities shown below since borrowers may have the right to pre-pay these obligations
without pre-payment penalties.

Due after 1 Due after 5
Due in 1 year through 5 through 10 Due after

or less years years 10 years Total
(Dollars in thousands) Amount Yield Amount Yield Amount Yield Amount Yield Amount Yield

Fair value of
securities available
for sale
U.S. government
obligations $14,878 4.28% $ � �%$ � �%$ � �%$ 14,878 4.28%
U.S. government
agency obligations 16,033 4.77 304,374 3.58 � � � � 320,407 3.64

11,791 4.49 351,032 4.16 42,627 4.66 � � 405,450 4.22
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Mortgage-backed
securities (1)
State and municipal
obligations 17,979 7.28 44,648 6.37 10,826 5.20 35,543 5.34 108,996 6.07
Equity securities (2) � � � � � � 44,386 4.38 44,386 4.38
Other � � 4,994 6.69 � � � � 4,994 6.69

Total $60,681 5.34% $705,048 4.07% $53,453 4.77% $79,929 4.81% $899,111 4.26%

Amortized cost of
securities available
for sale $60,516 $723,144 $54,348 $79,702 $917,710

(1) Maturities estimated based on average life of security.

(2) Although equity securities have no stated maturity, they are presented for illustrative purposes only.
     Securities with an aggregate carrying value of $557.1 million and $1.14 billion at December 31, 2005 and
2004, respectively, were pledged to secure public deposits, securities sold under agreements to repurchase and
Federal Home Loan Bank (FHLB) borrowings.
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     Gross gains and losses recognized on the sale of securities are summarized as follows:

Years ended December 31,
(Dollars in thousands) 2005 2004 2003

Gross gains $ 1,225 $ 3,447 $10,376
Gross losses (17,915) (1,064) (89)

Net (losses) gains $(16,690) $ 2,383 $10,287

     At December 31, 2005 and 2004, the Bank owned stock in the Federal Home Loan Bank of Atlanta with a
cost basis (par value) of $37.5 million and $59.3 million, respectively, which is included in equity securities.
While these securities have no quoted fair value, they are redeemable at par value from the FHLB. In addition,
the Bank owned Federal Reserve Bank stock with a cost basis (par value) of $5.6 million and $4.1 million at
December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, which is included in equity securities.
     There were no write-downs for other-than-temporary declines in the fair value of debt and equity securities
in 2005, 2004 or 2003.
     As of December 31, 2005, there were no issues of securities available-for-sale (excluding U.S. government
agency obligations), which had carrying values that exceeded 10 percent of shareholders� equity of the
Corporation.
     At December 31, 2005, mortgage-backed securities of $383.7 million were considered temporarily
impaired. The Corporation�s mortgage-backed securities are investment grade securities backed by a pool of
mortgages. Principal and interest payments on the underlying mortgages are used to pay monthly interest and
principal on the securities. U.S. government agency obligations of $304.4 million were considered
temporarily impaired at December 31, 2005. U.S. government agency obligations are interest-bearing debt
securities of U.S. government agencies (i.e. FNMA and FHLMC). U.S. government obligations of
$14.9 million were considered temporarily impaired at December 31, 2005. These obligations are debt
securities issued by the U.S. Treasury. State, county and municipal obligations of $20.6 million were
considered temporarily impaired at December 31, 2005.
     The unrealized losses shown in the following table resulted primarily from an increase in rates across the
yield curve.

As of December 31, 2005
Less than 12 months 12 months or longer Total

Gross Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized

(Dollars in thousands) Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses

US government obligations $ 14,878 $ (27) $ � $ � $ 14,878 $ (27)
US government agency
obligations 58,593 (1,111) 245,781 (5,921) 304,374 (7,032)
Mortgage-backed securities 115,587 (1,914) 268,121 (10,862) 383,708 (12,776)
State, county and muncipal
obligations 13,569 (170) 7,039 (257) 20,608 (427)
Other 4,994 (6) � � 4,994 (6)

Total temporarily
impaired securities $207,621 $(3,228) $520,941 $(17,040) $728,562 $(20,268)
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     At December 31, 2005, investments in a gross unrealized loss position included four U.S. government
obligations, twenty-seven U.S. agency securities, forty-three mortgage-backed securities, nineteen municipal
obligations and one other asset backed security. The unrealized losses associated with these securities were
not considered to be other-than-temporary, because they were related to changes in interest rates and did not
affect the expected cash flows of the underlying collateral or the issuer. In addition, investments that have
been in an unrealized loss position for longer than one year have an external credit rating of AAA by Standard
& Poors or are US government obligations issued by the U.S. Treasury. At December 31, 2005, the
Corporation had the ability and the intent to hold these investments to recovery of fair market value.
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Note Seven � Trading Activity
     The Corporation records the write up or write down in the market value of the First Charter Option Plan
Trust (the �OPT Plan�) as a trading gain or loss. The OPT Plan is a tax-deferred capital accumulation plan. For
more information concerning the OPT Plan, see Note Fifteen. In addition, the Corporation has engaged in
writing over-the-counter covered call options on specific fixed income securities in the available for sale
portfolio. Under these agreements, the Corporation agrees to sell, upon election by the option holder, a fixed
income security at a fixed price. The Corporation receives a premium from the option holder in exchange for
writing the option contract. The Corporation recognized income of $0.1 million in 2005 and $0.2 million in
2004 primarily from the mark to market of the investments in the OPT Plan. Income of $1.8 million was
recognized in 2003 primarily from written covered call options. There were no written covered call options
outstanding at December 31, 2005 and 2004, or at any time during those periods. There were no written
covered call options outstanding at December 31, 2003. The highest written covered call options outstanding
at any time during 2003 was $125.2 million.
Note Eight � Derivatives
     The Corporation accounts for interest rate swaps as a hedge of the fair value of the designated FHLB
advances. At December 31, 2005, the Corporation was not a party to any interest rate swap agreements. In the
fourth quarter of 2005, the Corporation extinguished its FHLB advances which had related interest rate swaps
as hedges. The Corporation incurred a pre-tax loss of approximately $7.8 million on the extinguishment of the
related interest rate swaps. For the year ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, the Corporation recognized a net
gain of $5,000 and $69,000, respectively, for the ineffective portion of the interest rate swaps. At
December 31, 2004 the interest rate swaps had gross unrealized gains of $1.5 million and gross unrealized
losses of $5.7 million.
Note Nine � Loans
     The Corporation�s primary market area includes North and South Carolina, and predominately centers
around the Metro region of Charlotte and Raleigh, North Carolina. At December 31, 2005, the majority of the
total loan portfolio was to borrowers within this region. The diversity of the region�s economic base provides a
stable lending environment. No areas of significant concentrations of credit risk have been identified due to
the diverse industrial base in the region.
     Loans are categorized as follows:

December 31,
2005 2004

(Dollars in thousands) Amount Percent Amount Percent

Commercial real estate $ 780,597 26.5% $ 776,474 31.8%
Commercial non real estate 233,409 7.9 212,031 8.7
Construction 517,392 17.6 332,264 13.6
Mortgage 573,007 19.4 347,606 14.2
Consumer 358,592 12.2 304,151 12.5
Home equity 482,921 16.4 467,166 19.2

Total loans $2,945,918 100.0% $2,439,692 100.0%

     Loans held for sale consist primarily of 15- and 30-year mortgages which the Corporation intends to sell as
whole loans. Loans held for sale are carried at the lower of aggregate cost or market, and at December 31,
2005 no valuation allowance was recorded. Loans held for sale were $6.4 million and $5.3 million at
December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
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     The table below summarizes the Corporation�s nonperforming assets and loans 90 days or more past due
and still accruing interest.

December 31,
(Dollars in thousands) 2005 2004

Nonaccrual loans $10,811 $13,970
Other real estate owned 5,124 3,844

Total nonperforming assets 15,935 17,814

Loans 90 days or more past due and still accruing � �

Total nonperforming assets and loans 90 days or more past due and
still accruing $15,935 $17,814

     At December 31, 2005, the recorded investment in individually impaired loans was $8.2 million. Of the
$8.2 million, $4.3 million were on nonaccrual status and had specific reserves of $0.6 million and $3.9 million
were accruing and had specific reserves of $0.7 million. The average recorded investment in individually
impaired loans for 2005 was $9.6 million. The income recognized on impaired loans during 2005 was
approximately $195,000, all of which was recognized using the accrual method of income recognition.
     At December 31, 2004, the recorded investment in individually impaired loans was $15.0 million. Of the
$15.0 million, $9.3 million were on nonaccrual status and had specific reserves of $2.6 million and
$5.7 million were accruing and had specific reserves of $2.5 million. The average recorded investment in
individually impaired loans for 2004 was $11.3 million. The income recognized on impaired loans during
2004 was approximately $127,000, of which $109,000 was recognized using the accrual method of income
recognition and $18,000 was recognized using the cash method of income recognition. The average recorded
investment in individually impaired loans for 2003 was $10.5 million, and the income recognized during 2003
was $0.1 million, all of which was recognized using the cash method of income recognition.
     The following is a reconciliation of loans outstanding to executive officers, directors and their associates:

(Dollars in
thousands)

Balance at December 31, 2004 $ 760
New loans 878
Principal repayments (175)
Director and Officer changes 283

Balance at December 31, 2005 $ 1,746

     In the opinion of management, these loans were made on substantially the same terms, including interest
rates and collateral, as those prevailing at the time for comparable transactions with other borrowers. Such
loans, in the opinion of management, do not involve more than the normal risks of collectibility.
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Note Ten � Allowance for Loan Losses
     The following is a summary of the changes in the allowance for loan losses:

Years ended December 31,
(Dollars in thousands) 2005 2004 2003

Beginning balance $26,872 $25,607 $ 27,204
Provision for loan losses 9,343 8,425 27,518
Allowance related to loans sold, securitized or transferred
to held for sale � (584) (20,783)

Charge-offs (8,652) (8,552) (9,480)
Recoveries 1,162 1,976 1,148

Net loan charge-offs (7,490) (6,576) (8,332)

Ending balance $28,725 $26,872 $ 25,607

Note Eleven � Premises and Equipment
     Premises and equipment are summarized as follows:

December 31,
(Dollars in thousands) 2005 2004

Land $ 23,817 $ 23,490
Buildings 73,954 71,745
Furniture and equipment 53,281 55,261
Leasehold improvements 10,446 2,973
Construction in progress 2,023 2,384

Total premises and equipment 163,521 155,853

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 56,748 58,288

Premises and equipment, net $106,773 $ 97,565

     In the fourth quarter of 2005, the Corporation corrected the net book value of premises and equipment to
reflect the value of the assets in the fixed asset records. The net amount of the correction was approximately
$1.4 million and was recognized as a current period reduction of occupancy and equipment expense on the
Consolidated Statements of Income.
Note Twelve � Deposits
     A summary of deposit balances is as follows:

December 31,
(Dollars in thousands) 2005 2004

Noninterest bearing demand $ 429,758 $ 377,793
Interest bearing demand 368,291 348,677
Money market accounts 559,865 478,314
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Savings deposits 119,824 119,615
Certificates of deposit 1,321,741 1,285,447

Total deposits $2,799,479 $2,609,846

     At December 31, 2005, the aggregate amount of certificates of deposit with denominations of $100,000 or
more was $813.6 million, with $200.7 million maturing within three months, $204.9 million maturing within
three to six months, $281.1 million maturing within six to twelve months and $126.9 million maturing after
twelve months.
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     At December 31, 2005, the scheduled maturities of all certificates of deposit are as follows:

(Dollars in thousands)

2006 $1,068,923
2007 194,581
2008 43,685
2009 8,472
2010 6,041
2011 and after 39

Total $1,321,741

Note Thirteen � Other Borrowings
     The following is a schedule of other borrowings:

December 31,
(Dollars in thousands) 2005 2004

Federal funds purchased and securities sold under agreements
to repurchase $ 312,283 $ 250,314
Commercial paper and other short-term borrowings 198,432 325,684
Long-term debt 557,859 873,738

Total other borrowings $1,068,574 $1,449,736

     Securities sold under agreements to repurchase represent short-term borrowings by the Bank with
maturities less than one year collateralized by a portion of the Corporation�s securities of the United States
government or its agencies, which have been delivered to a third party custodian for safekeeping. Securities
with an aggregate carrying value of $262.7 million at December 31, 2005 were pledged to secure securities
sold under agreements to repurchase.
     Federal funds purchased represent unsecured overnight borrowings from other financial institutions by the
Bank. At December 31, 2005, the Bank had federal funds back-up lines of credit totaling $100.0 million with
$25.0 million outstanding.
     First Charter Corporation issues commercial paper as another source of short-term funding. It is purchased
primarily by the Bank�s commercial clients. Commercial paper outstanding at December 31, 2005 was
$58.4 million compared to $59.7 million at December 31, 2004.
     Other short-term borrowings consists of the FHLB borrowings with an original maturity of one year or less
FHLB borrowings are collateralized by securities from the Corporation�s investment portfolio, and a blanket
lien on certain qualifying commercial and single-family loans held in the Corporation�s loan portfolio. At
December 31, 2005, the Bank had $140.0 million of short-term FHLB borrowings compared to $254.0 million
at December 31, 2004. In addition, at December 31, 2004 the Corporation had $25.0 million credit line with
Wells Fargo Bank with $12.0 outstanding.
     Long-term borrowings represent FHLB borrowings with original maturities greater than one year and
subordinated debentures related to trust preferred securities. At December 31, 2005, the Bank had
$496.0 million of long-term FHLB borrowings compared to $873.7 million at December 31, 2004. In
addition, the Corporation had $61.9 million of subordinated debentures at December 31, 2005.
     The Corporation formed First Charter Capital Trust I and First Charter Capital Trust II (the �Trusts�), in
June 2005 and September 2005, respectively; both are wholly owned business trusts. First Charter Capital
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Trust I and First Charter Capital Trust II issued $35 million and $25 million, respectively, of trust securities
that were sold to third parties. The proceeds of the sale of the Trust Securities were used to purchase
subordinated debentures (the �Notes�) from the Corporation, which are presented as long-term borrowings in
the Consolidated Balance Sheet and qualify for inclusion in Tier 1 capital for regulatory capital purposes,
subject to certain limitations.
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     The following table is a summary of the outstanding Trust Securities and the Notes at December 31, 2005.

Aggregate

Principal Aggregate
Per
Annum

Amount of
Trust Prinicpal Stated Interest Interest

Preferred
Amount
of

Maturity
of

Rate
of
the Payment Redemption

Issuer
Issuance
Date Securitites the Notes

the
Notes Notes Dates Period

First Charter
Corporation

3 mo. 3/15, 6/15,

September
LIBOR
+ 9/15, On or after

Capital Trust I
June
2005 35,000 36,083 2035

169
bps 12/15 9/15/2010

3 mo. 3/15, 6/15,

December
LIBOR

+ 9/15, On or after

Capital Trust II
September
2005 25,000 25,774 2035

142
bps 12/15 12/15/2010

Total $ 60,000 $ 61,857

     In October 2005, the Corporation extinguished $222 million of its FHLB advances and related interest rate
swaps. The Corporation incurred a prepayment penalty of approximately $6.4 million pre-tax to extinguish
these FHLB advances and incurred a loss of approximately $7.8 million pre-tax on the extinguishment of the
related interest rate swaps. In addition, the Corporation extinguished $25 million in FHLB advances and
incurred a prepayment penalty of approximately $0.5 million pre-tax to extinguish this debt. Also, the
Corporation repaid overnight borrowings of approximately $224 million.
     FHLB advances with balances of $50.0 million at December 31, 2005, were subject to being called by the
FHLB at par. If these advances were called, the Corporation would have the option to pay off the advances,
convert the advances to 3 month LIBOR or fund the payoffs with new advances.
     The following is a schedule of annual maturities of other borrowings:
As of December 31, 2005

(Dollars in thousands) 2006 2007 2008 20092010Thereafter Total

Federal funds purchased and
securities sold under agreements
to repurchase $312,283 $ � $ � $ � $ � $ � $ 312,283

198,432 � � � � � 198,432
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Commercial paper and other
short-term borrowings
Long-term debt 285,000 160,000 50,000 62,859 557,859

Total other borrowings $795,715 $160,000 $50,000 $ � $ � $62,859 $1,068,574

Note Fourteen � Income Tax
     The components of income tax expense (benefit) consists of the following:

Years ended December 31,
(Dollars in thousands) 2005 2004 2003

Current:
Federal $8,763 $15,470 $ (473)
State 704 2,426 94

Total current $9,467 $17,896 $ (379)

Deferred:
Federal $ (219) $ 4,193 $3,565
State (28) (67) 100

Total deferred $ (247) $ 4,126 $3,665

Total income taxes:
Federal $8,544 $19,663 $3,092
State 676 2,359 194

Total income taxes $9,220 $22,022 $3,286
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     Total income taxes were allocated as follows:

Years ended December 31,
(Dollars in thousands) 2005 2004 2003

Net income $ 9,220 $22,022 $ 3,286
Shareholders� equity, for unrealized losses on securities
available for sale (4,235) (7,045) (6,254)

Total $ 4,985 $14,977 $(2,968)

     Income tax expense attributable to net income differed from the amounts computed by applying the U.S.
federal statutory income tax rate of 35 percent to pretax income as follows:

Years ended December 31,
(Dollars in thousands) 2005 2004 2003

Federal tax at statutory rate $12,086 35.00% $22,563 35.00% $ 6,101 35.00%
Increase (reduction) in income
taxes resulting from:
Tax exempt income (1,335) (3.87) (1,318) (2.04) (1,058) (6.07)
Bank owned life insurance (1,509) (4.37) (1,195) (1.85) (1,361) (7.81)
State income tax, net of federal 439 1.27 1,534 2.37 126 0.72
Change in valuation allowance (526) (1.52) (200) (0.31) 63 0.36
Other, net 65 0.19 638 0.99 (585) (3.35)

Total $ 9,220 26.70% $22,022 34.16% $ 3,286 18.85%

     The change in net deferred tax assets is as follows:

Years ended December 31,
(Dollars in thousands) 2005 2004 2003

Deferred tax expense (benefit) (exclusive of the effects
of other components below) $ (247) $ 4,126 $ 3,665
Shareholders� equity, for unrealized gains (losses) on
securities available for sale (4,235) (7,045) (6,254)
Purchase accounting adjustment � (135) (269)

Total $(4,482) $(3,054) $(2,858)

     The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax assets and
liabilities, included in other assets, are as follows:

December 31,
(Dollars in thousands) 2005 2004

Deferred tax assets:
Allowance for loan losses $11,352 $10,631
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Unrealized losses on securities available for sale 7,213 2,978
Deferred compensation 2,465 2,571
Investments 506 523
Depreciable assets 4,547 6,076
Other 1,955 1,310

Total gross deferred tax assets 28,038 24,089

Less valuation allowance 110 636

Net deferred tax assets 27,928 23,453

Deferred tax liabilities:
Loan Origination Costs (2,605) (2,605)
Federal Home Loan Bank of Atlanta stock (1,053) (1,053)
Mortgage Servicing Rights (447) (650)
Intangibles (1,248) (944)
Other (515) (623)

Total gross deferred tax liabilities (5,868) (5,875)

Net deferred tax asset $22,060 $17,578
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     The Corporation has recorded a valuation allowance of $110,000 and $636,000 in 2005 and 2004,
respectively, against deferred tax assets primarily for capital loss carryforwards that management believes it is
more likely than not to be realized. The Corporation has a capital loss carryforward of approximately
$256,000 expiring in 2009, this carryforward can only be used to offset future capital gains.
     The Corporation is currently under examination by the North Carolina Department of Revenue for 1999
and 2000 and is subject to examination for subsequent tax years. In the third quarter of 2004, the Corporation
received a proposed assessment that the Corporation is appealing. As a result of the proposed assessment and
management�s periodic review of its income tax positions, additional income tax expense of $818,000 was
recorded in 2004. The Corporation�s maximum exposure related to this assessment in excess of the current
reserve is approximately $1.5 million, net of tax. The ultimate tax implications for 1999 and 2000 may impact
tax years beyond 2000. Management believes there will be no material impact on the consolidated results of
operations as a result of this examination.
Note Fifteen � Employee Benefit Plans

First Charter Retirement Savings Plan. The Corporation has a qualified Retirement Savings Plan (the
�Savings Plan�) for all eligible employees of the Corporation. Pursuant to the Savings Plan, an eligible
employee may elect to defer between 1 percent and 50 percent of compensation. At the discretion of the
Board of Directors, the Corporation may contribute an amount necessary to match all or a portion of a
participant�s elective deferrals in an amount to be determined by the Board of Directors from time to time, up
to a maximum of six percent of a participant�s compensation. In addition, the Corporation may contribute an
additional amount to each participant�s Savings Plan account as determined at the discretion of the Board of
Directors. Participants may invest their Savings Plan account in a variety of investment options, including the
Corporation�s stock. Effective March 1, 2002 the portion of the Savings Plan consisting of the Company Stock
Fund (ESOP) was designated as an employee stock ownership plan under Code section 4975(e)(7) and that
fund is designed to invest primarily in the Corporation�s stock. The Corporation�s aggregate contributions to the
Savings Plan amounted to $1.8 million, $2.5 million and $1.8 million for 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

First Charter Option Plan Trust. Effective December 1, 2001, the Corporation approved and adopted a
non-qualified compensation deferral arrangement called the First Charter Option Plan Trust (the �OPT Plan�).
The OPT Plan is a tax-deferred capital accumulation plan. Under the OPT Plan, eligible participants may elect
to defer all of their base salary and bonus and invest these deferrals into mutual fund investments. In addition,
the Corporation may grant participants cash bonuses which may be deferred under the OPT Plan. Participants
are offered the opportunity to direct an administrative committee to invest in separate investment funds with
distinct investment objectives and risk tolerances. Eligible employees for the OPT Plan include executive
management as well as key members of senior management. The deferred compensation obligation pursuant
to this plan is equal to the Plan assets, which are held in a Rabbi Trust. Plan assets totaled approximately
$0.4 million and $0.9 million at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, and are classified as trading
assets, which is included in other assets on the consolidated balance sheet.

First Charter Directors� Option Deferral Plan. Effective May 1, 2001, the Corporation approved and
adopted a non-qualified compensation deferral arrangement called the First Charter Corporation Directors�
Option Deferral Plan (the �Plan�). Under the Plan, eligible directors may elect to defer all of their director�s fees
and invest these deferrals into mutual fund investments. Participants are offered the opportunity to direct an
administrative committee to invest in separate investment funds with distinct investment objectives and risk
tolerances. The deferred compensation obligation pursuant to this plan is equal to the Plan assets, which are
held in a Rabbi Trust. Plan assets totaled approximately $0.2 million at both December 31, 2005 and 2004,
and are classified as trading assets, which is included in other assets on the consolidated balance sheet.
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Note Sixteen � Shareholders� Equity, Stock Plans and Stock Awards
Stock Repurchase Programs. On January 23, 2002, the Corporation�s Board of Directors authorized the

repurchase of up to 1.5 million shares of the Corporation�s common stock. As of December 31, 2004, the
Corporation had repurchased a total of 1.4 million shares of its common stock at an average per-share price of
$17.52 under this authorization, which has reduced shareholders� equity by $24.5 million. No shares were
repurchased under this authorization during the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004.
     On October 24, 2003, the Corporation�s Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to 1.5 million
additional shares of the Corporation�s common stock. At December 31, 2005, no shares had been repurchased
under this authorization.

Deferred Compensation for Non-Employee Directors. Effective May 1, 2001, the Corporation amended
and restated the First Charter Corporation 1994 Deferred Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors.
Under the Deferred Compensation Plan, eligible directors may elect to defer all or part of their director�s fees
for a calendar year, in exchange for common stock of the Corporation. The amount deferred, if any, shall be in
multiples of 25 percent of their total director�s fees. Each participant is fully vested in his account balance
under the plan. The plan generally provides for fixed payments or a lump sum payment, or a combination of
both, in shares of common stock of the Corporation after the participant ceases to serve as a director for any
reason.
     The common stock purchased by the Corporation for this deferred compensation plan is maintained in the
First Charter Corporation Directors� Deferred Compensation Trust, a Rabbi Trust (the �Trust�), on behalf of the
participants. The assets of the Trust are subject to the claims of general creditors of the Corporation.
Dividends payable on the common shares held by the Trust will be reinvested in additional shares of common
stock of the Corporation and held in the Trust for the benefit of the participants. Since the deferred
compensation plan does not provide for diversification of the Trust�s assets and can only be settled with a fixed
number of shares of the Corporation�s common stock, the deferred compensation obligation is classified as a
component of shareholders� equity and the common stock held by the Trust is classified as a reduction of
shareholders� equity. Subsequent changes in the fair value of the common stock are not reflected in earnings or
shareholders� equity of the Corporation. The obligations of the Corporation under the deferred compensation
plan, and the shares held by the Trust, have no net effect on net income per share.

Stockholder Protection Rights Agreement. On July 19, 2000 the Corporation entered into a Stockholder
Protection Rights Agreement. In connection with the agreement, the Board declared a dividend of one share
purchase right (�Right�) on each outstanding share of common stock. Issuances of the Corporation�s common
stock after August 9, 2000 include share purchase Rights. Generally, the Rights will be exercisable only if a
person or group acquires 15 percent or more of Corporation�s common stock or announces a tender offer. Each
Right will entitle stockholders to buy 1/1000 of a share of a new series of junior participating preferred stock
of the Company at an exercise price of $80. Prior to the time they become exercisable, the Rights are
redeemable for one cent per Right at the option of the Board of Directors.
     If the Corporation is acquired after a person has acquired 15 percent or more of its common stock, each
Right will entitle its holder to purchase, at the Right�s then-current exercise price, a number of shares of the
acquiring company�s common stock having a market value of twice-such price. Additionally, if the
Corporation is not acquired, a Rights holder (other than the person or group acquiring 15 percent or more) will
be entitled to purchase, at the Right�s then-current exercise price, a number of shares of the Corporation�s
common stock having a market value of twice-such price.
     Following the acquisition of 15 percent or more of the common stock, but less than 50 percent by any
Person or Group, the Board may exchange the Rights (other than Rights owned by such person or group) at an
exchange ratio of one share of common stock for each Right.
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     The Rights were distributed on August 9, 2000, to stockholders of record as of the close of business on
such date. The Rights will expire on July 19, 2010.

Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan. The Corporation maintains the Dividend Reinvestment
and Stock Purchase Plan (the �DRIP�), pursuant to which 1,000,000 shares of common stock of the Corporation
have been reserved for issuance. Shareholders may elect to participate in the DRIP and have dividends on
shares of common stock reinvested and may make optional cash payments of up to $3,000 per calendar
quarter to be invested in common stock of the Corporation. Pursuant to the terms of the DRIP, upon
reinvestment of the dividends and optional cash payments, the Corporation can either issue new shares valued
at the then current market value of the common stock or the administrator of the DRIP can purchase shares of
common stock in the open market. During 2005, the Corporation issued 147,034 shares and the administrator
of the DRIP did not purchase any shares in the open market. During 2004, the Corporation issued 33,958
shares and the administrator of the DRIP purchased 120,722 shares in the open market. During 2003, the
Corporation issued no shares and the administrator of the DRIP purchased 179,861 shares in the open market.

Restricted Stock Award Program. In April 1995, the shareholders approved the First Charter Corporation
Restricted Stock Award Program (the �Restricted Stock Plan�). Awards of restricted stock may be made under
the Restricted Stock Plan at the discretion of the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors of the
Corporation, which shall determine the key participants, the number of shares awarded to participants, and the
vesting terms and conditions applicable to such awards. A maximum of 360,000 shares of common stock are
reserved for issuance under the Restricted Stock Plan. Compensation expense of approximately $196,000 and
$71,000 was recognized during 2005 and 2004, respectively, in connection with the Restricted Stock Plan.
During 2005, 8,500 shares were granted under the Restricted Stock Plan with vesting periods of five years and
8,900 shares were granted with vesting periods of three years. During the third quarter of 2004, 18,547 shares
were granted under the Restricted Stock Plan with vesting periods of three years. The following table presents
the status and changes in the Restricted Stock Plan:

Weighted
Average
Grant

Shares Price

Outstanding at December 31, 2003 1,000 $ 13.4375

Granted 18,547 22.3400
Vested (1,000) 13.4375
Forfeited � �

Outstanding at December 31, 2004 18,547 $ 22.3400

Granted 17,400 23.9755
Vested (1,300) 23.6600
Forfeited (2,000) 25.4900

Outstanding at December 31, 2005 32,647 $ 22.9724

First Charter Comprehensive Stock Option Plan. Under the terms of the First Charter Corporation
Comprehensive Stock Option Plan (the �Comprehensive Stock Option Plan�), stock options (which can be
incentive stock options or non-qualified stock options) may be periodically granted to key employees of the
Corporation or its subsidiaries. The terms and vesting schedules of options granted under the Comprehensive
Plan generally shall be determined by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors of the
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Corporation (the �Compensation Committee�). However, no options may be exercisable prior to six months
following the grant date, and certain additional restrictions, including the term and exercise price, apply with
respect to any incentive stock options. Under the First Charter Comprehensive Stock Option Plan, 480,000
shares of common stock are reserved for issuance. At December 31, 2005, 67,320 shares were available for
future issuance.

First Charter Corporation Stock Option Plan for Non-Employee Directors. In April 1997, the shareholders
approved the First Charter Corporation Stock Option Plan for Non-Employee Directors (the �Director Plan�).
Under the Director Plan, non-statutory stock options may be granted to non-employee Directors of the
Corporation and its subsidiaries. The terms and vesting schedules of any options granted
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under the Director Plan generally shall be determined by the Compensation Committee. The exercise price for
each option granted, however, shall be the fair value of the common stock as of the date of grant. A maximum
of 180,000 shares are reserved for issuance under the Director Plan. As of December 31, 2005, 2,940 shares
were available for future issuance.

2000 Omnibus Stock Option and Award Plan. In June 2000, the shareholders approved the First Charter
Corporation 2000 Omnibus Stock Option and Award Plan (the �2000 Omnibus Plan�). Under the 2000 Omnibus
Plan, 2,000,000 shares of common stock were originally reserved for issuance. In April of 2005, the
shareholders approved an amendment to the 2000 Omnibus Plan, authorizing an addition of 1,500,000 shares
for issuance, for a total of 3,500,000 shares. Stock options (which can be incentive stock options or
non-qualified stock options) and other stock-based awards may be periodically granted to key employees of
First Charter and its Directors. The terms and vesting schedules of options granted under the 2000 Omnibus
Plan shall be determined by the Compensation Committee, and certain additional restrictions, including the
term and exercise price, apply with respect to any incentive stock options. At December 31, 2005, 1,604,365
shares were authorized for future issuance.

Employee Stock Purchase Plans. The Corporation previously adopted an Employee Stock Purchase Plan
(the �ESPP�) in 1998 and 1996, pursuant to which stock options were granted to employees, based on their
eligibility and compensation, at a price of 85 percent to 90 percent of the fair market value of the shares at the
date of grant. The option and vesting period was generally for a term of two years. A maximum of 180,000
shares are reserved for issuance under the 1996 ESPP and 180,000 shares are reserved for issuance under the
1998 ESPP, which was approved by the shareholders of the Corporation in April 1997.
     The Board of Directors of the Corporation determined that it was in the best interest of the Corporation to
implement a new employee stock purchase plan that may continue beyond a two-year period, to allow more
flexibility with the timing of the grant of, and the exercise periods for, options granted to employees. The
1999 ESPP, described below, allows for multiple grants of options thereunder and is designed to remain in
effect as long as there are shares available for purchases under the 1999 ESPP. Pursuant to the terms of the
1999 ESPP, a maximum of 300,000 shares of the Corporation�s Common Stock may be issued to employees
under the 1999 ESPP, subject to adjustment, generally to protect against dilution in the event of changes in the
capitalization of the Corporation. At December 31, 2005, 80,723 shares were available for future issuance.
     The 1999 ESPP is administered by the Compensation Committee. The Compensation Committee is able to
prescribe rules and regulations for such administration and to decide questions with respect to the
interpretation or application of the 1999 ESPP.
     The Corporation intends that options granted under the 1999 ESPP will satisfy the requirements of
Section 423 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the �Code�), and the regulations thereunder.
The 1999 ESPP, however, is not qualified under the provisions of Section 401(a) of the Code and is not
subject to any of the provisions of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.
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Summary of Stock Option and Employee Stock Purchase Plan Programs. The following is a summary of
activity under the Comprehensive Plan, the Director Plan, the 2000 Omnibus Plan and the 1999, 1998 and
1996 ESPPs during the periods indicated:

2005 2004 (1) 2003 (1)
Weighted- Weighted- Weighted-
Average Average Average
Exercise Exercise Exercise
(Option) (Option) (Option)

Summary of Stock Options Shares Price Shares Price Shares Price

Outstanding at January 1 2,801,263 $19.97 2,742,283 $19.57 2,406,889 $19.43
Granted 461,996 23.55 393,134 20.33 558,576 18.20
Exercised (499,194) 16.93 (238,827) 16.51 (113,019) 11.57
Forfeited (126,007) 21.68 (95,327) 18.52 (110,163) 17.79

Outstanding at December 31 2,638,058 21.09 2,801,263 19.97 2,742,283 19.57

Options exercisable at December
31 1,786,287 21.01 1,948,723 20.42 1,849,463 20.53

Weighted-average Black-Scholes
fair value of options granted
during the year $ 5.54 $ 4.48 $ 4.81

(1) Amounts for
2004 and 2003
have been
adjusted to
correct an error
in the
calculation of
exercised and
forfeited options

     The weighted average remaining contractual lives of stock options were 4.5 years at December 31, 2005.
     The following table provides certain information about stock options outstanding at December 31, 2005:

Outstanding Options Options Exercisable

Number
Weighted
Average Number

Range of Outstanding Remaining
Weighted
Average Outstanding

Weighted
Average

Exercise Prices at December 31
Contractual

Life Exercise Price at December 31 Exercise Price

$0.0000 - $5.0000 6,000 .2 years $ 4.9700 6,000 $ 4.9700
$5.0100 - $10.0000 3,400 3.7 years 9.0400 3,400 9.0400
$10.0100 - $12.5000 18,702 3.0 years 11.6300 18,702 11.6300
$12.5100 - $15.0000 94,534 3.5 years 14.4340 94,534 14.4340
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$15.0100 - $17.5000 428,361 5.2 years 16.7092 365,210 16.6052
$17.5100 - $20.0000 488,602 5.6 years 18.4188 282,205 18.3745
$20.0100 - $22.5000 268,306 7.7 years 20.8385 59,342 20.9845
$22.5100 - $25.0000 1,098,686 3.7 years 23.8795 736,579 23.9844
$25.0100 - $27.5000 231,467 1.7 years 25.9880 220,315 26.0004

Total 2,638,058 4.5 years $ 21.0921 1,786,287 $ 21.0113

Note Seventeen � Commitments, Contingencies and Off-Balance Sheet Risk
Commitments and Off-Balance Sheet Risk. The Corporation is party to various financial instruments with

off-balance-sheet risk in the normal course of business to meet the financing needs of its customers. These
financial instruments include commitments to extend credit and standby letters of credit and involve, to
varying degrees, elements of credit and interest rate risk in excess of the amounts recognized in the
consolidated financial statements. Commitments to extend credit are agreements to lend to a customer so long
as there is no violation of any condition established in the contract. Commitments generally have fixed
expiration dates and may require collateral from the borrower if deemed necessary by the Corporation.
Standby letters of credit are conditional commitments issued by the Corporation to guarantee the performance
of a customer to a third party up to a stipulated amount and with specified terms and conditions. Standby
letters of credit are recorded as a liability by the Corporation at the fair value of the obligation undertaken in
issuing the guarantee. The fair value and carrying value at December 31, 2005 of standby letters of credit
issued or modified during the year ended December 31, 2005 was immaterial. Commitments to extend credit
are not recorded as an asset or liability by the Corporation until the instrument is exercised. The Corporation
uses the same credit policies in making commitments and
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conditional obligations as it does for instruments reflected in the consolidated financial statements. The
creditworthiness of each customer is evaluated on a case-by-case basis.
     At December 31, 2005, the Corporation�s exposure to credit risk was represented by preapproved but
unused lines of credit totaling $441.9 million, loan commitments totaling $668.4 million, standby letters of
credit in an aggregate amount of $15.6 million and deposit overdrafts of $43.2 million. Of the $441.9 million
of preapproved unused lines of credit, $26.7 million were at fixed rates and $415.2 million were at floating
rates. Of the $668.4 million of loan commitments, $116.8 million were at fixed rates and $551.6 million were
at floating rates. Of the $15.6 million of standby letters of credit, $14.6 million expire in less than one year
and $1.0 million expire in one to three years. The maximum amount of credit loss of standby letters of credit
is represented by the contract amount of the instruments. Management expects that these commitments can be
funded through normal operations and other liquidity sources available to the Corporation. The amount of
collateral obtained if deemed necessary by the Corporation upon extension of credit is based on management�s
credit evaluation of the borrower at that time. The Corporation generally extends credit on a secured basis.
Collateral obtained may include, but is not limited to, accounts receivable, inventory and commercial and
residential real estate.
     The Bank primarily makes commercial and installment loans to customers throughout its market area. The
Corporation�s primary market area includes the state of North and South Carolina, and predominately centers
on the Metro region of Charlotte and Raleigh, North Carolina. The real estate loan portfolio can be affected by
the condition of the local real estate markets.
     Minimum operating lease payments due in each of the five years subsequent to December 31, 2005 are as
follows: 2006, $2.8 million; 2007, $2.4 million; 2008, $2.3 million; 2009, $2.1 million; 2010, $1.9 million
and subsequent years $48.1 million. Rental expense for all operating leases for the three years ended
December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 was $3.3 million, $2.6 million and $2.0 million, respectively.
     Average daily Federal Reserve balance requirements for the year ended December 31, 2005 amounted to
$28.4 million.

Contingencies. The Corporation and the Bank are defendants in certain claims and legal actions arising in
the ordinary course of business. In the opinion of management, after consultation with legal counsel, the
ultimate disposition of these matters is not expected to have a material adverse effect on the consolidated
operations, liquidity or financial position of the Corporation or the Bank.
     See Note Fourteen for tax contingency information.
Note Eighteen � Related Party Transactions
     In the ordinary course of business, the Corporation engages in business transactions with certain of its
directors. Such transactions are competitively negotiated at arms-length by the Corporation and are not
considered to include terms which are unfavorable to the Corporation.
     See Note Nine for related party loan information.
Note Nineteen � Fair Value of Financial Instruments
     Fair value estimates of financial instruments are made at a specific point in time, based on relevant market
information and information about the financial instrument. These estimates do not reflect any premium or
discount that could result from offering for sale at one time the Corporation�s entire holdings of a particular
financial instrument. Because no market exists for a significant portion of the Corporation�s financial
instruments, fair value estimates are based on judgments regarding future expected loss experience, current
economic conditions, risk characteristics of various financial instruments, and other factors. These estimates
are subjective in nature and involve uncertainties and matters of significant judgment and therefore cannot be
determined with precision. Changes in assumptions could significantly affect the estimates. Where
information regarding the fair value of a financial instrument is available,
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those values are used, as is the case with investment securities. In this case, an open market exists in which
this financial instrument is actively traded.
     Fair value estimates are based on existing on- and off-balance sheet financial instruments without
attempting to estimate the value of anticipated future business and the value of assets and liabilities that are
not considered financial instruments. For example, the Bank has a substantial trust department that contributes
net fee income annually. The trust department is not considered a financial instrument, and its value has not
been incorporated into the fair value estimates. Other significant assets and liabilities that are not considered
financial assets or liabilities include the mortgage broker and insurance agency operations and premises and
equipment. In addition, tax ramifications related to the realization of the unrealized gains and losses can have
a significant effect on fair value estimates and have not been considered in any of the estimates.
     The Corporation�s fair value methods and assumptions are as follows:
Short-term financial instruments � the carrying value of short-term financial instruments, including cash and
due from banks, securities available-for-sale, federal funds sold and purchased, interest-bearing bank deposits,
repurchase agreements, commercial paper and other short term investments and borrowings, is a reasonable
estimate of fair value due to the short-term nature of these financial instruments.
Derivatives � the fair value of the interest rate swaps is determined by a third party using a discounted cash
flow model and a volatility index.
Loans held for sale � mortgage loans held for sale are valued at the lower of cost or market. Market value is
determined by outstanding commitments from investors or current investor yield requirements.
Loans � the carrying value for variable rate loans is a reasonable estimate of fair value due to contractual
interest rates being based on current indices. Fair value for fixed rate loans is estimated based upon discounted
future cash flows using discount rates comparable to rates currently offered for such loans.
Deposit accounts � the fair value of certificates of deposit is estimated using rates currently offered for deposits
of similar remaining maturities. The fair value of all other deposit account types is the amount payable on
demand at year-end.
Long-term debt � the fair value of long-term debt is estimated based upon discounted future cash flows using a
discount rate comparable to the current market rate for such borrowings.
     Based on the limitations, methods, and assumptions noted above, the following table presents the carrying
amounts and fair values of the Corporation�s financial instruments:

December 31,
2005 2004

Estimated Estimated
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair

(Dollars in thousands) Amount Value Amount Value

Financial assets:
Loans, net of allowance for loan
losses 2,917,020 2,925,661 2,412,529 2,522,645
Financial liabilities:
Deposits 2,799,479 2,705,001 2,609,846 2,558,570
Long Term Borrowings 557,859 595,280 873,738 894,827
Derivative instruments � � 4,247 4,247
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Note Twenty � Regulatory Matters
     The Corporation and the Bank are subject to various regulatory capital requirements administered by bank
regulatory agencies. Failure to meet minimum capital requirements can initiate certain mandatory � and
possibly discretionary � actions by regulators that, if undertaken, could have a direct material effect on the
Corporation�s financial statements. Under capital adequacy guidelines and the regulatory framework for
prompt corrective action, the Corporation and the Bank must meet specific capital guidelines that involve
quantitative measures of assets, liabilities, and certain off-balance-sheet items as calculated under regulatory
accounting practices. The capital amounts and classifications are also subject to qualitative judgments by the
regulators about components, risk weightings, and other factors.
     Quantitative measures established by regulation to ensure capital adequacy require the Corporation and the
Bank to maintain minimum amounts and ratios (set forth in the table below) of Total and Tier I capital (as
defined in the regulations) to risk-weighted assets (as defined), and of Tier I capital (as defined) to adjusted
average assets (as defined). Management believes, as of December 31, 2005, that the Corporation and the
Bank meet all capital adequacy requirements to which they are subject.
     The Corporation�s and the Bank�s various regulators have issued regulatory capital guidelines for U.S.
banking organizations. Failure to meet the capital requirements can initiate certain mandatory and
discretionary actions by regulators that could have a material effect on the Corporation�s financial statements.
At December 31, 2005, the Corporation and the Bank were classified as �well capitalized� under these
regulatory frameworks. In the judgment of management, there have been no events or conditions since
December 31, 2005 that would change the �well capitalized� status of the Corporation or the Bank.
     The Corporation�s and the Bank�s actual capital amounts and ratios are presented in the table below:

For Capital Well Capitalized
Adequacy Purposes Designation

Actual Minimum Minimum
(Dollars in thousands) Amount Ratio Amount Ratio Amount Ratio

At December 31, 2005:
Total Capital (to Risk
Weighted Assets)
First Charter
Corporation $ 401,760 12.06% $ 266,416 8.00% None None
First Charter Bank 383,569 11.56 265,504 8.00 $ 331,880 10.00%

Tier I Capital (to Risk
Weighted Assets)
First Charter
Corporation $ 372,953 11.20% $ 133,208 4.00% None None
First Charter Bank 354,844 10.69 132,752 4.00 $ 199,128 6.00%

Tier I Capital (to
Adjusted Average Assets)
First Charter
Corporation $ 372,953 8.67% $ 172,102 4.00% None None
First Charter Bank 354,844 8.28 171,353 4.00 $ 214,191 5.00%

At December 31, 2004:
Total Capital (to Risk
Weighted Assets)
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First Charter Corporation $ 324,814 10.99% $ 236,421 8.00% None None
First Charter Bank 314,491 10.70 235,183 8.00 $ 293,978 10.00%

Tier I Capital (to Risk
Weighted Assets)
First Charter Corporation $ 297,906 10.08% $ 118,211 4.00% None None
First Charter Bank 287,619 9.78 117,591 4.00 $ 176,387 6.00%

Tier I Capital (to Adjusted
Average Assets)
First Charter Corporation $ 297,906 6.76% $ 176,194 4.00% None None
First Charter Bank 287,619 6.46 178,106 4.00 $ 222,633 5.00%
     The primary source of funds available to the Parent Company is payment of dividends from the Bank.
Banking laws and other regulations limit the amount of dividends a bank subsidiary may pay without prior
regulatory approval. At December 31, 2005, $23.0 million of the net assets of the Bank were available for
payment as dividends without prior regulatory approval. Subsidiary net assets of $350.6 million were
restricted as to payments to the Parent Company at December 31, 2005.

86

Edgar Filing: CONCORD COMMUNICATIONS INC - Form PREM14A

163



Note Twenty-One � First Charter Corporation (Parent Company)
     The principal assets of the Parent Company are its investment in the Bank, and its principal source of
income is dividends from the Bank. Certain regulatory and other requirements restrict the lending of funds by
the Bank to the Parent Company and the amount of dividends that can be paid to the Parent Company. In
addition, certain regulatory agencies may prohibit the payment of dividends by the Bank if they determine that
such payment would constitute an unsafe or unsound practice.
     The Parent Company�s condensed balance sheet data and related condensed statements of income and cash
flow are as follows:

December 31 December 31
(Dollars in thousands) 2005 2004

Balance sheet data:
Cash $ 64,053 $ 65,828
Securities available for sale 1,152 1,048
Investment in subsidiaries 373,648 313,347
Receivable from subsidiaries 3,000 6,000
Other assets 3,935 5,480

Total assets $445,788 $391,703

Accrued liabilities $ 1,904 $ 5,332
Commercial paper and other short-term borrowings 58,432 71,684
Long-term debt 61,857 0
Shareholders� equity 323,595 314,687

Total liabilities and shareholders� equity $445,788 $391,703

Years Ended December 31
(Dollars in thousands) 2005 2004 2003

Income statement data:
Dividends from subsidiaries $13,724 $21,290 $ 28,484
Interest income 38 50 72
Noninterest income 139 1,257 37

Total income 13,901 22,597 28,593

Interest expense 2,232 782 597
Noninterest expense 221 203 67

Total expense 2,453 985 664

Income before income tax and equity in undistributed net
income of subsidiaries 11,448 21,612 27,929
Income tax (benefit) expense (608) 110 (105)
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Income before equity in undistributed net income of
subsidiaries 12,056 21,502 28,034
Equity in undistributed (excess of dividends over) net
income of subsidiaries 13,255 20,940 (13,888)

Net income $25,311 $42,442 $ 14,146
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Years Ended December 31
(Dollars in thousands) 2005 2004 2003

Cash flow statement data:
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $ 25,311 $ 42,442 $ 14,146
Net gain on securities available for sale � (1,362) (226)
(Decrease) increase in accrued liabilities (3,428) 167 (185)
Decrease (Increase) in other assets 1,868 (97) 469
Decrease (increase) in receivable from subsidiaries 3,000 (500) 1,500
(Equity in undistributed) excess of dividends paid over
net income of subsidiaries (16,255) (20,440) 12,388

Net cash provided by operating activities 10,496 20,210 28,092

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of securities available for sale � (46) �
Proceeds from sale of securities available for sale � 2,746 577
Capital investment in subsidiaries (50,000) � �
Other investing activities � � (9)

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (50,000) 2,700 568

Cash flows from financing activities:
Net (decrease) increase in commercial paper and other
short-term borrowings (13,252) 21,608 16,711
Proceeds from the issuance of trust preferred securities 61,857 � �
Purchase and retirement of common stock � � (10,623)
Proceeds from issuance of common stock 11,078 5,019 1,700
Dividends paid (21,954) (22,365) (22,038)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 37,729 4,262 (14,250)

Net (decrease) increase in cash (1,775) 27,172 14,410
Cash at beginning of year 65,828 38,656 24,246

Cash at end of year $ 64,053 $ 65,828 $ 38,656
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
     None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
     As of the end of the period covered by this report, an evaluation of the effectiveness of the Registrant�s
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13(a)-15(e) and 15d-15(e) promulgated under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the �Exchange Act�)) was performed under the supervision and
with the participation of the Registrant�s management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer. Based on that evaluation, the Registrant�s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer have concluded that the Registrant�s disclosure controls and procedures were effective to ensure that
information required to be disclosed by the Registrant in its reports that it files or submits under the Exchange
Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities
Exchange Commission rules and forms.

Management�s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
     The Registrant�s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over
financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a � 15(f) and 15d-15(f) promulgated under the Exchange Act). Under
the supervision and with the participation of the Registrant�s management, including the Registrant�s Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, the Registrant�s Management conducted an assessment of the
effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting based on the criteria set forth in the Internal
Control � Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO). Based on that assessment, the Registrant�s management concluded that its internal
control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2005.
     Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.
     KPMG LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm that audited the Registrant�s consolidated
financial statements included in this report, has issued an attestation report on the assessment performed by
the Registrant�s management with respect to the Registrant�s internal control over financial reporting, which
begins on page 52 of this report and is incorporated herein by reference.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
     During the Registrant�s fourth fiscal quarter, there has been no change in the Registrant�s internal controls
over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) promulgated under the Exchange Act)
that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Registrant�s internal controls over
financial reporting.
Item 9B. Other Information
     None.
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PART III
Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant
     The information called for by Item 10 with respect to directors and Section 16 matters is set forth in the
Registrant�s Proxy Statement for its 2006 Annual Meeting of Shareholders under the captions �Election of
Directors� and �Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance,� respectively, and is incorporated
herein by reference. The information called for by Item 10 with respect to the Registrant�s executive officers is
set forth in Part I, Item 4A hereof. The information called for by Item 10 with respect to the identification of
the members of the Registrant�s Audit Committee, the presence of an audit committee financial expert and the
Registrant�s Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is set forth in the Registrant�s Proxy Statement for its 2006
Annual Meeting of Shareholders under the captions �Election of Directors� and �Corporate Governance Matters,�
and is incorporated herein by reference.
Item 11. Executive Compensation
     The information called for by Item 11 is set forth in the Registrant�s Proxy Statement for its 2006 Annual
Meeting of Shareholders under the captions �Election of Directors,� �Executive Compensation,� �Compensation
Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation in Compensation Decisions,� �Report of the Compensation
Committee on Executive Compensation� and �Performance Graph,� respectively, and is incorporated herein by
reference.
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters
     The information called for by Item 12 regarding the number of securities authorized for issuance under the
Registrant�s equity compensation plans is set forth in Part II, Item 5 hereof under the heading �Equity
Compensation Plan Information.� The other information called for by Item 12 is set forth in the Registrant�s
Proxy Statement for its 2006 Annual Meeting of Shareholders under the caption �Ownership of Common
Stock,� and is hereby incorporated by reference.
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions
     The information called for by Item 13 is set forth in the Registrant�s Proxy Statement for its 2006 Annual
Meeting of Shareholders under the captions �Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation in
Compensation Decisions� and �Certain Relationships and Related Transactions� and is incorporated herein by
reference.
Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services
     The information called for by Item 14 is set forth in the Registrant�s Proxy Statement for its 2006 Annual
Meeting of Shareholders under the caption �Ratification of Appointment of Independent Certified Public
Accountants, � and is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
The following documents are filed as part of this report:

Page
(1) Financial Statements:

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 52
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2005 and 2004 55
Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 56
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders� Equity for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and
2003 57
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 58
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 59

(2) Financial Statement Schedules:

None
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     (3) Exhibits.

Exhibit No.
(per Exhibit
Table in
Item 601 of
Regulation S-K) Description of Exhibits
3.1 Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of the Registrant, incorporated herein

by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Registrant�s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended March 31, 2004 (Commission File No. 0-15829).

3.2 Amended and Restated By-laws of the Registrant, as amended, incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 3.2 of the Registrant�s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended March 31, 2004 (Commission File No. 0-15829).

4.1 Indenture dated June 28, 2005 between First Charter Corporation and Wilmington
Trust Company, as trustee, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the
Registrant�s Current Report on Form 8-K dated June 28, 2005.

4.2 Indenture dated September 29, 2005 between First Charter Corporation and
Wilmington Trust Company, as trustee, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1
of the Registrant�s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30,
2005 (Commission File No. 0-15829).

*10.1 Comprehensive Stock Option Plan, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of
the Registrant�s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,
1992 (Commission File No. 0-15829).

10.2 Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan, incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 99.1 of the Registrant�s Registration Statement No. 333-60641, dated August 8,
1998.

*10.3 Executive Incentive Bonus Plan, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of
the Registrant�s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998
(Commission File No. 0-15829.)

*10.4 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated December 19, 2001 for
Lawrence M. Kimbrough, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of the
Registrant�s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001
(Commission File No. 0-15829).

*10.5 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated December 19, 2001 for Robert
O. Bratton, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.5 of the Registrant�s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001 (Commission File
No. 0-15829).

*10.6 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated December 19, 2001 for Robert
E. James, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.6 of the Registrant�s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001 (Commission File
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No. 0-15829).

*10.7 Amended and Restated Supplemental Agreement dated December 19, 2001 for
Lawrence M. Kimbrough, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.8 of the
Registrant�s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001
(Commission File No. 0-15829).
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Exhibit No.
(per Exhibit
Table in
Item 601 of
Regulation S-K) Description of Exhibits
*10.8 Amended and Restated Supplemental Agreement dated December 19, 2001 for Robert

O. Bratton, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.9 of the Registrant�s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001 (Commission File
No. 0-15829).

*10.9 Amended and Restated Supplemental Agreement dated December 19, 2001 for Robert
E. James, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.10 of the Registrant�s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001 (Commission File
No. 0-15829).

*10.10 Change in Control Agreement dated November 16, 1994 for Robert G. Fox, Jr.
incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.7 of the Registrant�s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1994 (Commission File No. 0-15829.)

*10.11 Restricted Stock Award Program, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 99.1 of
the Registrant�s Registration Statement No. 333-60949, dated July 10, 1995.

*10.12 The 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, incorporated herein by reference to the
Registrant�s Registration Statement No. 333-54019, dated May 29, 1998.

*10.13 The First Charter Corporation Comprehensive Stock Option Plan, incorporated herein
by reference to Exhibit 99.1 of the Registrant�s Registration Statement No. 333-54021,
dated May 29, 1998.

*10.14 The Stock Option Plan for Non-employee Directors, incorporated herein by reference
to Exhibit 24.2 of the Registrant�s Registration Statement No. 333-54023, dated
May 29, 1998.

*10.15 The Home Federal Savings and Loan Employee Stock Ownership Plan, incorporated
herein by reference to the Registrant�s Registration Statement No. 333-71495, dated
January 29, 1999.

*10.16 The HFNC Financial Corp. Stock Option Plan, incorporated herein by reference to the
Registrant�s Registration Statement No. 333-71497, dated February 1, 1999.

10.17 Agreement and Plan of Merger by and between the Registrant and Carolina First
Bancshares, Inc. dated as of November 7, 1999, incorporated herein by reference to
Appendix A of the Registrant�s Registration Statement No. 333-95003 filed January 20,
1999.

*10.18 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated December 19, 2001 for Stephen
M. Rownd, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.22 of the Registrant�s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001 (Commission File
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No. 0-15829).

*10.19 The First Charter Corporation 2000 Omnibus Stock Option and Award Plan,
incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Registrant�s Registration
Statement No. 333-132033.

*10.20 The First Charter 1994 Deferred Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors,
incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.26 of the Registrant�s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000 (Commission File No. 0-15829).
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Exhibit No.
(per Exhibit
Table in
Item 601 of
Regulation S-K) Description of Exhibits
*10.21 The First Charter Option Plan Trust, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.27

of the Registrant�s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000
(Commission File No. 0-15829).

*10.22 The Carolina First BancShares, Inc. Amended 1990 Stock Option Plan, incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.28 of the Registrant�s Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 2000 (Commission File No. 0-15829).

*10.23 The Carolina First BancShares, Inc. 1999 Long-Term Incentive Plan, incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.29 of the Registrant�s Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 2000 (Commission File No. 0-15829).

*10.24 Deferred Compensation Agreement dated as of February 18, 1993 by and between
Cabarrus Bank of North Carolina and Ronald D. Smith, incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.30 of the Registrant�s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2000 (Commission File No. 0-15829).

*10.25 Deferred Compensation Agreement dated as of December 31, 1996 by and between
Carolina First BancShares, Inc. and James E. Burt, III, incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.31 of the Registrant�s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2000 (Commission File No. 0-15829).

*10.26 Separation and Consulting Agreement between First Charter Corporation and James E.
Burt, III dated June 29, 2000, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.32 of the
Registrant�s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000
(Commission File No. 0-15829).

*10.27 Carolina First BancShares, Inc. Amended and Restated Directors� Deferred
Compensation Plan, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.33 of the
Registrant�s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000
(Commission File No. 0-15829).

*10.28 Amended and Restated Deferred Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors,
incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Registrant�s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2001 (Commission File No. 0-15829).

*10.29 First Charter Corporation Directors� Option Deferral Plan, incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.35 of the Registrant�s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2001 (Commission File No. 0-15829).

*10.30 Supplemental Agreement dated December 19, 2001 for Stephen M. Rownd,
incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.37 of the Registrant�s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001 (Commission File No. 0-15829).
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10.31 Stockholder Protection Rights Agreement dated July 19, 2000 incorporated herein by
reference to the Registrant�s Current Report on Form 8-K dated July 21, 2000.

*10.32 Form of Award Agreement for Incentive Stock Options Granted under the First
Charter Corporation 2000 Omnibus Stock Option and Award Plan, incorporated herein
by reference to Exhibit 10.32 of the Registrant�s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2004 (Commission File No. 0-15829).
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Exhibit No.
(per Exhibit
Table in
Item 601 of
Regulation S-K) Description of Exhibits
*10.33 Form of Award Agreement for Nonqualified Stock Options Granted under the First

Charter Corporation 2000 Omnibus Stock Option and Award Plan, incorporated herein
by reference to Exhibit 10.33 of the Registrant�s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2004 (Commission File No. 0-15829).

*10.34 Form of First Charter Corporation Incentive Stock Option Agreement Pursuant to First
Charter Corporation Comprehensive Stock Option Plan, incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.34 of the Registrant�s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2004 (Commission File No. 0-15829).

*10.35 Form of First Charter Corporation Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement Pursuant to
First Charter Corporation Comprehensive Stock Option Plan, incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.35 of the Registrant�s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2004 (Commission File No. 0-15829).

*10.36 Form of First Charter Corporation Restricted Stock Award Agreement for use under
the Restricted Stock Award Program, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.5
of the Registrant�s Annual Report on Form 8-K dated February 27, 2006.

*10. 37 Separation Agreement, dated February 1, 2005, by and between First Charter
Corporation and Robert O. Bratton, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of
the Registrant�s Form 8-K dated February 1, 2005.

*10.38 Employment Agreement, dated April 13, 2005, by and between First Charter
Corporation and Charles A. Caswell, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1
of the Registrant�s Form 8-K dated April 13, 2005.

*10.39 Change in Control Agreement, dated April 13, 2005, by and between First Charter
Corporation and Cecil O. Smith, Jr., incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2
of the Registrant�s Form 8-K dated April 13, 2005.

*10.40 Change in Control Agreement, dated April 13, 2005, by and between First Charter
Corporation and Stephen J. Antal, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of
the Registrant�s Form 8-K dated April 13, 2005.

*10.41 Transition Agreement and Release, dated April 27, 2005, by and between First Charter
Corporation and Lawrence M. Kimbrough, incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 of the Registrant�s Form 8-K dated April 27, 2005.

*10. 42 Form of Performance Shares Award Agreement under the First Charter Corporation
2000 Omnibus Stock Option and Award Plan, incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10. 1 of the Registrant�s Form 8-K dated February 27, 2006.
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*10.43 Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement under the First Charter Corporation 2000
Omnibus Stock Option and Award Plan, incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 of the Registrant�s Form 8-K dated February 27, 2006.

11.1 Statement regarding computation of per share earnings, incorporated herein by
reference to Footnote 1 of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Exhibit No.
(per Exhibit
Table in
Item 601 of
Regulation S-K) Description of Exhibits
21.1 List of subsidiaries of the Registrant.

23.1 Consent of KPMG LLP.

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

* Indicates a
management
contract or
compensatory
plan
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SIGNATURES
     Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

FIRST CHARTER CORPORATION
(Registrant)

By:  /s/ Robert E. James, Jr.  
Robert E. James, Jr., President and 
Chief Executive Officer (Principal
Executive Officer duly authorized to
sign on behalf of the Registrant) 

Date: March 14, 2006

     Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by
the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated:

Signature Title Date
/s/ Robert E James, Jr. President, Chief Executive Officer March 14,

2006

(Robert E James, Jr.)
and Director (Principal Executive
Officer)

/s/ James E. Burt, III Chairman of the Board March 14,
2006

(James E. Burt, III)
and Director

/s/ Michael R. Coltrane Vice Chairman of the March 14,
2006

(Michael R. Coltrane)
Board and Director

/s/ Charles A. Caswell Executive Vice President March 14,
2006

(Charles A. Caswell)
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer (Principal
Financial and Accounting Officer)

/s/ Harold D. Alexander Director March 14,
2006

(Harold D. Alexander)

/s/ William R. Black Director
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March 14,
2006

(William R. Black)

/s/ Jerry A. Felts Director March 14,
2006

(Jerry A. Felts)

/s/ John J. Godbold, Jr. Director March 14,
2006

(John J. Godbold, Jr.)

/s/ Charles A. James Director March 14,
2006

(Charles A. James)

/s/ Walter H. Jones, Jr. Director March 14,
2006

(Walter H. Jones, Jr.)
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Signature Title Date
/s/ Samuel C. King, Jr. Director March 14, 2006

(Samuel C. King, Jr.)

/s/ Jerry E. McGee Director March 14, 2006

(Jerry E. McGee)

/s/ Ellen L. Messinger Director March 14, 2006

(Ellen L. Messinger)

/s/ Hugh H. Morrison Director March 14, 2006

(Hugh H. Morrison)

/s/ Thomas R. Revels Director March 14, 2006

(Thomas R. Revels)

/s/ L. D. Warlick, Jr. Director March 14, 2006

(L. D. Warlick, Jr.)

/s/ William W. Waters Director March 14, 2006

(William W. Waters)
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Exhibit No.
(per Exhibit
Table in
Item 601 of
Regulation S-K) Description of Exhibits
3.1 Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of the Registrant, incorporated herein by

reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Registrant�s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended March 31, 2004 (Commission File No. 0-15829).

3.2 Amended and Restated By-laws of the Registrant, as amended, incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 3.2 of the Registrant�s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended March 31, 2004 (Commission File No. 0-15829).

4.1 Indenture dated June 28, 2005 between First Charter Corporation and Wilmington Trust
Company, as trustee, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Registrant�s
Current Report on Form 8-K dated June 28, 2005.

4.2 Indenture dated September 29, 2005 between First Charter Corporation and Wilmington
Trust Company, as trustee, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the
Registrant�s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2005
(Commission File No. 0-15829).

*10.1 Comprehensive Stock Option Plan, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the
Registrant�s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1992
(Commission File No. 0-15829).

10.2 Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan, incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 99.1 of the Registrant�s Registration Statement No. 333-60641, dated August 8,
1998.

*10.3 Executive Incentive Bonus Plan, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the
Registrant�s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998
(Commission File No. 0-15829.)

*10.4 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated December 19, 2001 for Lawrence
M. Kimbrough, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of the Registrant�s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001 (Commission File
No. 0-15829).

*10.5 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated December 19, 2001 for Robert O.
Bratton, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.5 of the Registrant�s Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001 (Commission File No. 0-15829).

*10.6 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated December 19, 2001 for Robert E.
James, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.6 of the Registrant�s Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001 (Commission File No. 0-15829).

*10.7
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Amended and Restated Supplemental Agreement dated December 19, 2001 for Lawrence
M. Kimbrough, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.8 of the Registrant�s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001 (Commission File
No. 0-15829).
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*10.8 Amended and Restated Supplemental Agreement dated December 19, 2001 for Robert O.

Bratton, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.9 of the Registrant�s Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001 (Commission File No. 0-15829).

*10.9 Amended and Restated Supplemental Agreement dated December 19, 2001 for Robert E.
James, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.10 of the Registrant�s Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001 (Commission File No. 0-15829).

*10.10 Change in Control Agreement dated November 16, 1994 for Robert G. Fox, Jr.
incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.7 of the Registrant�s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1994 (Commission File No. 0-15829.)

*10.11 Restricted Stock Award Program, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 99.1 of the
Registrant�s Registration Statement No. 333-60949, dated July 10, 1995.

*10.12 The 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, incorporated herein by reference to the
Registrant�s Registration Statement No. 333-54019, dated May 29, 1998.

*10.13 The First Charter Corporation Comprehensive Stock Option Plan, incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 99.1 of the Registrant�s Registration Statement No. 333-54021, dated
May 29, 1998.

*10.14 The Stock Option Plan for Non-employee Directors, incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 24.2 of the Registrant�s Registration Statement No. 333-54023, dated May 29,
1998.

*10.15 The Home Federal Savings and Loan Employee Stock Ownership Plan, incorporated
herein by reference to the Registrant�s Registration Statement No. 333-71495, dated
January 29, 1999.

*10.16 The HFNC Financial Corp. Stock Option Plan, incorporated herein by reference to the
Registrant�s Registration Statement No. 333-71497, dated February 1, 1999.

10.17 Agreement and Plan of Merger by and between the Registrant and Carolina First
Bancshares, Inc. dated as of November 7, 1999, incorporated herein by reference to
Appendix A of the Registrant�s Registration Statement No. 333-95003 filed January 20,
1999.

*10.18 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated December 19, 2001 for Stephen M.
Rownd, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.22 of the Registrant�s Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001 (Commission File No. 0-15829).

*10.19
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The First Charter Corporation 2000 Omnibus Stock Option and Award Plan, incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Registrant�s Registration Statement
No. 333-132033.

*10.20 The First Charter 1994 Deferred Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors,
incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.26 of the Registrant�s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000 (Commission File No. 0-15829).
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*10.21 The First Charter Option Plan Trust, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.27 of

the Registrant�s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000
(Commission File No. 0-15829).

*10.22 The Carolina First BancShares, Inc. Amended 1990 Stock Option Plan, incorporated herein
by reference to Exhibit 10.28 of the Registrant�s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2000 (Commission File No. 0-15829).

*10.23 The Carolina First BancShares, Inc. 1999 Long-Term Incentive Plan, incorporated herein
by reference to Exhibit 10.29 of the Registrant�s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2000 (Commission File No. 0-15829).

*10.24 Deferred Compensation Agreement dated as of February 18, 1993 by and between
Cabarrus Bank of North Carolina and Ronald D. Smith, incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.30 of the Registrant�s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2000 (Commission File No. 0-15829).

*10.25 Deferred Compensation Agreement dated as of December 31, 1996 by and between
Carolina First BancShares, Inc. and James E. Burt, III, incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.31 of the Registrant�s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2000 (Commission File No. 0-15829).

*10.26 Separation and Consulting Agreement between First Charter Corporation and James E.
Burt, III dated June 29, 2000, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.32 of the
Registrant�s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000
(Commission File No. 0-15829).

*10.27 Carolina First BancShares, Inc. Amended and Restated Directors� Deferred Compensation
Plan, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.33 of the Registrant�s Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000 (Commission File No. 0-15829).

*10.28 Amended and Restated Deferred Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors,
incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Registrant�s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2001 (Commission File No. 0-15829).

*10.29 First Charter Corporation Directors� Option Deferral Plan, incorporated herein by reference
to Exhibit 10.35 of the Registrant�s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2001 (Commission File No. 0-15829).

*10.30 Supplemental Agreement dated December 19, 2001 for Stephen M. Rownd, incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.37 of the Registrant�s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2001 (Commission File No. 0-15829).
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10.31 Stockholder Protection Rights Agreement dated July 19, 2000 incorporated herein by
reference to the Registrant�s Current Report on Form 8-K dated July 21, 2000.

*10.32 Form of Award Agreement for Incentive Stock Options Granted under the First Charter
Corporation 2000 Omnibus Stock Option and Award Plan, incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.32 of the Registrant�s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2004 (Commission File No. 0-15829).
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*10.33 Form of Award Agreement for Nonqualified Stock Options Granted under the First Charter

Corporation 2000 Omnibus Stock Option and Award Plan, incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.33 of the Registrant�s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2004 (Commission File No. 0-15829).

*10.34 Form of First Charter Corporation Incentive Stock Option Agreement Pursuant to First
Charter Corporation Comprehensive Stock Option Plan, incorporated herein by reference
to Exhibit 10.34 of the Registrant�s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2004 (Commission File No. 0-15829).

*10.35 Form of First Charter Corporation Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement Pursuant to First
Charter Corporation Comprehensive Stock Option Plan, incorporated herein by reference
to Exhibit 10.35 of the Registrant�s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2004 (Commission File No. 0-15829).

*10.36 Form of First Charter Corporation Restricted Stock Award Agreement for use under the
Restricted Stock Award Program, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.5 of the
Registrant�s Annual Report on Form 8-K dated February 27, 2006.

*10. 37 Separation Agreement, dated February 1, 2005, by and between First Charter Corporation
and Robert O. Bratton, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Registrant�s
Form 8-K dated February 1, 2005.

*10.38 Employment Agreement, dated April 13, 2005, by and between First Charter Corporation
and Charles A. Caswell, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Registrant�s
Form 8-K dated April 13, 2005.

*10.39 Change in Control Agreement, dated April 13, 2005, by and between First Charter
Corporation and Cecil O. Smith, Jr., incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the
Registrant�s Form 8-K dated April 13, 2005.

*10.40 Change in Control Agreement, dated April 13, 2005, by and between First Charter
Corporation and Stephen J. Antal, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the
Registrant�s Form 8-K dated April 13, 2005.

*10.41 Transition Agreement and Release, dated April 27, 2005, by and between First Charter
Corporation and Lawrence M. Kimbrough, incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 of the Registrant�s Form 8-K dated April 27, 2005.

*10. 42 Form of Performance Shares Award Agreement under the First Charter Corporation 2000
Omnibus Stock Option and Award Plan, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10. 1
of the Registrant�s Form 8-K dated February 27, 2006.
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*10.43 Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement under the First Charter Corporation 2000
Omnibus Stock Option and Award Plan, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2
of the Registrant�s Form 8-K dated February 27, 2006.

11.1 Statement regarding computation of per share earnings, incorporated herein by reference to
Footnote 1 of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

21.1 List of subsidiaries of the Registrant.
102

Edgar Filing: CONCORD COMMUNICATIONS INC - Form PREM14A

189



Exhibit No.
(per Exhibit
Table in
Item 601 of
Regulation S-K) Description of Exhibits
23.1 Consent of KPMG LLP.

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

* Indicates a
management
contract or
compensatory
plan
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